
  
 

WEST VALLEY WATER DISTRICT 
855 W. Base Line Road Rialto, CA 

 
NOTICE OF CALL OF 

AND AGENDA FOR 
SPECIAL MEETING 

(Government Code § 54956(a)) 

 
PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the President of Directors of the West Valley Water District 

has called a Special Meeting of the Board of Directors for 
 

9:30 AM on SATURDAY, JANUARY 25, 2020, 
 
at District Headquarters located at 855 W. Base Line Road, Rialto, CA 92376. The only items of 
business to be considered at this Special Meeting are as set so forth in the following agenda: 
 

SPECIAL MEETING 
AGENDA 

 
Saturday, January 25, 2020 

Open Session – 9:30 AM   ●   Closed Session 10:30 AM 
 

"In order to comply with legal requirements for posting of agendas, only those items listed 
in this NOTICE OF CALL AND AGENDA FOR SPECIAL MEETING will be considered 

by the Board of Directors.” 
 

 

  

OPENING CEREMONIES 

Pledge of Allegiance 
Opening Prayer 
Call to Order 
Roll Call of Board Members 

ADOPT AGENDA 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

Any person wishing to speak to the Board of Directors on matters listed on the agenda, is asked to complete a Speaker 
Card and submit it to the District Clerk.  Each speaker is limited to three (3) minutes.  Under the State of 
California Brown Act, the Board of Directors is prohibited from discussing or taking action on any item not listed on 
the posted agenda.  Comments related to noticed Public Hearing(s) and Business Matters will be heard during the 
occurrence of the item. 
 

Public communication is the time for anyone to address the Board on any agenda item. No 

person will be allowed to make comments at any other time in the meeting except if there is a 

Public Hearing. Also, please remember that no disruptions from the crowd will be tolerated. If 

someone disrupts the meeting, they will be removed. 

 

DISCUSSION 

Consideration of:  

1. Review of Professional Services Agreement with Geoscience Support Services, Inc. for 
Hydrogeological Services Related to the Bunker Hill Well Siting Evaluation. 

2. Agreement for Professional Services with Tom Dodson and Associates for 
Environmental Consulting Services. 

3. Review Agreement with Clinical Laboratory of San Bernardino, Inc. for Analytical Lab 
Services to Public Water Supply. 

4. Review Agreement with Babcock Laboratories, Inc. for Unregulated Contaminant 
Monitoring. 

5. Review of Professional Services Agreement with Tyler Technologies to Implement an 
Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) System - Incode 10. 

CLOSED SESSION 

 CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL - ANTICIPATED LITIGATION 
Significant exposure to litigation pursuant to paragraph (2) of subdivision (d) of Section 
54956.9: Number of Cases: Five (5) 

ADJOURN 

 
 
 
 
 
 



DECLARATION OF POSTING:  
 
I declare under penalty of perjury, that I am employed by the West Valley Water District and posted 
the foregoing special Agenda at the District Offices on January 23, 2020. 

 

 

Crystal L. Escalera, Board Secretary 

 
Please Note: 
 
Material related to an item on this Agenda submitted to the Board after distribution of the 
agenda packet are available for public inspection in the District’s office located at 855 W. 
Baseline, Rialto, during normal business hours.  Also, such documents are available on the 
District’s website at www.wvwd.org subject to staff’s ability to post the documents before 
the meeting. 
 
Pursuant to Government Code Section 54954.2(a), any request for a disability-related 
modification or accommodation, including auxiliary aids or services, in order to attend or 
participate in the above-agendized public meeting should be directed to Crystal Escalera, at 
least 72 hours in advance of the meeting to ensure availability of the requested service or 
accommodation.  Ms. Escalera may be contacted by telephone at (909) 875-1804 ext. 704, or 
in writing at the West Valley Water District, P.O. Box 920, Rialto, CA 92377-0920.  

http://www.wvwd.org/


BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
STAFF REPORT 

 
DATE: January 25, 2020 

TO: Board of Directors 

 
 
DISCUSSION:  
 
The District requested proposals for professional hydrogeological services from expert groundwater 
consultants (consultant) to provide professional hydrogeological services related to performing a 
comprehensive well siting evaluation.  The District is interested in drilling and constructing new 
groundwater supply wells in the Bunker Hill Groundwater Basin in order to bolster groundwater 
production in the event that imported water supplies are reduced.  As a preliminary phase to this 
work, a comprehensive well site evaluation needs to be performed to ensure any new groundwater 
production well maximizes production potential as well as meets water quality objectives.  Key 
criteria for evaluating potential well sites include: 
 
• Ability of aquifers to yield sufficient quantities of groundwater to meet the District’s 

objectives. 
 
• Production of groundwater quality that is acceptable to the District. 
 
• Minimization of potential pumping interference with nearby existing wells. 
 
• Avoidance of excessive groundwater level drawdown and potential adverse environmental 

impacts to nearby wells. 
 
• Compliance with regulatory requirements for distance from sewer lines or other utilities.  
 
• Availability of undeveloped property for construction. 
 
On October 29, 2019, a Request for Proposal was posted on Planet Bids for Professional 
Hydrogeological Services Related to Bunker Hill Well Siting Evaluation.  On November 18, 2019, 
two (2) bids were received and Geoscience Support Services, Inc. was determined to provide the 
best value for the District.  On December 5, 2019, the District entered into a contract with 
Geoscience Support Services, Inc. for the scope of services listed above – Task Order No. 1 in the 
amount of $22,974. 

FROM: Clarence Mansell Jr., General Manager 

SUBJECT: REVIEW OF PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH 
GEOSCIENCE SUPPORT SERVICES, INC. FOR HYDROGEOLOGICAL 
SERVICES RELATED TO THE BUNKER HILL WELL SITING 
EVALUATION 

1.1

Packet Pg. 4



 
A table of the Task Orders is attached in Exhibit A and copies of the Agreements for Professional 
Services and Task Orders is attached in Exhibit B. 
 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
 
Professional services were budgeted for in the fiscal year 2019/20 budget. 
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  
 
Per the Boards request, this staff report has been presented for review. 
 
 
 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 

 
 

Clarence Mansell Jr, General Manager 

 
 
LJ:ce 
 
ATTACHMENT(S): 

1. Exhibit A 

2. Exhibit B 

1.1

Packet Pg. 5



 

EXHIBIT A 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

1.1.a

Packet Pg. 6



TASK 

ORDER/CONTRACT 

NO. AMOUNT CONSULTANT/CONTRACTOR SCOPE OF WORK STATUS

1 $22,974.00 Geoscience Support Services, Inc. Bunker Hill Basin Well Siting Evaluation

Kick off 

Meeting 

next week

ENGINEERING DEPARTMENT‐ TASK ORDERS AND CONTRACTS

1.1.a

Packet Pg. 7



 

EXHIBIT B 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

1.1.b

Packet Pg. 8



1.1.b

Packet Pg. 9



1.1.b

Packet Pg. 10



1.1.b

Packet Pg. 11



1.1.b

Packet Pg. 12



1.1.b

Packet Pg. 13



1.1.b

Packet Pg. 14



1.1.b

Packet Pg. 15



1.1.b

Packet Pg. 16



1.1.b

Packet Pg. 17



1.1.b

Packet Pg. 18



1.1.b

Packet Pg. 19



1.1.b

Packet Pg. 20



1.1.b

Packet Pg. 21



1.1.b

Packet Pg. 22



1.1.b

Packet Pg. 23



1.1.b

Packet Pg. 24



1.1.b

Packet Pg. 25



1.1.b

Packet Pg. 26



1.1.b

Packet Pg. 27



1.1.b

Packet Pg. 28



1.1.b

Packet Pg. 29



1.1.b

Packet Pg. 30



1.1.b

Packet Pg. 31



1.1.b

Packet Pg. 32



1.1.b

Packet Pg. 33



1.1.b

Packet Pg. 34



BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
STAFF REPORT 

 
DATE: January 25, 2020 

TO: Board of Directors 

 
 
DISCUSSION:  
 
Cactus Basin 2 
 
On October 15, 2018 West Valley Water District (District) received a draft Streambed Alteration 
Agreement (Agreement) from the California Department of Fish and Wildlife.  The Agreement was 
provided in response to the District’s proposed maintenance of Cactus Basin 2.  Within the draft 
Agreement were compensatory mitigation measures that the District felt were undue and 
burdensome on the District.  The District requested a proposal from Tom Dodson and Associates 
to assist with seeking revisions to regulatory permitting requirements for the District’s discharges to 
Lower Cactus Basin No. 2. The discharges are periodic and temporary and reflect water treatment 
operations at the FBR/FXB treatment plant to remove perchlorate from groundwater. 
 
A task order in the amount of $8,000 for the above services was issued.  Consulting services 
performed under the Agreement for Professional Services for Cactus Basin 2 have been completed.   
 
 
Well 36 
 
As part of the emergency well rehabilitation projects, the District requested a proposal from Tom 
Dodson and Associates to provide professional environmental consulting services for Well 36.  An 
initial meeting was held in June 2019 to discuss the various options for bringing the well back into 
service and the required CEQA evaluation needed for each option.  The options included lowering 
the well, packering off areas of the well to potentially reduce arsenic levels, installing well head 
treatment and drilling a new well on site.  Options for proceeding with the rehabilitation of the well 
or drilling a new well are still being evaluated by the District. 
 
A task order in the amount of $15,500 for the above services was issued.  Only $450 has been 
expended to date.  The services from Mr. Dodson have not been used since that initial meeting.   
 
A table of the Task Orders is attached in Exhibit A and copies of the Agreements for Professional 
Services and Task Orders is attached in Exhibit B. 
 

FROM: Clarence Mansell Jr., General Manager 

SUBJECT: AGREEMENT FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES WITH TOM DODSON 
AND ASSOCIATES FOR ENVIRONMENTAL CONSULTING SERVICES 

1.2

Packet Pg. 35



FISCAL IMPACT:  
 
Professional services were budgeted for in the fiscal year 2019/20 budget. 
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  
 
Per the Boards request, this staff report has been presented for review. 
 
 
 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 

 
 

Clarence Mansell Jr, General Manager 

 
 
LJ:ce 
 
ATTACHMENT(S): 

1. Exhibit A 

2. Exhibit B 

1.2

Packet Pg. 36



 

EXHIBIT A 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

1.2.a

Packet Pg. 37



TA
SK

 

O
R
D
ER

/C
O
N
TR

A
C
T 

N
O
.

A
M
O
U
N
T

C
O
N
SU

LT
A
N
T/
C
O
N
TR

A
C
TO

R
SC
O
P
E 
O
F 
W
O
R
K

ST
A
TU

S

1
$
8
,0
0
0
.0
0

To
m
 D
o
d
so
n
 a
n
d
 A
ss
o
ci
at
es

R
en

eg
o
ti
at
e 
R
eg
u
la
to
ry
 P
er
m
it
s 
fo
r 
Lo
w
er
 

C
ac
tu
s 
B
as
in
 N
o
. 2

C
o
m
p
le
te

1
$
1
5
,5
0
0
.0
0

To
m
 D
o
d
so
n
 a
n
d
 A
ss
o
ci
at
es

P
ro
vi
d
e 
re
gu
la
to
ry
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
o
 a
cq
u
ir
e 

C
EQ

A
 P
er
m
it
s 
fo
r 
W
el
l 3
6

O
n
 H
o
ld

EN
G
IN
EE
R
IN
G
 D
EP
A
R
TM

EN
T‐
 T
A
SK

 O
R
D
ER

S 
A
N
D
 C
O
N
TR

A
C
TS

1.2.a

Packet Pg. 38



 

EXHIBIT B 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

1.2.b

Packet Pg. 39



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 40



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 41



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 42



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 43



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 44



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 45



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 46



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 47



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 48



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 49



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 50



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 51



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 52



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 53



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 54



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 55



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 56



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 57



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 58



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 59



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 60



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 61



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 62



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 63



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 64



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 65



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 66



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 67



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 68



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 69



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 70



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 71



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 72



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 73



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 74



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 75



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 76



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 77



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 78



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 79



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 80



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 81



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 82



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 83



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 84



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 85



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 86



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 87



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 88



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 89



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 90



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 91



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 92



1.2.b

Packet Pg. 93



BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
STAFF REPORT 

 
DATE: January 25, 2020 

TO: Board of Directors 

 
 
BACKGROUND:  
 
District staff prepared and issued a request for proposals (RFP) titled Furnish Analytical Services 
Related to Public Water Supply.  The RFP outlined the specific services needed to comply with the 
California State Water Resources Control Board and United States Environmental Protection 
Agency regulations for ground water, surface water and drinking water including, but not limited to:  
  

 Laboratory shall hold Environmental Laboratory Accreditation Program (ELAP) and Field 
of Testing Certificate. 

 Laboratory shall utilize approved Standard Methods/EPA Methods for analyses. 

 Laboratory shall submit Reports, Electronic Data Transfer (EDT) Confirmations, and 
WaterTrax Files in a timely manner. 

 
DISCUSSION:  
 
On December 14, 2015, staff received six (6) proposals to Furnish Analytical Services Related to 
Public Water Supply.  The six firms that submitted proposals with their respective fees are as 
follows: 
 

Eurofin 
Analytical 

Clinical 
Laboratory of 

San Bernardino, 
Inc. 

Weck 
Laboratory, 

Inc. 

Babcock 
Laboratories 

Test 
America, 

Inc. 

BSK 

$94,756.00 $119,478.00 $121,579.00 $121,625.00 $124,053.00 $136,752.68 

 
Clinical Laboratory of San Bernardino, Inc. was selected as the most qualified laboratory for the 
following reasons: 
 

 Clinical Laboratory holds a current CA ELAP and Fields of Testing Certificate and has 
performed very well on their last two rounds of Proficiency Testing and ELAP Audits.  

 Clinical Laboratory utilized approved Standard and EPA methods.  

FROM: Clarence Mansell Jr., General Manager 

SUBJECT: REVIEW AGREEMENT WITH CLINICAL LABORATORY OF SAN 
BERNARDINO, INC. FOR ANALYTICAL LAB SERVICES TO PUBLIC 
WATER SUPPLY 

1.3

Packet Pg. 94



 Clinical Laboratory can provide Reports, EDT Confirmations, and WaterTrax files in a 
timely manner. 

 Clinical Laboratory provides Bacteriological and Chemical analyses at their Grand Terrace 
Location, which is only 9.5 miles away.  

 Clinical Laboratory is open 365 days a year, including weekends and holidays.  

 Clinical Laboratory’s hours of operation and location can provide a backup to our water 
treatment plant(s) instrumentation. I.e. 4 hour rushes for perchlorate available in case the 
Dionex at the Fluidized Bed Reactor (FBR) Groundwater Treatment Plant was to go down, 
samples could be delivered and analyzed in an expedited manner.  

 Cross Training/Contact Hours are provided free of charge. 
 
On January 1, 2016, the Board of Directors awarded a contract to Clinical Laboratory of San 
Bernardino, Inc.  Attached as Exhibit A is the Analytical Lab Services Agreement. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
 
The routine cost for laboratory services is approximately $140,000.00 annually. 
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  
 
For information only. 
 
 
 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 

 
 

Clarence Mansell Jr, General Manager 

 
 
CM:jc 
 
ATTACHMENT(S): 

1. Exhibit A - Analytical Lab Services Agreement 

1.3

Packet Pg. 95



 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1.3.a

Packet Pg. 96



West Valley Water District 

AGREEMENT FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 

With 

Clinical Laborato of San Bernardino, Inc. 

1.3.a

Packet Pg. 97



AGREEMENT FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 

This AGREEMENT FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES ("Agreement") 
effective as of this 21st day of January, 2016 ("Effective Date") is by and between West 
Valley Water District ("District") and Clinical Laboratory of San Bernardino, Inc. 
("Laboratory"). The District and Laboratory may be collectively referred to as the "Parties" 
and individually as a "Party." 

RECITALS 

A. The Parties desire to enter into this Agreement for the purpose of setting 
forth the terms and conditions upon which Laboratory shall provide certain services 
to District. 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE PARTIES HEREBY AGREE AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. Term of Agreement. 

(a) Subject to subsection (b) below, the term of this Agreement will be 
for a period of three (3) years commencing on the Effective Date. 

(b) This Agreement shall renew automatically for continuous one (1) 
year periods for no more than two (2) additional years, unless either Party, 
prior to the end of the existing one (3) year period, delivers written notice to 
the other Party, that the Agreement shall not be extended. 

Section 2. Scope and Performance of Services. 

2.1 (a) District may, from time to time, by written instructions from the 
general manager or assistant general manager of the District ("Authorized 
Representative") issue task orders ("Task Orders") to the Laboratory. The 
Task Order shall be in such form and content as shall be set forth on Exhibit 
"A" attached hereto and by this reference incorporated herein. The Task 
Order shall set forth: (i) the scope of services to be performed by 
Laboratory; (ii) the compensation to be paid to Laboratory; and (iii) the time 
to complete the Task Order. The provisions of this Agreement shall apply 
to all such Task Orders. 

(b) For each Task Order, Laboratory shall confer, as requested, with 
District representatives to review progress of work elements, adherence to 
work schedule, coordination of work, scheduling of review and resolution of 
problems which may develop. 

2.2 Laboratory will furnish all of the labor, technical, administrative, professional 
and other personnel, all supplies and materials, equipment, printing, 
vehicles, transportation, office space and facilities, and all tests, testing and 
analyses, calculation, and all other means whatsoever, except as otherwise 

1.3.a

Packet Pg. 98



expressly specified in this Agreement, necessary or proper to perform and 
complete the services required of Laboratory under this Agreement. 

2.3 Laboratory's designated representative(s) who are authorized to act on its 
behalf and to make all decisions in connection with the performance of 
services under this Agreement are listed in Exhibit "B" attached hereto and 
by this reference incorporated herein ("Key Personnel"). 

2.4 Laboratory represents and warrants that it has the qualifications, 
experience and facilities necessary to properly perform the services 
required under this Agreement in a thorough, competent and professional 
manner. Notwithstanding Section 3 below, in the event Laboratory utilizes 
the services of subcontractors, Laboratory assumes sole and complete 
responsibility for the performance of the subcontractor to the specifications 
provided hereunder for Laboratory's work, and no adjustment will be made 
to Laboratory's requirements under this Agreement for timely completion of 
services, complete performance of services, or delivery of products or 
deliverables in a timely fashion, and no adjustment will be made to 
performance deadlines, or compensation due to Laboratory, due to or 
arising from issues Laboratory may have with any subcontractor. 
Laboratory will at all times faithfully, competently and to the best of its ability, 
experience and talent, perform all services described in this Agreement. In 
meeting its obligations under this Agreement, Laboratory shall employ, at a 
minimum, generally accepted standards and practices utilized by persons 
engaged in providing services similar to those required of Laboratory under 
this Agreement. 

Section 3. Additional Services and Changes in Services 

3.1 Laboratory will not be compensated for any services rendered in connection 
with its performance of this Agreement that are in addition to or outside of 
those set forth in the Task Orders, unless such additional services are 
authorized in advance and in writing by District. 

3.2 If Laboratory believes that additional services are needed to complete a 
Task Order, Laboratory will provide the Authorized Representative with 
written notification describing the proposed additional services, the reasons 
for such services, and a detailed proposal regarding cost. 

3.3 District may order changes to a Task Order, consisting of additions, 
deletions, or other revisions, and the compensation to be paid Laboratory 
will be adjusted accordingly. All such changes must be authorized in 
writing, and executed by Laboratory and District. The cost or credit to 
District resulting from changes in a Task Order will be determined by the 
written agreement between the Parties. 

Section 4. Familiarity with Services and Site. 

1.3.a

Packet Pg. 99



4.1 By executing this Agreement, Laboratory warrants that Laboratory shall, 
prior to undertaking a Task Order: 

(a) investigate and consider the services to be performed; 

(b) carefully consider how and within what time frame the services 
should be performed; 

(c) understand the facilities, difficulties, and restrictions attending 
performance of the services under a Task Order; and 

(d) possesses all licenses required under local, state or federal law to 
perform the services contemplated by a Task Order, and maintain all 
required licenses during the performance of such Task Order. 

4.2 If services involve work upon any site, Laboratory warrants that Laboratory 
has or will investigate the site and will be fully acquainted with the conditions 
there existing, before commencing its services under a Task Order. Should 
Laboratory discover any latent or unknown conditions that may materially 
affect the performance of services, Laboratory will immediately inform 
District of such fact and will not proceed except at Laboratory's own risk 
until written instructions are received from the District. 

Section 5. Compensation and Payment. 

5.1 Subject to any limitations set forth in this Agreement, District agrees to pay 
Laboratory the amounts shown in a Task Order. 

5.2 District will independently review each invoice submitted by Laboratory to 
determine whether the work performed and expenses incurred are in 
compliance with this Agreement. In the event that no charges or expenses 
are disputed, the invoice will be approved and paid. In the event any 
charges or expenses are disputed by District, the original invoice will be 
returned by District to Laboratory for correction and resubmission. 

5.3 Except as to any charges for work performed or expenses incurred by 
Laboratory that are disputed by District, District will use its best efforts to 
cause Laboratory to be paid within thirty (30) days of receipt of Laboratory's 

----------linv.oic,e..------------------------------

5.4 No payment or partial payment to Laboratory shall constitute acceptance of 
any work completed by Laboratory or waive any claims by the District for 
any reason whatsoever. 

1.3.a

Packet Pg. 100



Section 6. Required Documentation Prior to Performance. 

6.1 Laboratory will not perform any services under this Agreement until: 

(a) Laboratory furnishes proof of insurance ("Insurance") as required 
under Exhibit "C" attached hereto and by this reference incorporated 
herein; and 

(b) Laboratory provides District with a Taxpayer Identification Number. 

6.2 The District will have no obligation to pay for any services rendered by 
Laboratory in advance of receiving written authorization to proceed for each 
Task Order, and Laboratory acknowledges that any such services are at 
Laboratory's own risk. 

Section 7. Project Documents. 

7.1 All original maps, models, designs, drawings, photographs, studies, 
surveys, reports, data, notes, computer programs, files and other 
documents (collectively, "Project Documents") prepared, developed or 
discovered by Laboratory in the course of providing services under this 
Agreement will become the sole property of District and may be used, 
reused or otherwise disposed of by District without the permission of 
Laboratory. Laboratory will take such steps as are necessary to perfect or 
protect the ownership interest of District in such Project Documents. Upon 
completion, expiration or termination of this Agreement, Laboratory shall 
turn over to District all such original Project Documents in its possession; 
provided, however, that Laboratory may retain copies of Project 
Documents. 

7.2 Except as necessary for the performance of services under this Agreement, 
no Project Documents prepared under this Agreement, will be released by 
Laboratory to any other person or entity without District's prior written 
approval. All press releases, including graphic display information to be 
published, must be approved and distributed solely by District, unless 
otherwise agreed to in writing by District. 

Section 8. Laboratory's Books and Records. 

8.1 Laboratory shall maintain any and all documents and records 
demonstrating or relating to Laboratory's performance of services under this 
Agreement. Laboratory shall maintain any and all ledgers, books of 
account, invoices, vouchers, canceled checks, or other documents or 
records evidencing or relating to work, services, expenditures and 
disbursements charged to District under this Agreement. Any and all such 
documents or records must be maintained in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles and must be sufficiently complete and 
detailed so as to permit an accurate evaluation of the services provided by 

1.3.a

Packet Pg. 101



Laboratory under this Agreement. Any and all such documents or records 
must be maintained for three (3) years following the final payment for each 
Task Order. 

8.2 Any and all records or documents required to be maintained by this section 
must be made available for inspection, audit and copying, at any time during 
regular business hours, upon written request by District or its designated 
representatives. Copies of such documents or records must be provided 
directly to District for inspection, audit and copying when it is practical to do 
so; otherwise, unless an alternative is mutually agreed upon, such 
documents and records must be made available at Laboratory's address 
indicated for receipt of notices in this Agreement. 

8.3 Where District has reason to believe that any of the documents or records 
required to be maintained by this section may be lost or discarded due to 
dissolution or termination of Laboratory's business, District may, by written 
request, require that custody of such documents or records be given to a 
person or entity mutually agreed upon and that such documents and 
records thereafter be maintained by such person or entity at Laboratory's 
expense. Access to such documents and records shall be granted to 
District, as well as to its successors-in-interest and authorized 
representatives. 

Section 9. Status of Laboratory. 

9.1 Laboratory is and will at all times remain a wholly independent contractor 
and not an officer or employee of District. Laboratory has no authority to 
bind District in any manner, or to incur any obligation, debt or liability of any 
kind on behalf of or against District, whether by contract or otherwise, unless 
such authority is expressly conferred under this Agreement or is otherwise 
expressly conferred in writing by District. 

9.2 The personnel performing the services under this Agreement on behalf of 
Laboratory will at all times be under Laboratory's exclusive direction and 
control. Neither District, nor any elected or appointed boards, officers, 
officials, employees or agents of District, will have control over the conduct 
of Laboratory or any of Laboratory's officers, subcontractor's employees or 
agents, except as provided in this Agreement. Laboratory warrants that it 

----------"'w"'ll'l "no""t'a""t.--..a""ny...-cfime or m any manner represent tfiaiLaboratory or any of 
Laboratory's officers, employees or agents are in any manner officials, 
officers, employees or agents of District. 

9.3 Neither Laboratory, nor any of Laboratory's officers, employees or agents, 
will obtain any rights to retirement, health care or any other benefits which 
may otherwise accrue to District's employees. Laboratory expressly waives 
any claim to any such rights or benefits. 

1.3.a

Packet Pg. 102



Section 10. Compliance with Applicable Laws. 

Laboratory shall keep itself informed of and comply with all applicable federal, state 
and local laws, statutes, codes, ordinances, regulations and rules in effect during 
the term of this Agreement. 

Section 11. Conflicts of Interest. 

Laboratory covenants that neither Laboratory, nor any officer, principal nor 
employee of its firm, has or will acquire any interest, directly or indirectly, that would 
conflict in any manner with the interests of District or that would in any way hinder 
Laboratory's performance of services under this Agreement. Laboratory further 
covenants that neither Laboratory, nor any officer, principal or employee of its firm 
will make, participate in the making, or in any way attempt to use the position of 
Laboratory to influence any decision of the District in which Laboratory knows or 
has reason to know that Laboratory, or any officer, principal or employee of 
Laboratory has a financial interest as defined in Government Code section 87103. 

Section 12. Confidential Information; Release of Information. 

12.1 All information gained or work product produced by Laboratory in 
performance of this Agreement will be considered confidential to the full 
extent permitted by law, unless such information is in the public domain or 
already known to Laboratory. Laboratory shall not release or disclose any 
such information or work product to persons or entities other than District 
without prior written authorization from an Authorized Representative, 
except as may be required by law. 

12.2 Laboratory, its officers, employees, or agents, shall not, without prior written 
authorization from an Authorized Representative or unless requested by the 
District counsel, voluntarily provide declarations, letters of support, 
testimony at depositions, response to interrogatories or other information 
concerning the work performed under this Agreement. Response to a 
subpoena or court order will not be considered "voluntary" provided 
Laboratory gives District notice of such court order or subpoena. 

12.3 If Laboratory, or any officer, employee, or agent of Laboratory, provides any 
information or work product (including Project Documents) in violation of 

-----------this-Agr-eement-;-then-Elistr1et-shall--have-tMe-r1gMHG-r-eimbufS-ement-and----
indemnity from Laboratory for any damages, costs and fees, including 
attorneys' fees, caused by or incurred as a result of Laboratory's conduct. 

12.4 Laboratory shall promptly notify District should Laboratory, its officers, 
employees, or agents be served with any summons, complaint, subpoena, 
notice of deposition, request for documents, interrogatories, request for 
admissions or other discovery request, court order or subpoena from any 
party regarding this Agreement and the services performed under this 
Agreement. District retains the right, but has no obligation, to represent 

1.3.a

Packet Pg. 103



Laboratory or be present at any deposition, hearing or similar proceeding. 
Laboratory agrees to cooperate fully with District and to provide District with 
the opportunity to review any response to discovery requests provided by 
Laboratory. However, this right to review any such response does not imply 
or mean the right by District to control, direct, or rewrite such response. 

Section 13. Indemnification. 

Laboratory covenants and agrees that, during the term of this Agreement, any 
injury suffered as a result of Laboratory's services shall be the sole responsibility 
of Laboratory and its successors and assigns and District shall not be liable to 
Laboratory, or any other person or persons whatsoever for any such injury, loss or 
damage to persons or property unless caused by the gross negligence or 
intentional acts of District or its Representatives (as defined below). Laboratory 
shall defend, indemnify and hold District, its officers, directors and Representatives 
("District lndemnitees") harmless from and against any and all claims, costs, 
liabilities, debts, demands, suits, actions, causes of action, obligations, 
proceedings, damages, judgments, liens and expenses of whatever nature, 
including attorneys' fees and disbursements (collectively, "Claims") which may be 
made against the District lndemnitees arising out of or in connection with (a) the 
retention by District of Laboratory's services; (b) the performance of or failure to 
perform, the work covered by this Agreement which is caused or occasioned by 
any act, action, neglect on the part of Laboratory, or its Representatives, in the 
performance of this Agreement and the work to be done under this Agreement; (c) 
the death and/or injury to any person or damage to any property (real or personal) 
and/or economic loss which may be caused or is claimed to have been caused, by 
the negligence, act or omission of Laboratory or its Representatives or its or their 
property; (d) any violation or alleged violation by Laboratory of any law or 
regulation now or hereafter enacted; and (e) any breach by Laboratory of its 
obligations under this Agreement. The foregoing indemnity shall not apply to the 
extent any such Claims are ultimately established by a court of competent 
jurisdiction to have been caused by the gross negligence or willful misconduct of 
the District lndemnitees or any of them. District shall make all decisions with 
respect to its representation in any legal proceeding concerning this section. If 
Laboratory fails to do so, District shall have the right, but not the obligation, to 
defend the same and charge all of the direct or incidental Claims of such defense, 
including attorneys' fees and costs, to Laboratory and to recover the same from 

---------l~bmatory-.----+l"le-term "Representatives"-sl"lall-mean-employees,-representatLv:es~---
agents, contractors, subcontractors or any other persons directly or indirectly 
employed by any one of the foregoing or reasonably under the control of any of 
the foregoing or for whose acts any of the foregoing may be liable. 

1.3.a

Packet Pg. 104



Section 14. Insurance. 

Laboratory agrees to obtain and maintain in full force and effect during the term of 
this Agreement the Insurance coverages listed in Exhibit "C." All Insurance policies 
shall be subject to approval by District as to form and content. These requirements 
are subject to amendment or waiver if so approved in writing by an Authorized 
Representative. 

Section 15. Assignment. 

15.1 The expertise and experience of Laboratory are material considerations for 
this Agreement. District has an interest in the qualifications of and capability 
of the persons and entities that will fulfill the duties and obligations imposed 
upon Laboratory under this Agreement. Laboratory may not assign or 
transfer this Agreement or any portion of this Agreement or the performance 
of any of Laboratory's duties or obligations under this Agreement without 
the prior written consent of District. The District can withhold its 
approval/consent in its sole and absolute discretion. Any attempted 
assignment will be null and void, and will constitute a material breach of this 
Agreement entitling District to any and all remedies at law or in equity, 
including summary termination of this Agreement. 

15.2 Laboratory must obtain District's prior written approval before utilizing any 
subcontractors to perform any services under this Agreement, which 
approval may be withheld in District's sole and absolute discretion. This 
written approval must include the identity of the subcontractor and the terms 
of compensation. Approval by District does not imply any agreement to or 
endorsement by the District as to the competency or capability of any 
proposed subcontractor, and District reserves any and all rights against 
both Laboratory and such subcontractor, for any failure to perform or other 
breach of any of the provisions of this Agreement, or the standards of 
performance defined herein, and no waiver is intended or to be implied by 
District's approval of any subcontractor. 

Section 16. Termination of Agreement. 

16.1 District may terminate this Agreement, with or without cause, at any time by 
written notice of termination to Laboratory. In the event such notice is given, 

----------1--..a"b"o'""ra»cto"'ry""s"h"'all cease lmmeala1elya1tworl<-in--pTo-gre-ss. 

16.2 Upon termination of this Agreement, all property belonging exclusively to 
District which is in Laboratory's possession must be returned to District. 
Laboratory shall promptly deliver to District a final invoice for all outstanding 
services performed and expenses incurred by Laboratory as of the date of 
termination. Compensation for work in progress not based on an hourly 
rate will be prorated based on the percentage of work completed as of the 
date of termination. 

1.3.a

Packet Pg. 105



16.3 Laboratory acknowledges District's right to terminate this Agreement as 
provided in this section, and hereby waives any and all claims for damages 
that might otherwise arise from District's termination of this Agreement. 

Section 17. Notices. 

17.1 All written notices required or permitted to be given under this Agreement 
will be deemed made when received by the other Party at its respective 
address as follows: 

To District: 

To Laboratory: 

West Valley Water District 
855 West Base Line Road 
P. 0. Box 920 
Rialto, CA 92377 
Attention: Thomas J. Crowley, P.E., General Manager 

(Tel.) 909-875-1804 
(Fax) 909-875-1849 

Clinical Laboratory of San Bernardino, Inc. 
21881 Barton Road 
Grand Terrace, CA 92337 
Attention: Melinda Furnas, President 

(Tel.) (909) 825-7693 
mlfurnas@earthlink.net 

17.2 Notice will be deemed effective on the date personally delivered or 
transmitted by facsimile. If the notice is mailed, notice will be deemed given 
three (3) days after deposit of the same in the custody of the United States 
Postal Service, postage prepaid, for first class delivery, or upon delivery if 
using a major courier service with tracking capabilities. 

17.3 Any Party may change its notice information by giving notice to the other 
Party in compliance with this section. 

Section 18. General Provisions. 

18.1 Authority to Execute. Each Party represents and warrants that all 
necessary action has been taken by such Party to authorize the 
undersigned to execute this Agreement and to bind it to the performance of 
its obligations hereunder. 

18.2 Binding Effect. Subject to Section 15, this Agreement is binding upon the 
heirs, executors, administrators, successors and assigns of the Parties, 
including any subcontractors of Laboratory .. 

1.3.a

Packet Pg. 106



18.3 Entire Agreement. This Agreement, including the attached Exhibits "A" 
through "C," is the entire, complete, final and exclusive expression of the 
Parties with respect to the matters addressed in this Agreement and 
supersedes all other agreements or understandings, whether oral or written, 
between Laboratory and District prior to the execution of this Agreement. 

18.4 Modification of Agreement. No amendment to or modification of this 
Agreement will be valid unless made in writing and approved by Laboratory 
and by the Board of Directors of the District, or General Manager, if such 
power has been delegated to General Manager. The Parties agree that this 
requirement for written modifications cannot be waived and that any 
attempted waiver will be void. 

18.5 Facsimile Signatures. Amendments to this Agreement will be considered 
executed when the signature of a Party is delivered by facsimile 
transmission. Such facsimile signature will have the same effect as an 
original signature. 

18.6 Waiver. Waiver by any Party to this Agreement of any term, condition, or 
covenant of this Agreement will not constitute a waiver of any other term, 
condition, or covenant. Waiver by any Party of any breach of the provisions 
of this Agreement will not constitute a waiver of any other provision, or a 
waiver of any subsequent breach or violation of any provision of this 
Agreement. Acceptance by District of any services by Laboratory will not 
constitute a waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement. 

18.7 Interpretation. This Agreement will be interpreted, construed and 
governed according to the laws of the State of California. Each Party has 
had the opportunity to review this Agreement with legal counsel. The 
Agreement will be construed simply, as a whole, and in accordance with its 
fair meaning, and without resort to rules regarding draftsmanship. It will not 
be interpreted strictly for or against either Party. 

18.8 Severability. If any provision of this Agreement shall be ruled invalid, illegal 
or unenforceable, the Parties shall: (a) promptly negotiate a substitute for 
the provisions which shall to the greatest extent legally permissible, effect 
the intent of the Parties in the invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision, and 
(b) negotiate such changes in, substitutions for or additions to the remaining 
provisions of th1s Agreement as may be necessary 1n addition to and l . .,n ____ _ 
conjunction with subsection (a) above to give effect to the intent of the 
Parties without the invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision. To the extent 
the Parties are unable to negotiate such changes, substitutions or additions 
as set forth in the preceding sentence, and the intent of the Parties with 
respect to the essential terms of the Agreement may be carried out without 
the invalid, illegal or unenforceable provisions, the balance of this 
Agreement shall not be affected, and this Agreement shall be construed and 
enforced as if the invalid, illegal or unenforceable provisions did not exist. 

1.3.a

Packet Pg. 107



18.9 Venue. The Parties agree any action or proceeding to enforce or relating 
to this Agreement shall be brought exclusively in the federal court located 
in Riverside County, California or state court located in San Bernardino 
County, California and the Parties hereto consent to the exercise of 
personal jurisdiction over them by such courts for purposes of any such 
action or proceeding. 

18.10 Disputes. If any disputes should arise between the Parties concerning the 
work to be done under this Agreement, the payments to be made, or the 
manner of accomplishment of the work, Laboratory shall nevertheless 
proceed to perform the work as directed by District pending settlement of 
the dispute. 

18.11 Cooperation. Laboratory shall cooperate in the performance of work with 
District and all other agents. 

18.12 Time of Essence. Time shall be of the essence as to all dates and times 
of performance contained in this Agreement. 

18.13 Counterparts. This Agreement may be signed and delivered in any 
number of counter parts, each of which, when signed and delivered, shall 
be an original, but all of which shall together constitute one and the same 
Agreement. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Agreement to be 
executed effective as of the day and year first above written. 

DISTRICT: 

WEST VALLEY WATER DISTRICT, 
a public agency of the State of California 

LABORATORY: 

Clinical Laboratory of San Bernardino, Inc. 
a California Corporation 

1.3.a

Packet Pg. 108



Name Me/,j,/q Fll r Hils 

Its r('-es 

1.3.a

Packet Pg. 109



EXHIBIT A 

TASK ORDER 

1.3.a

Packet Pg. 110



TASK ORDER N0.1 

Laboratory Services 

This Task Order ("Task Order") is executed this 21•t day of January 2016 by and 
between West Valley Water District, a public agency of the State of California ("District") 
and Clinical Laboratory of San Bernardino, Inc., a California Corporation ("Laboratory"). 

RECITALS 

A. On or about January 21, 2016 District and Laboratory executed that certain 
Agreement for Professional Services ("Agreement"). 

B. The Agreement provides that the District will issue Task Orders from time to time, 
for the provision of certain services by Laboratory. 

C. Pursuant to the Agreement, District and Laboratory desire to enter into this Task 
Order for the purpose of setting forth the terms and conditions upon which 
Laboratory shall render certain services to the District. 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE PARTIES HERETO HEREBY AGREE AS FOLLOWS: 

1. Laboratory agrees to perform the services set forth on Exhibit "1" attached hereto 
and by this reference incorporated herein. 

2. Subject to any limitations in the Agreement, District shall pay to Laboratory the 
amounts specified in Exhibit "2" attached hereto and by this reference incorporated 
herein. The total compensation, including reimbursement for actual expenses, may not 
exceed the amount set forth in Exhibit "2," unless additional compensation is approved in 
writing by the District. 

3. Laboratory shall perform the services described in Exhibit "1" in accordance with 
the schedule set forth in Exhibit "3" attached hereto and by this reference incorporated 
herein. Laboratory shall commence work immediately upon receipt of a notice to proceed 
from the District. District will have no obligation to pay for any services rendered by 
Laboratory in advance of receipt of the notice to proceed, and Laboratory acknowledges 
that any such services are at Laboratory's own risk. 

4. The provisions of the Agreement shall apply to this Task Order. As such, the terms 
and conditions of the Agreement are hereby incorporated herein by this reference.IN 
WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Task Order to be executed effective 
as of the day and year first above written. 

DISTRICT: 

1.3.a

Packet Pg. 111



WEST VALLEY WATER DISTRICT, 
a public agency of the State of California 

eral Manager 

LABORATORY: 

Clinical Laboratory of San Bernardino,. Inc. 
a California Corporation 

By~ M!WI4 
Name 'mef,V.(a Fv tll ({$ 

Its fre& 

1.3.a

Packet Pg. 112



EXHIBIT "1" 

TO 

TASK ORDER N0.1 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 

Laboratory shall perform work in accordance with California ELAP Certification, EPA 
and/or Standard Methods procedures, where applicable. Laboratory will maintain and 
implement a written quality assurance plan. 

Laboratory shall provide Report, California EDT, and WaterTrax files to the District in a 
timely manner for all samples submitted. Laboratory shall adhere to routine turnaround 
times of 10 business days after receipt of samples. If turnaround times are to be 
exceeded the assigned project manager will notify the Water Quality Supervisor 
immediately. Rush Surcharges shall apply to expedited analyses when requested by the 
District. 

Laboratory shall notify the District of positive microbiological samples within two (2) 
hours of completion of the analysis. Laboratory will notify the District of any MCL 
violation upon completion of the analysis. Per notification attachment. Laboratory shall 
also notify the District when any problem/questions arise with samples received. 

Proper documentation shall be supplied to the District when an analysis is unable to be 
completed. Documentation shall list details such as time and date sample was received, 
reason why analysis was not completed, and when the Laboratory notified the District 
after Laboratory was made aware of the issue. 

1.3.a

Packet Pg. 113



EXHIBIT "2" 

TO 

TASK ORDER N0.1 

COMPENSATION 

1.3.a

Packet Pg. 114



Analyte 

Field Free Chlorine Residual 
Field Temperature F 
Coliform 15 Tube 
Coliform P /A 
ColiformQuantiTray 
HPC 
Aluminum 
Arsenic 
Asbestos 
Benzene 
Chloride 
Corrosivitv 
DBCP 
Dioxin 
Diquat 
DOC 
EPA 504 
EPA 508 
EPA 515 
EPA524 
EPA 525 
EPA 531 
EPA 547 
EPA 548 
General Mineral 
General Physical (COT) 
Gross Alpha 
HAA 
Hexavalent Chromium 
Inorgaruc Cliemical 
Iron 
Lead & Copper 
Manganese 
MTBE 
Nitrate 
PCE 
TCE 
Perchlorate 
Phenols 

Exhibit 2 

West Valley Water District 
RFQ for Laboratory Services 

Fee Schedule 

Laboratory 
Approximate 

Annual 
Method 

Ouantitv 
3000 

800 
52 

2930 
5 

52 
52 

156 
1 

28 
12 
80 

4 
1 
1 

192 
20 

1 
1 

21 
1 
1 
1 
1 

20 
756 

7 
44 
76 
20 
74 
30 
74 
32 

885 
36 
24 

1812 
208 

Unit Price Total 

$ -

$ -

$ 15.00 $ 780.00 
$ 6.75 $ 19,777.50 '{ 

$ 8.00 $ 40.00 
$ 5.00 $ 260.00 
$ 5.00 $ 260.00 
$ 5.00 $ 780.00 
$ 150.00 $ 150.00 
$ 12.50 $ 350.00 
$ 6.00 $ 72.00 
$ 25.00 $ 2,000.00 
$ 40.00 $ 160.00 
$ 275.00 $ 275.00 
$ 90.00 $ 90.00 
$ 17.50 $ 3,360.00 
$ 40.00 $ 800.00 
$ 75.00 $ 75.00 
$ 90.00 $ 90.00 
$ 70.00 $ 1,470.00 
$ 150.00 $ 150.00 
$ 70.00 $ 70.00 
$ 70.00 $ 70.00 
$ 70.00 $ 70.00 
$ 90.00 $ 1,800.00 
$ 9.00 $ 6,804.00 
$ 35.00 $ 245.00 
$ 60.00 $ 2,640.00 
$ 35.00 $ 2,660.00 
$ 110-:DO $ 2,201l.OO 
$ 5.00 $ 370.00 
$ 10.00 $ 300.00 
$ 5.00 $ 370.00 
$ 12.50 $ 400.00 
$ 6.00 $ 5,310.00 
$ 12.50 $ 450.00 
$ 12.50 $ 300.00 
$ 17.50 $ 31,710.00 
$ 70.00 $ 14,560.00 

1.3.a

Packet Pg. 115



Radium 226 1 $ 115.00 $ 115.00 
Radium 228 1 $ 160.00 $ 160.00 
Silica 12 $ 5.00 $ 60.00 
Sulfate 94 $ 6.00 $ 564.00 
THM 44 $ 30.00 $ 1,320.00 
TOC 244 $ 17.50 $ 4,270.00 
Total Alkalinity 192 $ 5.00 $ 960.00 
Turbidity 52 $ 4.00 $ 208.00 
Uranium 2 $ 50.00 $ 100.00 
UV254 52 $ 35.00 $ 1,820.00 

Total $ 110,845.50 
*Please note triennual analyses (due 2017 only) are included above. 

LT2 Fees 

Laboratory 
Approximate 

Analyte Annual Unit Price Total 
Method 

Quanti tv 
Cryptosporidium 12 $420.00 $5,040.00 
E. coli 12 $8.00 $96.00 
Turbidity 12 $3.00 $36.00 

LT2 Total $5,172.00 

Overall Total $ 116,017.50 

1.3.a

Packet Pg. 116



EXHIBIT "3" 

TO 

TASK ORDER N0.1 

SCHEDULE 

Schedule to be determined by District Staff. 

1.3.a

Packet Pg. 117



EXHIBIT B 

KEY PERSONNEL 

1. Laboratory's designated representative(s) who are authorized to act on its behalf 
and to make all decisions in connection with the performance of services under 
this Agreement are: 

Melinda Furnas, Principal 
Bob Glaubig, Laboratory Director 
Stu Styles, Client Services Manager 

1.3.a

Packet Pg. 118



EXHIBITC 

INSURANCE 

A. General Requirements. Before commencing the performance of services under 
this Agreement, and at all other times this Agreement is effective, Laboratory must 
procure and maintain the following types of insurance with coverage limits 
complying, at a minimum, with the limits set forth below: 

Type of Insurance 

Commercial General Liability: 
Business Automobile Liability 
Professional Liability 
Workers Compensation 

Limits (combined single) 

$1,000,000 
$1,000,000 
$1,000,000 
Statutory Requirement. 

B. Commercial General Liability Insurance. The amount of insurance set forth 
above must be a combined single limit per occurrence for bodily injury, personal 
injury, and property damage for the policy coverage. The insurance must be on 
an "occurrence" not a "claims made" basis. 

C. Business Automobile Insurance. Automobile coverage must be written on forms 
subject to the written approval of District. 

D. Professional Liability Insurance. This coverage must be on an "occurrence" 
basis, including coverage for contractual liability. The Professional Liability 
Insurance required by this Agreement must be endorsed to be applicable to claims 
based upon, arising out of or related to services performed under this Agreement. 

E. Workers Compensation. Laboratory must have a State of California approved 
policy form providing the statutory benefits required by law with employer's liability 
limits of no less than $1,000,000 per accident for all covered losses, or Laboratory 
must provide evidence of an approved self-insurance program. 

F. Additional Insureds. Each Commercial General Liability Insurance policy and 
Business Auto Insurance policy must provide that the District, its officials. officers, 
employees. agents and volunteers are "additional insureds" under the terms of the 
policy, and must provide that an act or omission of one the 1nsureds Will not reduce 
or avoid coverage to the other insureds. 

G. Deductibles and Self-Insured Retention. Any deductibles or self-insured 
retentions applicable to the insurance policies required under this Agreement must 
be declared to and approved by District. In no event may any required insurance 
policy have a deductible, self-insured retention or other similar policy provision in 
excess of $50,000 without prior written approval by District in its sole discretion. 
At the option of District, either the insurer will reduce or eliminate such deductibles 

1.3.a

Packet Pg. 119



or self-insured retentions with respect to the District's additional insureds or 
Laboratory will procure a bond guaranteeing payment of any losses, damages, 
expenses, costs or settlements up to the amount of such deductibles or self
insured retentions. 

H. Primary Insurance. Each of the insurance policies maintained by Laboratory 
under this Agreement must state that such insurance will be deemed "primary" so 
that any insurance that may be carried by District will be deemed excess to that of 
Laboratory. This endorsement must be reflected on forms as determined by 
District. 

I. Certificates of Insurance and Endorsements. Prior to commencing any 
services under this Agreement, Laboratory must file with the District certificates of 
insurance and endorsements evidencing the existence of all insurance required by 
this Agreement, along with such other evidence of insurance or copies of policies 
as may reasonably be required by District. These certificates of insurance and 
endorsements must be in a form approved by the Legal Counsel. Laboratory must 
maintain current certificates and endorsements on file with District during the term 
of this Agreement reflecting the existence of all required insurance. Each of the 
certificates must expressly provide that no material change in the policy, or 
termination thereof, will be effective except upon 30 days prior written notice to 
District by certified mail, return receipt requested. The delivery to District of any 
certificates of insurance or endorsements that do not comply with the requirements 
of this Agreement will not waive the District's right to require compliance. 

J. Insurance Rating. All insurance required to be maintained by Laboratory under 
this Agreement must be issued by companies licensed by or admitted to conduct 
insurance business in the State of California by the California Department of 
Insurance and must have a rating of A or better and Class VII or better by the latest 
edition of A.M. Best's Key Rating Guide. 

K. Aggregate Limits. The aggregate limits for each insurance policy required under 
this Agreement must apply separately and solely to the services performed under 
this Agreement. If the required policies do not have an endorsement providing that 
the aggregate limit applies separately to the services being performed, or if 
defense costs are included in the aggregate limit, then the required aggregate 
limits must be increased to an amount satisfactory to District. 

Wa1ver of"""SUDrogat1on R1gfitS. Laooratory ana-e-ach-lfrsurel"-proviain~prny 
insurance required by this Agreement must waive all rights of subrogation against 
District, its officials, officers, employees, agents and volunteers, and each insurer 
must issue a certificate to the District evidencing this waiver of subrogation rights. 

M. Failure to Maintain Required Insurance. If Laboratory, for any reason, fails to 
obtain and maintain the insurance required by this Agreement, District may obtain 
such coverage at Laboratory's expense and deduct the cost of such insurance 
from payments due to Laboratory under this Agreement or may terminate the 

1.3.a

Packet Pg. 120



Agreement. 

N. Effect of Coverage. The existence of the required insurance coverage under this 
Agreement shall not be deemed to satisfy or limit Laboratory's indemnity 
obligations under this Agreement. Laboratory acknowledges that the insurance 
coverage and policy limits set forth in this Agreement constitute the minimum 
coverage and policy limits required. Any insurance proceeds available to District 
in excess of the limits and coverage required by this Agreement, and which is 
applicable to a given loss, must be made available to District to compensate it for 
such losses. 

1.3.a

Packet Pg. 121



BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
STAFF REPORT 

 
DATE: January 25, 2020 

TO: Board of Directors 

 
 
BACKGROUND:  
 
The 1996 Safe Drinking Water Act amendment requires that once every five years EPA issue a new 
list of no more than 30 unregulated contaminants to be monitored by public water systems under 
the Unregulated Contaminant Monitoring Rule (“UCMR”).  Prior UCMRs were issued in 1999, 2007 
and 2012.  Final regulations were published in the Federal Register on December 20, 2016 for the 
fourth round of monitoring – the UCMR4.  This program will take place between 2018 and 2020 
using analytical methods developed by EPA and consensus organizations.  This monitoring provides 
a basis for future regulatory actions to protect public health.  District staff will have the required 
UCMR4 monitoring completed in 2020. 
 
DISCUSSION:  
 
On October 13, 2017, a Request for Proposals (“RFP”) was issued and publicly advertised on 
PlanetBids.  Four (4) firms – Babcock Laboratories, Inc. (“ESB”), BSK Associates (“BSK”), 
Eurofins Eaton Analytical, Inc. (“EEA”) and Weck Laboratories, Inc. (WLI) – submitted proposals.   
 
The proposals were similar in qualifications and technical expertise.  The costs are summarized 
below: 
 

Babcock 
Laboratories, Inc. 

BSK Associates Eurofins Eaton 
Analytical 

Weck Laboratories, 
Inc. 

$13,910.00 $14,080.00 $21,400.00 $24,760.00 

 
On November 8, 2017, the Board of Directors awarded a contract to Babcock Laboratories, Inc. for   
Unregulated Contaminant Monitoring. Attached as Exhibit A is the UCMR4 Testing Agreement. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
 
This item was included in the Fiscal Year 2017/18 Operating Budget tilted “Professional 
Services/Lab Tests” with a budget of $35,600.  This cost would be spread over Fiscal Year 
2017/2018 through Fiscal Year 2019/2020. 
 

FROM: Clarence Mansell Jr., General Manager 

SUBJECT: REVIEW AGREEMENT WITH BABCOCK LABORATORIES, INC. FOR 
UNREGULATED CONTAMINANT MONITORING 

1.4

Packet Pg. 122



STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  
 
For information only. 
 
 
 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 

 
 

Clarence Mansell Jr, General Manager 

 
 
CM:jc 
 
ATTACHMENT(S): 

1. Exhibit A - UCMR4 Testing Agreement 

1.4

Packet Pg. 123



 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1.4.a

Packet Pg. 124



1.4.a

Packet Pg. 125



1.4.a

Packet Pg. 126



1.4.a

Packet Pg. 127



1.4.a

Packet Pg. 128



1.4.a

Packet Pg. 129



1.4.a

Packet Pg. 130



1.4.a

Packet Pg. 131



1.4.a

Packet Pg. 132



1.4.a

Packet Pg. 133



1.4.a

Packet Pg. 134



1.4.a

Packet Pg. 135



1.4.a

Packet Pg. 136



1.4.a

Packet Pg. 137



1.4.a

Packet Pg. 138



1.4.a

Packet Pg. 139



1.4.a

Packet Pg. 140



1.4.a

Packet Pg. 141



1.4.a

Packet Pg. 142



1.4.a

Packet Pg. 143



1.4.a

Packet Pg. 144



1.4.a

Packet Pg. 145



1.4.a

Packet Pg. 146



1.4.a

Packet Pg. 147



1.4.a

Packet Pg. 148



1.4.a

Packet Pg. 149



1.4.a

Packet Pg. 150



1.4.a

Packet Pg. 151



1.4.a

Packet Pg. 152



1.4.a

Packet Pg. 153



1.4.a

Packet Pg. 154



1.4.a

Packet Pg. 155



1.4.a

Packet Pg. 156



BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
STAFF REPORT 

 
DATE: January 25, 2020 

TO: Board of Directors 

 
 
BACKGROUND:  
 
West Valley Water District (the “District”) uses Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) software to 
integrate many of its core business processes and functions into one system. Key examples include 
the District’s accounting and financial reporting functions, payroll, purchasing, and utility billing. In 
2005, the District implemented a system called Sungard Naviline (a.k.a. HTE). Although it was 
implemented only 15 years ago, it was originally developed about 30 years ago. The system is 
outdated and has limitations that no longer meet the District’s needs. 
 
The District developed and issued a Request for Proposals (RFP) to implement a new ERP and 
received 3 proposals. Staff evaluated the proposals and the top 2 proposers were invited for onsite 
demonstrations. Accela was invited to demonstrate their Springbook system, and Tyler 
Technologies, (“Tyler”) was invited to demonstrate their Incode 10 (“Incode”) system. Staff from 
many different departments, and Director Dr. Taylor as the Chair of the Safety and Technology 
Committee, attended the software demonstrations and provided feedback.  
 
Many aspects of each system were evaluated and a consensus was reached that Incode 10 would best 
meet the District’s needs. At its September 6, 2018 meeting, the Board of Directors approved an 
agreement with Tyler to implement Incode, (Attachment A). The Capital Budget included total 
funding of $390,000 for the entire project to upgrade the District’s enterprise system. The original 
contract with Tyler was for $310,948. The total amount is comprised of the following: 
 

Licensing 138,856  

Implementation 104,300  

Data conversion 19,250  

Annual maintenance 48,542  

 310,948  

 
The remaining funding of approximately $81,000 was intended to cover other costs such as a new 
VMware host, (a new server), potential travel expenses for the Tyler consultants, and potential 
ancillary programming and implementation costs.  

FROM: Clarence Mansell Jr., General Manager 

SUBJECT: REVIEW OF PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH TYLER 
TECHNOLOGIES TO IMPLEMENT AN ENTERPRISE RESOURCE 
PLANNING (ERP) SYSTEM - INCODE 10 

1.5

Packet Pg. 157



 
 At its March 7, 2019 meeting, the Board of Directors approved a project to implement a 
Computerized Maintenance Management System, (“CMMS”), using Maximo software. Following 
the approval of Maximo, staff began the process of evaluating how Incode and Maximo might be 
integrated. The decision was eventually made to eliminate the Inventory Module and the Work 
Orders Module from Incode and to manage those processes in Maximo. In addition, the decision 
was made to integrate the Purchasing Module in Incode with Maximo. The removal of the two 
modules resulted in a decrease of $45,610, (Attachment B). At its August 4, 2019 meeting, the 
Board of Directors approved an increase of $46,119 for the cost of the custom programming 
necessary to integrate the Purchasing Module with Maximo, (Attachment C). The net increase was 
$509. An updated overview of the contract amounts is provided below: 
 

 Original 

Inv & 
W/O 

Modules 
API - 

Maximo Net 

     

Licensing 138,856  (22,991)  115,865  

Implementation 104,300  (16,500)  87,800  

Data conversion 19,250    19,250  

Annual maintenance 48,542  (6,119) 6,119  48,542  

Custom programming   40,000  40,000  

 310,948  (45,610) 46,119  311,457  

 
DISCUSSION:  
 
The implementation can be divided into three primary components which directly involve the 
provision of professional services from Tyler staff:  
 

1. The Financial Management Suite, which includes modules associated with general ledger and 
financial reporting, project accounting, fixed assets, payroll, and personnel management. 

 The implementation of the Financial Management Suite is complete. The official Go 
Live date for those modules was October 1, 2019. 

 
2. The Customer Relationship Management Suite, which includes modules associated with 

utility billing, service orders, and cashiering. 

 The implementation of the Customer Relationship Management Suite is still in 
progress. Data conversion and system configuration activities are being performed 
by both Tyler staff, (remotely), and District staff. A Tyler consultant is scheduled to 
be onsite from February 10 – 13 to complete the second round of onsite training. 
Two Tyler consultants are scheduled to be onsite from March 16 -19, which is Go 
Live Week 1. For Go Live Week 2, March 23 – 26, a single consultant will be onsite.  

 
3. The custom programming required to integrate the Purchasing Module with Maximo. 

 This is currently on hold, pending further direction from the Board. 
 
 

1.5

Packet Pg. 158



The following table provides a summary of the contract amounts for Tyler: 
 

 Original 

Inv & 
W/O 

Modules 
API - 

Maximo Net 
Paid to 
Date Balance 

       

Licensing 138,856  (22,991)  115,865  (114,565) 1,300  

Implementation 104,300  (16,500)  87,800  (68,648) 19,152  

Data conversion 19,250    19,250  (7,125) 12,125  

Annual maintenance 48,542  (6,119) 6,119  48,542  (3,625) 44,917  

Custom programming   40,000  40,000  0  40,000  

 310,948  (45,610) 46,119  311,457  (193,963) 117,494  

 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
 
The Capital Budget includes a total of $390,000 for the project to upgrade the District’s enterprise 
system. Of that total, approximately $312,000 is specific to the Professional Services Agreement with 
Tyler. At this time, staff does not anticipate requesting any budget modifications to the contract with 
Tyler. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  
 
Staff recommends that the Board of Directors receive and file this report, and provide direction if 
desired. 
 
 
 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 

 
 

Clarence Mansell Jr, General Manager 

 
 
CM:js 
 
ATTACHMENT(S): 

1. Attachment A - Board Approved Staff Report and Original Contract 
2. Attachment B - Amendment to Remove Inventory and Work Orders Modules 
3. Attachment C - Board Approved Staff Report and Amendment for Maximo Integration 

1.5

Packet Pg. 159



 

Attachment A 

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 160



BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
STAFF REPORT 

 
DATE: September 6, 2018 

TO: Board of Directors 

 
BACKGROUND:  
 
West Valley Water District (the “District”) uses Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) software to 
integrate many of its core business processes and functions into one system. Key examples include 
the District’s accounting and financial reporting functions as well as utility billing. Although the 
system was only implemented about 15 years ago, it was originally developed about 30 years ago. 
The system is outdated and has limitations that no longer meet the District’s needs. 
 
The District issued a Request for Proposals (RFP) to implement a new ERP and received 3 
proposals. The top 2 proposers were invited for onsite demonstrations. Accela was invited to 
demonstrate their Springbook system, and Tyler Technologies was invited to demonstrate their 
Incode 10 system.  
 
DISCUSSION:  
 
Staff from many different departments attended the software demonstrations and provided 
feedback. There was a general consensus that both systems would better meet the District’s needs 
compared to the current system. However, there was a clear preference for Tyler’s Incode 10. This 
end user preference is in alignment with the conclusion reached separately by the I.T. staff.  
 
The I.T. staff evaluated each system’s potential for increasing efficiency by reducing or eliminating 
the paper based processes that are currently in place. While both systems have potential for 
achieving that objective, Accela’s Springbrook system has only the basic capability of attaching 
electronic files. It does not offer the indexing and searching capability of a Document Management 
System. Tyler’s Incode 10 does offer that capability. 
 
The I.T. staff also considered the merits of implementing a hosted system, (cloud based), versus an 
on premise system. While there are pros and cons to each, staff determined that an on premise 
solution would best meet the District’s needs. Accela’s Springbrook is offered only as a hosted 
system. Tyler’s Incode 10 is available as a hosted system or as an on premise system. Tyler also 
offers Disaster Recovery Services, which would back up the on premise system and make it available 
as a hosted system in the event of a disaster at the District’s headquarters. 
 

FROM: Clarence Mansell Jr., Interim General Manager 

SUBJECT: APPROVAL OF AN AGREEMENT WITH TYLER TECHNOLOGIES FOR 
THE IMPLEMENTATION OF A NEW ENTERPRISE RESOURCE 
PLANNING (ERP) SYSTEM 

3.2

Packet Pg. 36

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 161



During the demonstration, staff identified needs that resulted in the addition of several modules and 
services that were not included in the original proposal. Tyler submitted an updated quote, as well as 
a License and Services Agreement for review. Both Staff and Legal Counsel reviewed the agreement 
and made revisions where appropriate. The final version is attached as Exhibit A. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
 
The FY 2019 Capital Budget includes $390,000 for this project, which should be sufficient. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  
 
Approve the License and Services Agreement with Tyler Technologies for the implementation of a 
new ERP. 
 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 

 
 

Clarence Mansell Jr., Interim General Manager 

 
 
 
 
CM:js 
 
ATTACHMENT(S): 

1. Exhibit A - Tyler Technologies Agreement 

3.2

Packet Pg. 37

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 162



EXHIBIT A 

  

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 38

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 163



 
  1 
 

 
 

LICENSE AND SERVICES AGREEMENT 
 

This License and Services Agreement is made between Tyler Technologies, Inc. and Client. 
 

WHEREAS, Client selected Tyler to license the software products and perform the services set forth in the 
Investment Summary and Tyler desires to perform such actions under the terms of this Agreement; 
 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and of the mutual covenants and promises set forth in this 
Agreement, Tyler and Client agree as follows: 
 

SECTION A – DEFINITIONS 
 

 “Agreement” means this License and Services Agreement. 

 “Business Travel Policy” means our business travel policy.  A copy of our current Business Travel Policy 
is attached as Schedule 1 to Exhibit B. 

 “Client” means West Valley Water District. 

 “Defect” means a failure of the Tyler Software to substantially conform to the functional descriptions 
set forth in our written proposal to you, or their functional equivalent.  Future functionality may be 
updated, modified, or otherwise enhanced through our maintenance and support services, and the 
governing functional descriptions for such future functionality will be set forth in our then‐current 
Documentation. 

 “Developer” means a third party who owns the intellectual property rights to Third Party Software. 

 “Documentation” means any online or written documentation related to the use or functionality of the 
Tyler Software that we provide or otherwise make available to you, including instructions, user guides, 
manuals and other training or self‐help documentation.  

 “Effective Date” means the date on which your authorized representative signs the Agreement. 

 “Force Majeure” means an event beyond the reasonable control of you or us, including, without 
limitation, governmental action, war, riot or civil commotion, fire, natural disaster, or any other cause 
that could not with reasonable diligence be foreseen or prevented by you or us. 

 “Investment Summary” means the agreed upon cost proposal for the software, products, and services 
attached as Exhibit A. 

 “Invoicing and Payment Policy” means the invoicing and payment policy.  A copy of our current 
Invoicing and Payment Policy is attached as Exhibit B. 

 “Maintenance and Support Agreement” means the terms and conditions governing the provision of 
maintenance and support services to all of our customers.  A copy of our current Maintenance and 
Support Agreement is attached as Exhibit C. 

 “Statement of Work” means the industry standard implementation plan describing how our 
professional services will be provided to implement the Tyler Software, and outlining your and our roles 
and responsibilities in connection with that implementation.  The Statement of Work is attached as 
Exhibit F. 

 “Support Call Process” means the support call process applicable to all of our customers who have 
licensed the Tyler Software.  A copy of our current Support Call Process is attached as Schedule 1 to 
Exhibit C. 

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 39

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 164



 
  2 
 

 “Third Party Terms” means, if any, the end user license agreement(s) or similar terms for the Third Party 
Software, as applicable. 

 “Third Party Hardware” means the third party hardware, if any, identified in the Investment Summary. 

 “Third Party Products” means the Third Party Software and Third Party Hardware. 

 “Third Party Software” means the third party software, if any, identified in the Investment Summary. 

 “Tyler” means Tyler Technologies, Inc., a Delaware corporation. 

 “Tyler Software” means our proprietary software, including any integrations, custom modifications, 
and/or other related interfaces identified in the Investment Summary and licensed by us to you through 
this Agreement. 

 “we”, “us”, “our” and similar terms mean Tyler. 

 “you” and similar terms mean Client. 
 
SECTION B – SOFTWARE LICENSE 
 
1. License Grant and Restrictions. 
 

1.1 We grant to you a license to use the Tyler Software for your internal business purposes only, in the 
scope of the internal business purposes disclosed to us as of the Effective Date.  You may make copies of 
the Tyler Software for backup and testing purposes, so long as such copies are not used in production 
and the testing is for internal use only.  Your rights to use the Tyler Software are perpetual but may be 
revoked if you do not comply with the terms of this Agreement. 
 

1.2 Without limiting the terms of Section 1.1, you understand and agree that the Tyler Notify modules set 
forth in the Investment Summary are licensed to you on a subscription basis. If you do not pay the 
required annual fee in accordance with the Invoicing and Payment Policy, your license to use the 
associated module will be suspended unless and until payment in full has been made. 
 

1.3 The Documentation is licensed to you and may be used and copied by your employees for internal, non‐
commercial reference purposes only. 
 

1.4 You may not: (a) transfer or assign the Tyler Software to a third party; (b) reverse engineer, decompile, 
or disassemble the Tyler Software; (c) rent, lease, lend, or provide commercial hosting services with the 
Tyler Software; or (d) publish or otherwise disclose the Tyler Software or Documentation to third 
parties. 
 

1.5 The license terms in this Agreement apply to updates and enhancements we may provide to you or 
make available to you through your Maintenance and Support Agreement. 
 

1.6 The right to transfer the Tyler Software to a replacement hardware system is included in your license.  
You will give us advance written notice of any such transfer and will pay us for any required or 
requested technical assistance from us associated with such transfer. 
 

1.7 Where applicable with respect to our applications that take or process card payment data, we are 
responsible for the security of cardholder data that we possess, including functions relating to storing, 
processing, and transmitting of the cardholder data and affirm that, as of the Effective Date, we comply 
with applicable requirements to be considered PCI DSS compliant and have performed the necessary 
steps to validate compliance with the PCI DSS. We agree to supply the current status of our PCI DSS 
compliance program in the form of an official Attestation of Compliance, which can be found at 
https://www.tylertech.com/about‐us/compliance, and in the event of any change in our status, will 

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 40

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 165



 
  3 
 

comply with applicable notice requirements. 
 

1.8 We reserve all rights not expressly granted to you in this Agreement.  The Tyler Software and 
Documentation are protected by copyright and other intellectual property laws and treaties.  We own 
the title, copyright, and other intellectual property rights in the Tyler Software and the Documentation.  
The Tyler Software is licensed, not sold. 
 

2. License Fees.  You agree to pay us the license fees in the amounts set forth in the Investment Summary.  
Those amounts are payable in accordance with our Invoicing and Payment Policy. 

 

3. Escrow.  We maintain an escrow agreement with a third party under which we place the source code for 
each major release of the Tyler Software.  You may be added as a beneficiary to the escrow agreement by 
completing a standard beneficiary enrollment form and paying the annual beneficiary fee set forth in the 
Investment Summary.  You will be responsible for maintaining your ongoing status as a beneficiary, including 
payment of the then‐current annual beneficiary fees.  Release of source code for the Tyler Software is 
strictly governed by the terms of the escrow agreement.   

 

4. Limited Warranty.  We warrant that the Tyler Software will be without Defect(s) as long as you have a 
Maintenance and Support Agreement in effect.  If the Tyler Software does not perform as warranted, we will 
use all reasonable efforts, consistent with industry standards, to cure the Defect as set forth in the 
Maintenance and Support Agreement.   

 
SECTION C – PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 
 
1. Services.  We will provide you the various implementation‐related services itemized in the Investment 

Summary and described in the Statement of Work. 
 

2. Professional Services Fees.  You agree to pay us the professional services fees in the amounts set forth in the 
Investment Summary.  Those amounts are payable in accordance with our Invoicing and Payment Policy.  
You acknowledge that the fees stated in the Investment Summary are good‐faith estimates of the amount of 
time and materials required for your implementation.  We will bill you the actual fees incurred based on the 
in‐scope services provided to you.  Any discrepancies in the total values set forth in the Investment 
Summary will be resolved by multiplying the applicable hourly rate by the quoted hours. 

 

3. Additional Services.  The Investment Summary contains, and the Statement of Work describes, the scope of 
services and related costs (including programming and/or interface estimates) required for the project 
based on our understanding of the specifications you supplied.  If additional work is required, or if you use 
or request additional services, we will provide you with an addendum or change order, as applicable, 
outlining the costs for the additional work.  The price quotes in the addendum or change order will be valid 
for thirty (30) days from the date of the quote. 

 

4. Cancellation. We make all reasonable efforts to schedule our personnel for travel, including arranging travel 
reservations, at least two (2) weeks in advance of commitments.  Therefore, if you cancel services less than 
two (2) weeks in advance (other than for Force Majeure or breach by us), you will be liable for all (a) non‐
refundable expenses incurred by us on your behalf, and (b) daily fees associated with cancelled professional 
services if we are unable to reassign our personnel.  We will make all reasonable efforts to reassign 
personnel in the event you cancel within two (2) weeks of scheduled commitments. 
 
 
 

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 41

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 166



 
  4 
 

5. Services Warranty.  We will perform the services in a professional, workmanlike manner, consistent with 
industry standards.  In the event we provide services that do not conform to this warranty, we will re‐
perform such services at no additional cost to you. 

 

6. Site Access and Requirements.  At no cost to us, you agree to provide us with full and free access to your 
personnel, facilities, and equipment as may be reasonably necessary for us to provide implementation 
services, subject to any reasonable security protocols or other written policies provided to us as of the 
Effective Date, and thereafter as mutually agreed to by you and us.  You further agree to provide a 
reasonably suitable environment, location, and space for the installation of the Tyler Software and any Third 
Party Products, including, without limitation, sufficient electrical circuits, cables, and other reasonably 
necessary items required for the installation and operation of the Tyler Software and any Third Party 
Products.   

 
7. Client Assistance.  You acknowledge that the implementation of the Tyler Software is a cooperative process 

requiring the time and resources of your personnel.  You agree to use all reasonable efforts to cooperate 
with and assist us as may be reasonably required to meet the agreed upon project deadlines and other 
milestones for implementation.  This cooperation includes at least working with us to schedule the 
implementation‐related services outlined in this Agreement.  We will not be liable for failure to meet any 
deadlines and milestones when such failure is due to Force Majeure or to the failure by your personnel to 
provide such cooperation and assistance (either through action or omission). 

 
SECTION D – MAINTENANCE AND SUPPORT 
 

This Agreement includes the period of free maintenance and support services identified in the Invoicing and 
Payment Policy.  If you have purchased ongoing maintenance and support services, and continue to make 
timely payments for them according to our Invoicing and Payment Policy, we will provide you with 
maintenance and support services for the Tyler Software under the terms of our standard Maintenance and 
Support Agreement.   
 
If you have opted not to purchase ongoing maintenance and support services for the Tyler Software, the 
Maintenance and Support Agreement does not apply to you.  Instead, you will only receive ongoing 
maintenance and support on the Tyler Software on a time and materials basis.  In addition, you will: 
 

(i) receive the lowest priority under our Support Call Process; 
(ii) be required to purchase new releases of the Tyler Software, including fixes, enhancements and 

patches;  
(iii) be charged our then‐current rates for support services, or such other rates that we may 

consider necessary to account for your lack of ongoing training on the Tyler Software; 
(iv) be charged for a minimum of two (2) hours of support services for every support call; and 
(v) not be granted access to the support website for the Tyler Software or the Tyler Community 

Forum. 
 
SECTION E – THIRD PARTY PRODUCTS 
 
To the extent there are any Third Party Products set forth in the Investment Summary, the following terms and 
conditions will apply: 
 
 

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 42

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 167



 
  5 
 

1. Third Party Hardware.  We will sell, deliver, and install onsite the Third Party Hardware, if you have 
purchased any, for the price set forth in the Investment Summary.  Those amounts are payable in 
accordance with our Invoicing and Payment Policy. 
 

2. Third Party Software.  Upon payment in full of the Third Party Software license fees, you will receive a non‐
transferable license to use the Third Party Software and related documentation for your internal business 
purposes only.  Your license rights to the Third Party Software will be governed by the Third Party Terms.   

 

2.1 We will install onsite the Third Party Software.  The installation cost is included in the installation fee in 
the Investment Summary.   
 

2.2 If the Developer charges a fee for future updates, releases, or other enhancements to the Third Party 
Software, you will be required to pay such additional future fee.  
 

2.3 The right to transfer the Third Party Software to a replacement hardware system is governed by the 
Developer.  You will give us advance written notice of any such transfer and will pay us for any required 
or requested technical assistance from us associated with such transfer. 

 

3. Third Party Products Warranties. 
 

3.1 We are authorized by each Developer to grant or transfer the licenses to the Third Party Software. 
 

3.2 The Third Party Hardware will be new and unused, and upon payment in full, you will receive free and 
clear title to the Third Party Hardware. 
 

3.3 You acknowledge that we are not the manufacturer of the Third Party Products.  We do not warrant or 
guarantee the performance of the Third Party Products.  However, we grant and pass through to you 
any warranty that we may receive from the Developer or supplier of the Third Party Products. 
 

4. Maintenance.  If you have a Maintenance and Support Agreement in effect, you may report defects and 
other issues related to the Third Party Software directly to us, and we will (a) directly address the defect or 
issue, to the extent it relates to our interface with the Third Party Software; and/or (b) facilitate resolution 
with the Developer, unless that Developer requires that you have a separate, direct maintenance agreement 
in effect with that Developer.  In all events, if you do not have a Maintenance and Support Agreement in 
effect with us, you will be responsible for resolving defects and other issues related to the Third Party 
Software directly with the Developer. 
 

SECTION F – INVOICING AND PAYMENT; INVOICE DISPUTES 
 

1. Invoicing and Payment.  We will invoice you for all fees set forth in the Investment Summary per our 
Invoicing and Payment Policy, subject to Section F(2).   

 
2. Invoice Disputes.  If you believe any delivered software or service does not conform to the warranties in this 

Agreement, you will provide us with written notice within thirty (30) days of your receipt of the applicable 
invoice.  The written notice must contain reasonable detail of the issues you contend are in dispute so that 
we can confirm the issue and respond to your notice with either a justification of the invoice, an adjustment 
to the invoice, or a proposal addressing the issues presented in your notice.  We will work with you as may 
be necessary to develop an action plan that outlines reasonable steps to be taken by each of us to resolve 
any issues presented in your notice.  You may withhold payment of the amount(s) actually in dispute, and 
only those amounts, until we complete the action items outlined in the plan.  If we are unable to complete 

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 43

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 168



 
  6 
 

the action items outlined in the action plan because of your failure to complete the items agreed to be done 
by you, then you will remit full payment of the invoice.  We reserve the right to suspend delivery of all 
services, including maintenance and support services, if you fail to pay an invoice not disputed as described 
above within fifteen (15) days of notice of our intent to do so. 

 
SECTION G – TERMINATION 
 
1.  For Cause.  If you believe we have materially breached this Agreement, you will invoke the Dispute 

Resolution clause set forth in Section I(3).  You may terminate this Agreement for cause in the event we do 
not cure, or create a mutually agreeable action plan to address, a material breach of this Agreement within 
the thirty (30) day window set forth in Section I(3).  In the event of termination for cause, you will pay us for 
all undisputed fees and expenses related to the software, products, and/or services you have received, or 
we have incurred or delivered, prior to the effective date of termination.   

 

2.  Lack of Appropriations.  If you should not appropriate or otherwise receive funds sufficient to purchase, 
lease, operate, or maintain the software or services set forth in this Agreement, you may unilaterally 
terminate this Agreement effective on the final day of the fiscal year through which you have funding.  You 
will make every effort to give us at least thirty (30) days written notice prior to a termination for lack of 
appropriations.  In the event of termination due to a lack of appropriations, you will pay us for all 
undisputed fees and expenses related to the software and/or services you have received, or we have 
incurred or delivered, prior to the effective date of termination.  Any disputed fees and expenses must have 
been submitted to the Invoice Dispute process set forth in Section F(2) at the time of termination in order to 
be withheld at termination.  You will not be entitled to a refund or offset of previously paid license and 
other fees.     

 

3.  Force Majeure.  Neither party will be liable, you or we may terminate this Agreement if a Force Majeure 
event suspends performance of scheduled tasks for a period of forty‐five (45) days or more.  In the event of 
termination due to Force Majeure, you will pay us for all undisputed fees and expenses related to the 
software and/or services you have received, or we have incurred or delivered, prior to the effective date of 
termination.  Any disputed fees and expenses must have been submitted to the Invoice Dispute process set 
forth in Section F(2) at the time of termination in order to be withheld at termination.  You will not be 
entitled to a refund or offset of previously paid license and other fees.   

 
SECTION H – INDEMNIFICATION, LIMITATION OF LIABILITY AND INSURANCE 
 
1. Intellectual Property Infringement Indemnification.   

 

1.1 We will defend you against any third party claim(s) that the Tyler Software or Documentation infringes 
that third party’s patent, copyright, or trademark, or misappropriates its trade secrets, and will pay the 
amount of any resulting adverse final judgment (or settlement to which we consent).  You must notify us 
promptly in writing of the claim and give us sole control over its defense or settlement.  You agree to 
provide us with reasonable assistance, cooperation, and information in defending the claim at our 
expense. 
 

1.2 Our obligations under this Section H(1) will not apply to the extent the claim or adverse final judgment is 
based on your: (a) use of a previous version of the Tyler Software and the claim would have been 
avoided had you installed and used the current version of the Tyler Software, and we provided notice of 
that requirement to you; (b) combining the Tyler Software with any product or device not provided, 

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 44

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 169



 
  7 
 

contemplated, or approved by us; (c) altering or modifying the Tyler Software, including any 
modification by third parties at your direction or otherwise permitted by you; (d) use of the Tyler 
Software in contradiction of this Agreement, including with non‐licensed third parties; or (e) willful 
infringement, including use of the Tyler Software after we notify you to discontinue use due to such a 
claim. 
 

1.3 If we receive information concerning an infringement or misappropriation claim related to the Tyler 
Software, we may, at our expense and without obligation to do so, either: (a) procure for you the right 
to continue its use; (b) modify it to make it non‐infringing; or (c) replace it with a functional equivalent, 
in which case you will stop running the allegedly infringing Tyler Software immediately.  Alternatively, 
we may decide to litigate the claim to judgment, in which case you may continue to use the Tyler 
Software consistent with the terms of this Agreement. 
 

1.4 If an infringement or misappropriation claim is fully litigated and your use of the Tyler Software is 
enjoined by a court of competent jurisdiction, in addition to paying any adverse final judgment (or 
settlement to which we consent), we will, at our option, either: (a) procure the right to continue its use; 
(b) modify it to make it non‐infringing; (c) replace it with a functional equivalent; or (d) terminate your 
license and refund the license fees paid for the infringing Tyler Software, as depreciated on a straight‐
line basis measured over seven (7) years from the Effective Date.  We will pursue those options in the 
order listed herein.  This section provides your exclusive remedy for third party copyright, patent, or 
trademark infringement and trade secret misappropriation claims. 
 

2. General Indemnification. 
 

2.1 We will indemnify and hold harmless you and your agents, officials, and employees from and against any 
and all third‐party claims, losses, liabilities, damages, costs, and expenses (including reasonable 
attorney's fees and costs) for (a) personal injury or property damage to the extent caused by our 
negligence or willful misconduct; or (b) our violation of PCI DSS requirements or a law applicable to our 
performance under this Agreement.  You must notify us promptly in writing of the claim and give us sole 
control over its defense or settlement.  You agree to provide us with reasonable assistance, cooperation, 
and information in defending the claim at our expense. 
 

2.2 To the extent permitted by applicable law, you will indemnify and hold harmless us and our agents, 
officials, and employees from and against any and all third‐party claims, losses, liabilities, damages, 
costs, and expenses (including reasonable attorney's fees and costs) for personal injury or property 
damage to the extent caused by your negligence or willful misconduct; or (b) your violation of a law 
applicable to your performance under this Agreement. We will notify you promptly in writing of the 
claim and will give you sole control over its defense or settlement.  We agree to provide you with 
reasonable assistance, cooperation, and information in defending the claim at your expense. 
 

3. DISCLAIMER.  EXCEPT FOR THE EXPRESS WARRANTIES PROVIDED IN THIS AGREEMENT AND TO THE 
MAXIMUM EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, WE HEREBY DISCLAIM ALL OTHER WARRANTIES 
AND CONDITIONS, WHETHER EXPRESS, IMPLIED, OR STATUTORY, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, ANY 
IMPLIED WARRANTIES, DUTIES, OR CONDITIONS OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR 
PURPOSE. 

 

4. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY.  EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE EXPRESSLY SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT, OUR 
LIABILITY FOR DAMAGES ARISING OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT, WHETHER BASED ON A THEORY OF 
CONTRACT OR TORT, INCLUDING NEGLIGENCE AND STRICT LIABILITY, SHALL BE LIMITED TO YOUR ACTUAL 

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 45

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 170



 
  8 
 

DIRECT DAMAGES, NOT TO EXCEED (A) PRIOR TO FORMAL TRANSITION TO MAINTENANCE AND SUPPORT, 
THE TOTAL ONE‐TIME FEES SET FORTH IN THE INVESTMENT SUMMARY; OR (B) AFTER FORMAL 
TRANSITION TO MAINTENANCE AND SUPPORT, THE THEN‐CURRENT ANNUAL MAINTENANCE AND 
SUPPORT FEE.  THE PARTIES ACKNOWLEDGE AND AGREE THAT THE PRICES SET FORTH IN THIS 
AGREEMENT ARE SET IN RELIANCE UPON THIS LIMITATION OF LIABILITY AND TO THE MAXIMUM EXTENT 
ALLOWED UNDER APPLICABLE LAW, THE EXCLUSION OF CERTAIN DAMAGES, AND EACH SHALL APPLY 
REGARDLESS OF THE FAILURE OF AN ESSENTIAL PURPOSE OF ANY REMEDY.  THE FOREGOING LIMITATION 
OF LIABILITY SHALL NOT APPLY TO CLAIMS THAT ARE SUBJECT TO SECTIONS H(1) AND H(2). 

 

5. EXCLUSION OF CERTAIN DAMAGES.  TO THE MAXIMUM EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, IN NO 
EVENT SHALL WE BE LIABLE FOR ANY SPECIAL, INCIDENTAL, PUNITIVE, INDIRECT, OR CONSEQUENTIAL 
DAMAGES WHATSOEVER, EVEN IF WE HAVE BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. 

 

6. Insurance.  During the course of performing services under this Agreement, we agree to maintain the 
following levels of insurance: (a) Commercial General Liability of at least $1,000,000; (b) Automobile Liability 
of at least $1,000,000; (c) Professional Liability of at least $1,000,000; (d) Workers Compensation complying 
with applicable statutory requirements; and (e) Excess/Umbrella Liability of at least $5,000,000.  We will add 
you as an additional insured to our Commercial General Liability and Automobile Liability policies, which will 
automatically add you as an additional insured to our Excess/Umbrella Liability policy as well.  We will 
provide you with copies of certificates of insurance upon your written request. 
 

SECTION I – GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
 
1. Additional Products and Services.  You may purchase additional products and services at the rates set forth 

in the Investment Summary for twelve (12) months from the Effective Date, and thereafter at our then‐
current list price, by executing a mutually agreed addendum.  If no rate is provided in the Investment 
Summary, or those twelve (12) months have expired, you may purchase additional products and services at 
our then‐current list price, also by executing a mutually agreed addendum.  The terms of this Agreement will 
control any such additional purchase(s), unless otherwise specifically provided in the addendum. 
 

2. Optional Items.  Pricing for any listed optional products and services in the Investment Summary will be valid 
for twelve (12) months from the Effective Date. 

 

3. Dispute Resolution.  You agree to provide us with written notice within thirty (30) days of becoming aware 
of a dispute.  You agree to cooperate with us in trying to reasonably resolve all disputes, including, if 
requested by either party, appointing a senior representative to meet and engage in good faith negotiations 
with our appointed senior representative.  Senior representatives will convene within thirty (30) days of the 
written dispute notice, unless otherwise agreed.  All meetings and discussions between senior 
representatives will be deemed confidential settlement discussions not subject to disclosure under Federal 
Rule of Evidence 408 or any similar applicable state rule.  If we fail to resolve the dispute, then the parties 
shall participate in non‐binding mediation in an effort to resolve the dispute.  If the dispute remains 
unresolved after mediation, then either of us may assert our respective rights and remedies in a court of 
competent jurisdiction.  Nothing in this section shall prevent you or us from seeking necessary injunctive 
relief during the dispute resolution procedures. 

 
4. Taxes.  The fees in the Investment Summary do not include any taxes, including, without limitation, sales, 

use, or excise tax.  If you are a tax‐exempt entity, you agree to provide us with a tax‐exempt certificate.  
Otherwise, we will pay all applicable taxes to the proper authorities and you will reimburse us for such taxes.  

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 46

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 171



 
  9 
 

If you have a valid direct‐pay permit, you agree to provide us with a copy.  For clarity, we are responsible for 
paying our income taxes, both federal and state, as applicable, arising from our performance of this 
Agreement.       
  

5. Nondiscrimination.  We will not discriminate against any person employed or applying for employment 
concerning the performance of our responsibilities under this Agreement.  This discrimination prohibition 
will apply to all matters of initial employment, tenure, and terms of employment, or otherwise with respect 
to any matter directly or indirectly relating to employment concerning race, color, religion, national origin, 
age, sex, sexual orientation, ancestry, disability that is unrelated to the individual's ability to perform the 
duties of a particular job or position, height, weight, marital status, or political affiliation.  We will post, 
where appropriate, all notices related to nondiscrimination as may be required by applicable law.   
 

6. E‐Verify.  We have complied, and will comply, with the E‐Verify procedures administered by the U.S. 
Citizenship and Immigration Services Verification Division for all of our employees assigned to your project. 

 
7. Subcontractors.  We will not subcontract any services under this Agreement without your prior written 

consent, not to be unreasonably withheld. 
 

8. Binding Effect; No Assignment.  This Agreement shall be binding on, and shall be for the benefit of, either 
your or our successor(s) or permitted assign(s). Neither party may assign this Agreement without the prior 
written consent of the other party; provided, however, your consent is not required for an assignment by us 
as a result of a corporate reorganization, merger, acquisition, or purchase of substantially all of our assets. 

 
9. Force Majeure.  Except for your payment obligations, neither party will be liable for delays in performing its 

obligations under this Agreement to the extent that the delay is caused by Force Majeure; provided, 
however, that within ten (10) business days of the Force Majeure event, the party whose performance is 
delayed provides the other party with written notice explaining the cause and extent thereof, as well as a 
request for a reasonable time extension equal to the estimated duration of the Force Majeure event.   

 

10. No Intended Third Party Beneficiaries.  This Agreement is entered into solely for the benefit of you and us.  
No third party will be deemed a beneficiary of this Agreement, and no third party will have the right to make 
any claim or assert any right under this Agreement.  This provision does not affect the rights of third parties 
under any Third Party Terms. 

 

11. Entire Agreement; Amendment.  This Agreement represents the entire agreement between you and us with 
respect to the subject matter hereof, and supersedes any prior agreements, understandings, and 
representations, whether written, oral, expressed, implied, or statutory.  Purchase orders submitted by you, 
if any, are for your internal administrative purposes only, and the terms and conditions contained in those 
purchase orders will have no force or effect. This Agreement may only be modified by a written amendment 
signed by an authorized representative of each party. 

 

12. Severability.  If any term or provision of this Agreement is held invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of 
this Agreement will be considered valid and enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law. 
 

13. No Waiver.  In the event that the terms and conditions of this Agreement are not strictly enforced by either 
party, such non‐enforcement will not act as or be deemed to act as a waiver or modification of this 
Agreement, nor will such non‐enforcement prevent such party from enforcing each and every term of this 
Agreement thereafter. 
 

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 47

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 172



 
  10 
 

14. Independent Contractor.  We are an independent contractor for all purposes under this Agreement. 
 

15. Notices.  All notices or communications required or permitted as a part of this Agreement, such as notice of 
an alleged material breach for a termination for cause or a dispute that must be submitted to dispute 
resolution, must be in writing and will be deemed delivered upon the earlier of the following: (a) actual 
receipt by the receiving party; (b) upon receipt by sender of a certified mail, return receipt signed by an 
employee or agent of the receiving party; (c) upon receipt by sender of proof of email delivery; or (d) if not 
actually received, five (5) days after deposit with the United States Postal Service authorized mail center 
with proper postage (certified mail, return receipt requested) affixed and addressed to the other party at 
the address set forth on the signature page hereto or such other address as the party may have designated 
by proper notice.  The consequences for the failure to receive a notice due to improper notification by the 
intended receiving party of a change in address will be borne by the intended receiving party. 

 

16. Client Lists.  You agree that we may identify you by name in client lists, marketing presentations, and 
promotional materials. 

 

17. Confidentiality.  Both parties recognize that their respective employees and agents, in the course of 
performance of this Agreement, may be exposed to confidential information and that disclosure of such 
information could violate rights to private individuals and entities, including the parties.  Confidential 
information is nonpublic information that a reasonable person would believe to be confidential and 
includes, without limitation, personal identifying information (e.g., social security numbers) and trade 
secrets, each as defined by applicable state law.  Each party agrees that it will not disclose any confidential 
information of the other party and further agrees to take all reasonable and appropriate action to prevent 
such disclosure by its employees or agents.  The confidentiality covenants contained herein will survive the 
termination or cancellation of this Agreement.  This obligation of confidentiality will not apply to 
information that: 

 
(a) is in the public domain, either at the time of disclosure or afterwards, except by breach of this 

Agreement by a party or its employees or agents; 
(b) a party can establish by reasonable proof was in that party's possession at the time of initial 

disclosure; 
(c) a party receives from a third party who has a right to disclose it to the receiving party; or 
(d) is the subject of a legitimate disclosure request under the open records laws or similar applicable 

public disclosure laws governing this Agreement; provided, however, that in the event you receive 
an open records or other similar applicable request, you will give us prompt notice and otherwise 
perform the functions required by applicable law.   

 

18. Business License.  In the event a local business license is required for us to perform services hereunder, you 
will promptly notify us and provide us with the necessary paperwork and/or contact information so that we 
may timely obtain such license. 
 

19. Governing Law.  This Agreement will be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of your 
state of domicile, without regard to its rules on conflicts of law. 

 

20. Multiple Originals and Authorized Signatures.  This Agreement may be executed in multiple originals, any of 
which will be independently treated as an original document.  Any electronic, faxed, scanned, photocopied, 
or similarly reproduced signature on this Agreement or any amendment hereto will be deemed an original 
signature and will be fully enforceable as if an original signature.  Each party represents to the other that the 
signatory set forth below is duly authorized to bind that party to this Agreement. 

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 48

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 173



 
  11 
 

 

21. Cooperative Procurement.  To the maximum extent permitted by applicable law, we agree that this 
Agreement may be used as a cooperative procurement vehicle by eligible jurisdictions.  We reserve the right 
to negotiate and customize the terms and conditions set forth herein, including but not limited to pricing, to 
the scope and circumstances of that cooperative procurement. 

 
22. Contract Documents.  This Agreement includes the following exhibits: 
 

Exhibit A  Investment Summary 
Exhibit B  Invoicing and Payment Policy 

Schedule 1: Business Travel Policy 
Exhibit C  Maintenance and Support Agreement  

Schedule 1: Support Call Process 
Exhibit D  Disaster Recovery Terms 
Exhibit E  Web Services – Hosted Application Terms 
Exhibit F  Statement of Work 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, a duly authorized representative of each party has executed this Agreement as of the 
date(s) set forth below. 
 
Tyler Technologies, Inc.          West Valley Water District 
 
 
By:              By:             
 
Name:              Name:             
 
Title:              Title:             
 
Date:              Date:             
 
Address for Notices:          Address for Notices: 

Tyler Technologies, Inc.  West Valley Water District 
One Tyler Drive  PO Box 920 
Yarmouth, ME 04096  Rialto, CA 92377 
Attention: Chief Legal Officer  Attention: Jon Stephenson 

 
 

   

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 49

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 174



 
  12 
 

 

 

Exhibit A 
Investment Summary 

 
The following Investment Summary details the software, products, and services to be delivered by us to you 
under the Agreement.  This Investment Summary is effective as of the Effective Date.  Capitalized terms not 
otherwise defined will have the meaning assigned to such terms in the Agreement.  
 
 

REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 
 
 

   

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 50

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 175



 
  13 
 

 

 

 

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 51

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 176



 
  14 
 

 

 

 

   

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 52

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 177



 
  15 
 

 

 

Exhibit B 
Invoicing and Payment Policy 

 
We will provide you with the software and services set forth in the Investment Summary.  Capitalized terms not 
otherwise defined will have the meaning assigned to such terms in the Agreement. 
 
Invoicing:  We will invoice you for the applicable license and services fees in the Investment Summary as set 
forth below.  Your rights to dispute any invoice are set forth in the Agreement. 
 

1. Tyler Software.   
 

1.1 License Fees:  License fees are invoiced as follows: (a) 25% on the Effective Date; (b) 60% on the date 
when we make the applicable Tyler Software available to you for downloading (the “Available 
Download Date”); and (c) 15% on the earlier of use of the Tyler Software in live production or 180 
days after the Available Download Date. 
 

1.2 Subscription Fees: Your initial subscription fees for Tyler Notify are invoiced when we make the 
product available to you. Subsequent subscription fees are due annually in advance on the 
anniversary of that date at our then‐current rates. 

 

1.2 Maintenance and Support Fees: Year 1 maintenance and support fees are waived through the earlier 
of (a) availability of the Tyler Software for use in a live production environment; or (b) one (1) year 
from the Effective Date.  Year 2 maintenance and support fees, at our then‐current rates, are 
payable on that earlier‐of date, and subsequent maintenance and support fees are invoiced annually 
in advance of each anniversary thereof.  Your fees for each subsequent year will be set at our then‐
current rates. 

 

2. Professional Services. 
 

2.1 Implementation and Other Professional Services (including training): Implementation and other 
professional services (including training) are billed and invoiced as delivered, at the rates set forth in 
the Investment Summary.   
 

2.2 Consulting Services: If you have purchased any Business Process Consulting services, if they have 
been quoted as fixed‐fee services, they will be invoiced 50% upon delivery of the Best Practice 
Recommendations, by module, and 50% upon delivery of custom desktop procedures, by module.  If 
you have purchased any Business Process Consulting services and they are quoted as an estimate, 
then we will bill you the actual services delivered on a time and materials basis. 
 

2.3 Conversions: Fixed‐fee conversions are invoiced 50% upon initial delivery of the converted data, by 
conversion option, and 50% upon Client acceptance to load the converted data into Live/Production 
environment, by conversion option.  Where conversions are quoted as estimated, we will bill you 
the actual services delivered on a time and materials basis. 

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 53

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 178



 
  16 
 

2.4 Requested Modifications to the Tyler Software: Requested modifications to the Tyler Software are 
invoiced 50% upon delivery of specifications and 50% upon delivery of the applicable modification.  
You must report any failure of the modification to conform to the specifications within thirty (30) 
days of delivery; otherwise, the modification will be deemed to be in compliance with the 
specifications after the 30‐day window has passed.  You may still report Defects to us as set forth in 
the Maintenance and Support Agreement. 

 
2.5 Other Fixed Price Services: Except as otherwise provided, other fixed price services are invoiced 

upon complete delivery of the service. For the avoidance of doubt, where “Project Planning 
Services” are provided, payment will be due upon delivery of the Implementation Planning 
document. Dedicated Project Management services, if any, will be billed monthly in arrears, 
beginning on the first day of the month immediately following initiation of project planning. 

 
2.6 Change Management Services: If you have purchased any change management services, those 

services will be invoiced in the following amounts and upon the following milestones: 
 

Acceptance of Change Management Discovery Analysis  15% 

Delivery of Change Management Plan and Strategy Presentation  10% 

Acceptance of Executive Playbook  15% 

Acceptance of Resistance Management Plan  15% 

Acceptance of Procedural Change Communications Plan  10% 

Change Management Coach Training  20% 

Change Management After‐Action Review  15% 

 
3. Other Services and Fees.  

 
 

3.1 Disaster Recovery Services: Disaster Recovery Services are invoiced annually in advance upon our 
receipt of your data.  Disaster Recovery services will renew automatically for additional one (1) year 
terms at our then‐current Disaster Recovery fee, unless terminated in writing by either party at least 
thirty (30) days prior to the end of the then‐current term. 

 
4. Third Party Products.   

 

4.1 Third Party Software License Fees: License fees for Third Party Software, if any, are invoiced when 
we make it available to you for downloading. 

 

4.2 Third Party Software Maintenance: The first year maintenance fees for the Third Party Software, if 
any, is invoiced when we make that Third Party Software available to you for downloading. 

 

4.3 Third Party Hardware: Third Party Hardware costs, if any, are invoiced upon delivery. 
 
4.4 Tyler Notify Minutes and Messages: Tyler Notify Minutes and Messages are invoiced when we make 

Tyler Notify available to you. Subsequent fees for minutes and messages, at our then‐current rates, 
will be due when you request additional minutes and messages and they are made available to you. 

 

5. Expenses.  The service rates in the Investment Summary do not include travel expenses.  Expenses will 
be billed as incurred and only in accordance with our then‐current Business Travel Policy, plus a 10% 
travel agency processing fee.  Our current Business Travel Policy is attached to this Exhibit B at Schedule 

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 54

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 179



 
  17 
 

1.  Copies of receipts will be provided upon request; we reserve the right to charge you an 
administrative fee depending on the extent of your requests.  Receipts for miscellaneous items less than 
twenty‐five dollars and mileage logs are not available.   
 

Payment.  Payment for undisputed invoices is due within forty‐five (45) days of the invoice date.  We prefer to 
receive payments electronically.  Our electronic payment information is: 
 

Bank:    Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. 
    420 Montgomery 
    San Francisco, CA 94104 
ABA:    121000248 
Account:  4124302472 
Beneficiary:  Tyler Technologies, Inc. – Operating   

 
 
 
  

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 55

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 180



 
  18 
 

 
 

Exhibit B 
Schedule 1 

Business Travel Policy 
 

1. Air Travel  

  

A. Reservations & Tickets  

  

   Tyler’s Travel Management Company (TMC) will provide an employee with a direct flight within two 
hours before or after the requested departure time, assuming that flight does not add more than 
three hours to the employee’s total trip duration and the fare is within $100 (each way) of the 
lowest logical fare.  If a net savings of $200 or more (each way) is possible through a connecting 
flight that is within two hours before or after the requested departure time and that does not add 
more than three hours to the employee’s total trip duration, the connecting flight should be 
accepted.    

  

   Employees are encouraged to make advanced reservations to take full advantage of discount 
opportunities.  Employees should use all reasonable efforts to make travel arrangements at least 
two (2) weeks in advance of commitments.  A seven (7) day advance booking requirement is 
mandatory.  When booking less than seven (7) days in advance, management approval will be 
required.    

  

   Except in the case of international travel where a segment of continuous air travel is six (6) or more 
consecutive hours in length, only economy or coach class seating is reimbursable. Employees shall 
not be reimbursed for “Basic Economy Fares” because these fares are non‐refundable and have 
many restrictions that outweigh the cost‐savings. 
  

B. Baggage Fees  

  

Reimbursement of personal baggage charges are based on trip duration as follows:  
  

• Up to five (5) days = one (1) checked bag  

• Six (6) or more days = two (2) checked bags  

  

Baggage fees for sports equipment are not reimbursable.  
  

 

 

 

 

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 56

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 181



 
  19 
 

2. Ground Transportation  

  

A. Private Automobile  

  

   Mileage Allowance – Business use of an employee’s private automobile will be reimbursed at the 
current IRS allowable rate, plus out of pocket costs for tolls and parking.  Mileage will be calculated 
by using the employee's office as the starting and ending point, in compliance with IRS regulations.  
Employees who have been designated a home office should calculate miles from their home.  

 
B. Rental Car  

   Employees are authorized to rent cars only in conjunction with air travel when cost, convenience, 
and the specific situation reasonably require their use.  When renting a car for Tyler business, 
employees should select a “mid‐size” or “intermediate” car.  “Full” size cars may be rented when 
three or more employees are traveling together.  Tyler carries leased vehicle coverage for business 
car rentals; except for employees traveling to Alaska and internationally (excluding Canada), 
additional insurance on the rental agreement should be declined.  

 
C. Public Transportation  

  

Taxi or airport limousine services may be considered when traveling in and around cities or to and 
from airports when less expensive means of transportation are unavailable or impractical.  The 
actual fare plus a reasonable tip (15‐18%) are reimbursable.  In the case of a free hotel shuttle to the 
airport, tips are included in the per diem rates and will not be reimbursed separately.  
  

D. Parking & Tolls  

  

   When parking at the airport, employees must use longer term parking areas that are measured in 
days as opposed to hours.  Park and fly options located near some airports may also be used.  For 
extended trips that would result in excessive parking charges, public transportation to/from the 
airport should be considered.  Tolls will be reimbursed when receipts are presented.  

  

3. Lodging  

  

   Tyler’s TMC will select hotel chains that are well established, reasonable in price, and conveniently 
located in relation to the traveler's work assignment.  Typical hotel chains include Courtyard, 
Fairfield Inn, Hampton Inn, and Holiday Inn Express.  If the employee has a discount rate with a local 
hotel, the hotel reservation should note that discount and the employee should confirm the lower 
rate with the hotel upon arrival.  Employee memberships in travel clubs such as AAA should be 
noted in their travel profiles so that the employee can take advantage of any lower club rates.   

  

   “No shows” or cancellation fees are not reimbursable if the employee does not comply with the 
hotel’s cancellation policy.  

  

   Tips for maids and other hotel staff are included in the per diem rate and are not reimbursed 
separately.  

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 57

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 182



 
  20 
 

 
  Employees are not authorized to reserve non‐traditional short‐term lodging, such as Airbnb, VRBO, 

and HomeAway. Employees who elect to make such reservations shall not be reimbursed. 
  

4. Meals and Incidental Expenses  

  

   Employee meals and incidental expenses while on travel status within the continental U.S. are in 
accordance with the federal per diem rates published by the General Services Administration.  
Incidental expenses include tips to maids, hotel staff, and shuttle drivers and other minor travel 
expenses.  Per diem rates are available at www.gsa.gov/perdiem.    

 
  Per diem for Alaska, Hawaii, U.S. protectorates and international destinations are provided 

separately by the Department of Defense and will be determined as required.  
 

A. Overnight Travel  

   For each full day of travel, all three meals are reimbursable.  Per diems on the first and last day of a 
trip are governed as set forth below.    

     

Departure Day  

  

   Depart before 12:00 noon         Lunch and dinner  

   Depart after 12:00 noon         

     

   Return Day  

  

Dinner  

   Return before 12:00 noon         Breakfast  

   Return between 12:00 noon & 7:00 p.m.    Breakfast and lunch  

   Return after 7:00 p.m.*           Breakfast, lunch and dinner 

  

     *7:00 p.m. is defined as direct travel time and does not include time taken to stop for dinner.  
  

   The reimbursement rates for individual meals are calculated as a percentage of the full day per diem 
as follows:  

  

  Breakfast   15% 

   Lunch      25% 

   Dinner    60% 

  

B. Same Day Travel  

  

   Employees traveling at least 100 miles to a site and returning in the same day are eligible to claim 
lunch on an expense report.  Employees on same day travel status are eligible to claim dinner in the 
event they return home after 7:00 p.m.*  

  

     *7:00 p.m. is defined as direct travel time and does not include time taken to stop for dinner.  

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 58

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 183



 
  21 
 

  

5. Internet Access – Hotels and Airports  

  

Employees who travel may need to access their e‐mail at night.  Many hotels provide free high 
speed internet access and Tyler employees are encouraged to use such hotels whenever possible.  If 
an employee’s hotel charges for internet access it is reimbursable up to $10.00 per day.  Charges for 
internet access at airports are not reimbursable.  

  

6.  International Travel  

 

All international flights with the exception of flights between the U.S. and Canada should be 

reserved through TMC using the “lowest practical coach fare” with the exception of flights that are 

six (6) or more consecutive hours in length. In such event, the next available seating class above 

coach shall be reimbursed.  

 

When required to travel internationally for business, employees shall be reimbursed for photo fees, 

application fees, and execution fees when obtaining a new passport book, but fees related to 

passport renewals are not reimbursable. Visa application and legal fees, entry taxes and departure 

taxes are reimbursable.  

 

The cost of vaccinations that are either required for travel to specific countries or suggested by the 

U.S. Department of Health & Human Services for travel to specific countries, is reimbursable.  

 

Section 4, Meals & Incidental Expenses, and Section 2.b., Rental Car, shall apply to this section. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 59

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 184



 
  22 
 

 

Exhibit C 
Maintenance and Support Agreement 

 
We will provide you with the following maintenance and support services for the Tyler Software.  Capitalized 
terms not otherwise defined will have the meaning assigned to such terms in the Agreement.   
  
1. Term.  We provide maintenance and support services on an annual basis.  The initial term commences on 

the Effective Date, and remains in effect for one (1) year.  The term will renew automatically for additional 
one (1) year terms unless terminated in writing by either party at least thirty (30) days prior to the end of 
the then‐current term.  We will adjust the term to match your first use of the Tyler Software in live 
production if that event precedes the one (1) year anniversary of the Effective Date. 

 
2. Maintenance and Support Fees.  Your year 1 maintenance and support fees for the Tyler Software are listed 

in the Investment Summary, and your payment obligations are set forth in the Invoicing and Payment Policy.   
We reserve the right to suspend maintenance and support services if you fail to pay undisputed 
maintenance and support fees within thirty (30) days of our written notice.  We will reinstate maintenance 
and support services only if you pay all past due maintenance and support fees, including all fees for the 
periods during which services were suspended.     

 
3. Maintenance and Support Services.  As long as you are not using the Help Desk as a substitute for our 

training services on the Tyler Software, and you timely pay your maintenance and support fees, we will, 
consistent with our then‐current Support Call Process: 

 
3.1 perform our maintenance and support obligations in a professional, good, and workmanlike manner, 

consistent with industry standards, to resolve Defects in the Tyler Software (limited to the then‐current 
version and the immediately prior version); provided, however, that if you modify the Tyler Software 
without our consent, our obligation to provide maintenance and support services on and warrant the 
Tyler Software will be void; 
 

3.2 provide telephone support during our established support hours; 
 

3.3 maintain personnel that are sufficiently trained to be familiar with the Tyler Software and Third Party 
Software, if any, in order to provide maintenance and support services; 
 

3.4 provide you with a copy of all major and minor releases to the Tyler Software (including updates and 
enhancements) that we make generally available without additional charge to customers who have a 
maintenance and support agreement in effect; and 
 

3.5 provide non‐Defect resolution support of prior releases of the Tyler Software in accordance with our 
then‐current release life cycle policy. 
 

4. Client Responsibilities.  We will use all reasonable efforts to perform any maintenance and support services 

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 60

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 185



 
  23 
 

remotely.  Currently, we use a third‐party secure unattended connectivity tool called Bomgar, as well as 
GotoAssist by Citrix.  Therefore, you agree to maintain a high‐speed internet connection capable of 
connecting us to your PCs and server(s).  You agree to provide us with a login account and local 
administrative privileges as we may reasonably require to perform remote services.  We will, at our option, 
use the secure connection to assist with proper diagnosis and resolution, subject to any reasonably 
applicable security protocols.  If we cannot resolve a support issue remotely, we may be required to provide 
onsite services.  In such event, we will be responsible for our travel expenses, unless it is determined that 
the reason onsite support was required was a reason outside our control.  Either way, you agree to provide 
us with full and free access to the Tyler Software, working space, adequate facilities within a reasonable 
distance from the equipment, and use of machines, attachments, features, or other equipment reasonably 
necessary for us to provide the maintenance and support services, all at no charge to us.  We strongly 
recommend that you also maintain a VPN for backup connectivity purposes.  
 

5. Hardware and Other Systems.  If you are a self‐hosted customer and, in the process of diagnosing a software 
support issue, it is discovered that one of your peripheral systems or other software is the cause of the 
issue, we will notify you so that you may contact the support agency for that peripheral system. We cannot 
support or maintain Third Party Products except as expressly set forth in the Agreement. 

 
In order for us to provide the highest level of software support, you bear the following responsibility related 
to hardware and software:  

 
(a) All infrastructure executing Tyler Software shall be managed by you; 
(b) You will maintain support contracts for all non‐Tyler software associated with Tyler Software (including 

operating systems and database management systems, but excluding Third‐Party Software, if any); and 
(c) You will perform daily database backups and verify that those backups are successful.  

 
6. Other Excluded Services.  Maintenance and support fees do not include fees for the following services: (a) 

initial installation or implementation of the Tyler Software; (b) onsite maintenance and support (unless Tyler 
cannot remotely correct a Defect in the Tyler Software, as set forth above); (c) application design; (d) other 
consulting services; (e) maintenance and support of an operating system or hardware, unless you are a 
hosted customer; (f) support outside our normal business hours as listed in our then‐current Support Call 
Process; or (g) installation, training services, or third party product costs related to a new release.  
Requested maintenance and support services such as those outlined in this section will be billed to you on a 
time and materials basis at our then current rates.  You must request those services with at least one (1) 
weeks’ advance notice.   

 
7. Current Support Call Process.  Our current Support Call Process for the Tyler Software is attached to this 

Exhibit C at Schedule 1. 
   

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 61

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 186



 
  24 
 

 

Exhibit C 
Schedule 1 

Support Call Process 
 
 

Support Channels 

Tyler Technologies, Inc. provides the following channels of software support:   
(1) Tyler Community – an on‐line resource, Tyler Community provides a venue for all Tyler clients with 

current maintenance agreements to collaborate with one another, share best practices and resources, 
and access documentation.   

(2) On‐line submission (portal) – for less urgent and functionality‐based questions, users may create 
unlimited support incidents through the customer relationship management portal available at the Tyler 
Technologies website.   

(3) Email – for less urgent situations, users may submit unlimited emails directly to the software support 
group. 

(4) Telephone – for urgent or complex questions, users receive toll‐free, unlimited telephone software 
support.  

Support Resources 
A number of additional resources are available to provide a comprehensive and complete support experience:  

(1) Tyler Website – www.tylertech.com – for accessing client tools and other information including support 
contact information.  

(2) Tyler Community – available through login, Tyler Community provides a venue for clients to support one 
another and share best practices and resources.  

(3) Knowledgebase – A fully searchable depository of thousands of documents related to procedures, best 
practices, release information, and job aides.  

(4) Program Updates – where development activity is made available for client consumption 

Support Availability 

Tyler Technologies support is available during the local business hours of 8 AM to 5 PM (Monday – Friday) across 
four US time zones (Pacific, Mountain, Central and Eastern). Clients may receive coverage across these time 
zones. Tyler’s holiday schedule is outlined below. There will be no support coverage on these days.  

New Year’s Day  Thanksgiving Day 

Memorial Day  Day after Thanksgiving 

Independence Day  Christmas Day 

Labor Day   

 

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 62

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 187



 
  25 
 

Issue Handling 

Incident Tracking 
Every support incident is logged into Tyler’s Customer Relationship Management System and given a unique 
incident number. This system tracks the history of each incident. The incident tracking number is used to track 
and reference open issues when clients contact support. Clients may track incidents, using the incident number, 
through the portal at Tyler’s website or by calling software support directly.  

Incident Priority 
Each incident is assigned a priority number, which corresponds to the client’s needs and deadlines. The client is 
responsible for reasonably setting the priority of the incident per the chart below. This chart is not intended to 
address every type of support incident, and certain “characteristics” may or may not apply depending on 
whether the Tyler software has been deployed on customer infrastructure or the Tyler cloud. The goal is to help 
guide the client towards clearly understanding and communicating the importance of the issue and to describe 
generally expected responses and resolutions.   
 

Priority 
Level 

Characteristics of Support Incident  Resolution Targets 

1 
Critical 

Support incident that causes (a) 
complete application failure or 
application unavailability; (b) 
application failure or unavailability in 
one or more of the client’s remote 
location; or (c) systemic loss of multiple 
essential system functions. 

Tyler shall provide an initial response to Priority Level 1 
incidents within one (1) business hour of receipt of the 
support incident.  Tyler shall use commercially 
reasonable efforts to resolve such support incidents or 
provide a circumvention procedure within one (1) 
business day.  For non‐hosted customers, Tyler’s 
responsibility for lost or corrupted data is limited to 
assisting the client in restoring its last available 
database. 

2 
High 

Support incident that causes (a) 
repeated, consistent failure of essential 
functionality affecting more than one 
user or (b) loss or corruption of data. 

Tyler shall provide an initial response to Priority Level 2 
incidents within four (4) business hours of receipt of 
the support incident.  Tyler shall use commercially 
reasonable efforts to resolve such support incidents or 
provide a circumvention procedure within ten (10) 
business days.  For non‐hosted customers, Tyler’s 
responsibility for loss or corrupted data is limited to 
assisting the client in restoring its last available 
database. 

3 
Medium 

Priority Level 1 incident with an existing 
circumvention procedure, or a Priority 
Level 2 incident that affects only one 
user or for which there is an existing 
circumvention procedure. 

Tyler shall provide an initial response to Priority Level 3 
incidents within one (1) business day of receipt of the 
support incident.  Tyler shall use commercially 
reasonable efforts to resolve such support incidents 
without the need for a circumvention procedure with 
the next published maintenance update or service 
pack.  For non‐hosted customers, Tyler’s responsibility 
for lost or corrupted data is limited to assisting the 
client in restoring its last available database. 

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 63

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 188



 
  26 
 

Priority 
Level 

Characteristics of Support Incident  Resolution Targets 

4 
Non‐
critical 

Support incident that causes failure of 
non‐essential functionality or a 
cosmetic or other issue that does not 
qualify as any other Priority Level. 

Tyler shall provide an initial response to Priority Level 4 
incidents within two (2) business days.  Tyler shall use 
commercially reasonable efforts to resolve such 
support incidents, as well as cosmetic issues, with a 
future version release. 

 

Incident Escalation  
Tyler Technology’s software support consists of four levels of personnel:  

(1) Level 1: front‐line representatives 
(2) Level 2: more senior in their support role, they assist front‐line representatives and take on escalated 

issues 
(3) Level 3: assist in incident escalations and specialized client issues 
(4) Level 4: responsible for the management of support teams for either a single product or a product group 

If a client feels they are not receiving the service needed, they may contact the appropriate Software Support 
Manager. After receiving the incident tracking number, the manager will follow up on the open issue and 
determine the necessary action to meet the client’s needs. 
On occasion, the priority or immediacy of a software support incident may change after initiation. Tyler 
encourages clients to communicate the level of urgency or priority of software support issues so that we can 
respond appropriately. A software support incident can be escalated by any of the following methods:  

(1) Telephone – for immediate response, call toll‐free to either escalate an incident’s priority or to escalate 
an issue through management channels as described above.  

(2) Email – clients can send an email to software support in order to escalate the priority of an issue 
(3) On‐line Support Incident Portal – clients can also escalate the priority of an issue by logging into the 

client incident portal and referencing the appropriate incident tracking number.  

Remote Support Tool 
Some support calls require further analysis of the client’s database, process or setup to diagnose a problem or to 
assist with a question. Tyler will, at its discretion, use an industry‐standard remote support tool. Support is able 
to quickly connect to the client’s desktop and view the site’s setup, diagnose problems, or assist with screen 
navigation. More information about the remote support tool Tyler uses is available upon request.     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 64

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 189



 
  27 
 

 
 
 

Exhibit D 
Disaster Recovery Terms 

 
WHEREAS, Client desires to enroll in Tyler’s Disaster Recovery Service for the Tyler Software licensed by Client 
from Tyler, subject to these Disaster Recovery terms; and 
 
THEREFORE, Tyler and Client agree as follows: 
 
1. Definitions: 

Disaster. An unplanned event that is not within the reasonable control of the Client which results in the 
failure of the Tyler Software Products licensed by Client to perform Critical Processes.  A Disaster is not a 
hardware or network failure that would have been avoided with reasonable diligence and maintenance 
in accord with the industry standard, a failure otherwise covered by an in‐force Agreement Client has 
with Tyler (e.g., Tyler Annual Maintenance Agreement (“Support Agreement”), Technical Services 
Agreement, or Tyler Systems Management (“TSM”) Agreement, or a failure that can be remedied in less 
than sixteen (16) business hours. 

Disaster Recovery Plan.  Defined at #2 of Exhibit 1 to this Disaster Recovery Agreement. 

Critical Processes.  Mutually defined in the Disaster Recovery Plan. 

Critrical Users.  Mutually defined in the Disaster Recovery Plan. 

Recovery Point Objective (“RPO”).  Amount of time since last successful data transfer.  With successful 
nightly transfer of data, RPO would be no more than twenty‐four (24) hours. 

Recovery Time Objective (“RTO”). Twenty‐four (24) business hours after receipt Disaster declaration for 
Client data not exceeding one (1) terabyte in size, for Critical Users using Critical Processes.  RTO for 
Client data one (1) terabyte in size or greater shall be mutually agreed, specified and incorporated into 
the Disaster Recovery Plan. 
Holiday.  New Year's Day (January 1), Memorial Day (observed), Independence Day (July 4), Labor Day 
(observed), Thanksgiving Day, Day after Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day (December 25). 
Business Days.  Monday through Friday, excluding Holidays. 
Business Hours.  8 AM – 6 PM (EST) on Business Days. 
Force Majeure.  An event beyond the reasonable control of a party, including, without limitation, 
governmental action, war, riot or civil commotion, fire, natural disaster, restraints affecting shipping or 
credit, delay of carriers, inadequate supply of suitable materials or any other cause which could not with 
reasonable diligence be foreseen, controlled or prevented by the party.   

 
2. Term.  The initial term shall commence on receipt by Tyler of Client’s data and shall terminate one (1) year 

thereafter (“Initial Term”).  Disaster Recovery services shall renew automatically for additional one (1) year 

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 65

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 190



 
  28 
 

terms unless terminated in writing by either party at least thirty (30) days prior to the end of the then‐
current term.  In the event the Support Agreement is terminated, Disaster Recovery services shall 
coetaneously terminate. 

 
3. Disaster Recovery Services.  Tyler shall provide the Disaster Recovery services (“DR Services”) as described 

herein, including any Exhibits and associated appendices.  All DR Services shall be provided remotely.  In the 
event the Disaster results in damage to Client’s server(s) and a re‐installation of the Tyler Software Products 
licensed by Client is required as a result of such damage, Tyler shall re‐install the Tyler Software Products 
free of charge if Client is enrolled in Tyler’s TSM service (ERP, Munis, TCM) or Technical Services Support 
(Incode, Eden, TCM).  Otherwise, such re‐installation shall be obtained from Tyler at Tyler’s then‐current 
installation services rates. Tyler Disaster Recovery staff will contact Client within twelve (12) business hours 
of any such reinstallation for reinstallation of Disaster Recovery Software. 

 
4. Client Requirements. In order for Tyler to provide DR Services, Client shall: 

a) Provide high speed internet access, including upload bandwidth sufficient for complete nightly data 
transfers to comply with applicable RPO 

b) Comply with then‐current minimum hardware and network requirements as specified on Tyler’s support 
website 

c) Maintain security and access privileges for Tyler to receive data transfer and reasonably perform 
activities reasonably necessary for Tyler to provide DR Services 

d) Permit installation of software required for provision of DR Services in accord with these terms as 
reasonably determined by Tyler 

e) Reasonably notify Tyler in advance of any changes in Client’s network that impacts Tyler’s ability to 
deliver DR Services 

 
5. Disaster by calling Tyler at (207) 781‐2260 or (800) 772‐2260 and clearly stating that CLIENT IS DECLARING A 

DISASTER. 
 
6. Disaster Recovery.  Client’s Critical Processes will be accessible by Critical Users in accord with the applicable 

RTO. 
 
7. Data.  Data Transfer shall be handled in accord with Exhibit 1 hereto.   
 
8. Release Life Cycle.  Tyler shall support prior releases of the Tyler Software Products in accordance with 

Tyler’s Release Life Cycle Policy. 
 
9. Payment & Price 

In consideration of the Services provided by Tyler herein, Client shall pay Tyler as indicated in Exhibit B of 
the Agreement.  Thereafter, the annual fee will be invoiced and paid prior to the commencement of the 
renewal term. 
 

10. Exclusions. 
a) Tyler’s Disaster Recovery Service shall not be used to replace required on‐site backups of Client data for 

Tyler Software Products licensed by Client.  
b) The fee paid for Disaster Recovery service does not include, and Client is responsible for the costs 

associated with: 

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 66

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 191



 
  29 
 

i. Hardware and/or software necessary to remotely access Tyler’s data center, and any and all on‐
site services.  Client may request and purchase on‐site services at Tyler’s then‐current rates. 

ii. In the event Client requests Tyler to hand‐deliver or courier the critical processes output (such 
as payroll checks), the cost of such special delivery shall be borne by Client and payable thirty 
(30) days from receipt of invoice. 

 
11. License Terms.  Client’s use of the Tyler Software included in the Disaster Recovery Service remains subject 

to limitations on Client’s use in the License and Services Agreement by which Client licenses such Tyler 
Software from Tyler, including disclaimer of implied warranties. 

 
   

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 67

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 192



 
  30 
 

Exhibit 1 
 
In addition to those services described elsewhere in this exhibit, DR Services are described in the following 
sections. 
 
1 Data Transfer 
 
The electronic transfer solution provides nightly (between the hours of 8 PM and 6 AM) transfer and archiving of 
Client’s Tyler data and is subject to the following conditions: 

 Initial data transfer may require portable disk. 

 Data transferred shall include only items essential to provision of service. 

 Applications included in the Disaster Recovery service are listed in Appendix A to this Exhibit 1.  
Such description shall also indicate database and file detail required for provision of DR Services.  
Tyler Software Products not listed in Appendix A and any non‐Tyler Software Product shall not 
be included in data transfer or the Disaster Recovery Service. 

 Only production databases are backed up. 

 Data from the last seven (7) successful data transfers are retained by Tyler. 

 Total data storage is limited to 200 gigabytes (“GB”).  Storage limit may be increased in 200 GB 
increments by mutual agreement and at additional cost. 

 Data transferred to Tyler as part of Disaster Recovery Service is not available for Client’s data 
retrieval or restoration not associated with the Disaster Recovery Service provided by Tyler.  
Tyler may provide data transferred by Client on an exception basis, upon request. 

 Tyler is not responsible for the integrity of the data provided by Client to Tyler.  Tyler will use the 
most current viable data to restore Client’s critical processes.   

 Tyler may use select information from the Client database for research and analysis purposes.   

 To the extent the database contains confidential information, Tyler shall keep confidential such 
information in accordance with the confidentiality provisions of the Agreement(s) by which 
Client licenses the Tyler Software Products from Tyler.  

 Tyler Disaster Recovery staff will monitor status of data transfers on Business Days. 

 In the event of two (2) consecutive data transfer failures, Tyler will timely provide notice to 
Client in order to commence troubleshooting. 

 Tyler shall have no liability for failure of data transfers not solely caused by Tyler. 

 Tyler will provide transfer report related to Client data transfer upon request. 

 Client shall provide to Tyler any required encryption key (or other comparable device), including 
the right to back‐up such key (or device), required to access the transferred data. 

 
2 Disaster Recovery Plan 
 
The Disaster Recovery Plan is a mutually drafted document which details, in addition to the services described 
above in this exhibit, the DR Services Tyler shall provide to Client.  The parties’ responsibilities with respect to 
the Disaster Recovery Plan are further defined below. 
 
Tyler’s Responsibilities: 

 

 Coordinate activities associated with transfer of data to Tyler’s data center. 

 Document Disaster Recovery strategy for critical processes. 

 Review the Disaster Recovery Plan with Client. 

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 68

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 193



 
  31 
 

 Provide reasonable guidance for Disaster Recovery policies and procedures. 

 Identify modules, databases, applications, and files required for Disaster Recovery service. 
 
Client’s Responsibilities: 
 

 Provide remote access to Client’s Tyler database server for analysis and configuration of data 
transfer. 

 Provide network support if required to enable transfer of data from Client’s server to the Tyler 
data center. 

 Provide PCs and high‐speed modems for access from Client’s alternate processing location, if 
required. 

 Provide technical resources to configure remote access PCs, including Tyler supplied application 
software, if reasonably required to receive Disaster Recovery services pursuant to this exhibit. 

 Provide a chain of command document for communication during a disaster. 

 Maintain the Disaster Recovery Plan and integrate the Disaster Recovery Plan made with Tyler 
with Client’s comprehensive disaster recovery plan. 

 
Shared Responsibilities: 
 

 Identify critical users for DR Services. 

 Identify critical processes for DR services. 

 Identify RTO. 

 Draft initial Disaster Recovery Plan within ninety (90) days of commencement of Initial Term. 

 Define recovery processes for post Disaster operations (mandatory for Odyssey CM clients, 
optional for all others). 

 
3  DR Services during Disaster 

 
A. Upon declaration of a Disaster, Tyler shall provide DR Services from one of its hosting facilities for the 

duration of the Disaster, not to exceed thirty (30) consecutive Business Days.  Use of Tyler’s data center 
in excess of such period shall require the parties to execute a change order detailing the duration of the 
extension and the additional cost associated therewith. 

B. Hosting Services During a Disaster. 
i. Hosting Services during a Disaster will be provided in accord with Tyler’s then‐current standard 

availability guarantees from its Service Level Agreement for SaaS clients.  Any credits issued to 
Client will be based on the total Disaster Recover fee paid for the then‐current term.  

ii. Tyler will use best efforts to include interfaces for Tyler Software Products covered as part of 
these DR services. 

iii. Hosting Services shall not include interfaces or interconnects with 3rd Party Products unless 
specifically agreed in the Disaster Recovery Plan. 

C. Processing Assistance During a Disaster includes, as necessary: 
i. Print Output: 

a. Payroll Checks 
b. Retirement Checks 
c. Accounts Payable Checks. 

ii. In the event print output is required to be sent non‐electronically, Client shall bear the cost of 
shipment. 

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 69

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 194



 
  32 
 

iii. Transfer of Automated Clearing House (“ACH”) Files to bank on Client’s behalf.  Transfer may 
require pre‐notification by Client to bank. 

D. Clients receiving DR Services during a Disaster receive priority access to Tyler application support. 
 

4 Annual Disaster Recovery Test 
 

The parties may review and test the Disaster Recovery service. 
 

 Scheduled by parties at least thirty (30) days  in advance  

 Client must provide a list of users who will partake in the test,  

 Test shall not exceed 2 weeks,  

 Retest within same year available if initial test not agreed by both parties to be successful 
 
5 Estimated Schedule 
 
The services provided pursuant to this exhibit will be performed consistent with the estimated schedule 
mutually agreed to by Tyler and Client.  Tyler and Client agree to promptly perform their respective 
responsibilities according to such schedule. 
 
6 Tyler’s Other Responsibilities 
 
Project management services are provided as part of the Disaster Recovery service.  Tyler will designate a 
Project Manager who will be Tyler’s contact for all communications with Client and will have the authority to act 
on Tyler’s behalf in matters regarding this Statement of Work.  Tyler’s project manager will perform the 
following tasks: 
 

 Review Statement of Work with Client’s project manager. 

 Review current project status. 

 Recommend changes or additions to the project as appropriate. 

 Administer the change control procedure. 

 Review and evaluate the progress of the project with Client’s project manager to resolve any necessary 
changes. 

 
7 Client’s Other Responsibilities 
 
Tyler’s performance is predicated upon the following responsibilities being fulfilled by Client: 
 
Prior to the start of the Statement of Work, Client will designate, in writing, a person who will be Client’s Project 
Manager who will be Client’s contact for all communications with Tyler and who has the authority to act on 
behalf of Client in all aspects of the Statement of Work.  The Project Manager will perform the following 
activities: 
 

 Interface between Tyler’s Project Manager and Client’s organization. 

 Administer project change control with Tyler’s project manager. 

 Arrange reasonable access to Client’s data for project personnel, as reasonably required. 

 Conduct any communication through Tyler’s Project Manager. 

 Help resolve and escalate project issues within Client’s organization as required. 

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 70

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 195



 
  33 
 

 Obtain and provide project requirements, data, decisions and approvals within five (5) business days of 
request.  If such requirements, data, decisions or approvals are delayed beyond the time specified, 
Client agrees to relieve Tyler of its responsibility for the affected Service until Client performs that 
obligation. 

 Accept responsibility for the data files, selection and implementation of controls for Client’s location, 
and security of the stored data. 

 
Client acknowledge that it is Client’s responsibility to identify and make the interpretation of any applicable 
federal, state and local laws, regulations and statutes. 
 

8 Project Change Control Procedure 
 
When Tyler and Client agree to a change in the Disaster Recovery Plan, Tyler will prepare a written description 
of the agreed change which both Tyler and Client must sign.  The Change Order will describe the change, the 
rationale for the change, and specify any change in the charges, estimated schedule, or other terms.  When 
charges are necessary in order for Tyler to analyze a change, Tyler will give Client a written estimate and begin 
the analysis only after Client’s written authorization.   
   

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 71

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 196



 
  34 
 

Appendix A 
 
 
Defined User Maximum.  The maximum number of named Client users available to use DR Services is 30. 
 
 
Covered Applications.   
 
Financial Management Suite 
Core Financials (General Ledger, Accounts Payable) 
Purchasing  
Fixed Assets  
Inventory Control  
Project Accounting  
Customer Relationship Management Suite 
Utility CIS System  
Mobile Service Orders  
Third Party Printing Interface 
Meter Reading Interface  
Cashiering  
Work Orders  
Misc. Accounts Receivable  
Tyler Content Manager 
Tyler Content Manager Standard Edition (TCM SE) 
Personnel Management Suite 
Personnel Management (Includes Position Budgeting)  
NeoGov Applicant Tracking Interface  
Employee Self Service (Employee Portal)  
ESS Time & Attendance (Number of FTE Employees) ( 100 )  
Tyler Hosted Applications 
Utility Billing Online Component  
Notifications for Utility Billing  
IVR Solution for Utility Billing  
Tyler U 
 
 
Product Specific Conditions. 
 
None 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 72

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 197



 
  35 
 

 

 

Exhibit E 
Web Services – Hosted Application Terms 

 
Tyler Technologies, Inc. will provide you with the hosted applications indicated in the Investment Summary of 
your License and Services Agreement. The terms and conditions contained in this document only apply to our 
provision of those applications. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined will have the meaning assigned to 
such terms in your License and Services Agreement.  

 
1. Hosted Applications. We will provide you with any of the following hosted applications as indicated in the 

Investment Summary. 

1.1. Web Services:  Our Web Services are designed to enable you to easily establish a presence on the 
Internet.  Our Web Hosting and Design is composed of our Web Hosting and Design Publishing 
Component and other miscellaneous components.  These components may be used independently or 
in conjunction with each other. 

1.2. Utility Billing On‐Line:  Our Utility Billing On‐Line Component allows you to make available certain 
information from your utility billing system to citizens with Internet access. This information is posted to 
your web site, which is hosted on our web server.  With the proper security clearance, citizens with 
Internet access have access to the data which can include:  Consumption information, service level 
information, requests for service, accounting information and the opportunity to pay their Utility Bill over 
the Internet using a credit card. 

2. Term. We will grant you access to the hosted applications provided you timely pay all associated fees. The term 
of your subscription will commence on the Effective Date and will continue for three (3) years. Thereafter, the 
term will be automatically extended in separate one (1) year periods. Either party may cancel this subscription 
to the hosted applications upon sixty (60) days written notice to the other.  

3. Nature of Website. We shall maintain a website for you, allowing a user to access relevant data provided by you. 
This data may include information from your Tyler Software system. This website will be capable of accepting 
payments via Secured Socket Layer (SSL) encryption and credit card or debit card charge. 

4. Data Procurement. You must set up a merchant account with Electronic Transaction System Corporation or 
authorized.net to be solely used for our Web Service transactions. The merchant account must be set up to fund 
to your bank account. You are responsible for all fees and expenses of the merchant account. You must install 
and run Tyler Web Services to allow us to transfer the necessary data from your system to our servers on a real 
time basis. Certain information, such as payment information, must be conveyed to you. We will be responsible 
for transferring such information to you on a regular basis. Tyler Web Services requires a dedicated IP address; 
assignment of this address is your responsibility. While we assume responsibility for data transfer, we are not 
responsible for accuracy of data transferred.  

 

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 73

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 198



 
  36 
 

5. Limited License. Your license to use the hosted applications will automatically terminate upon cancellation of 
this subscription, or upon your failure to timely pay fees or otherwise comply with these terms and conditions. 

6. Ownership of Data. All data you provide to us for the purposes of generating the website shall remain your 
property. Should you terminate your subscription, we shall return to you any such data in our possession.  

7. Fees. You agree to pay the initial fee and annual subscription fees as stated in the Investment Summary and in 
accordance with our Invoicing and Payment Policy. We may increase the per‐transaction fee for online payment 
no more than once per year with sixty (60) days prior written notice. We agree not to increase per‐transaction 
fees for online payment by more than 4% per year for the first four (4) years of this Agreement. 

   

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 74

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 199



 
  37 
 

 

 

Exhibit F 

Statement of Work 

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 75

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 200



 

Revised: 8/13/2018 

 

Statement of Work 
Tyler Technologies 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prepared for: 

West Valley Water District 
Jon Stephenson 
855 W Baseline Rd, Rialto, CA 92376 
 
 

 

Prepared by: 

Kip Winget 
5519 53rd Street, Lubbock, TX 79414 
Tyler Technologies, Inc. 
www.tylertech.com 

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 76

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 201



 

2 / 58 
 

Table of Contents 

1  Executive Summary ............................................................................................................................... 5 

1.1  Project Overview ........................................................................................................................... 5 

1.2  Product Summary ......................................................................................................................... 5 

1.3  Project Timeline ............................................................................................................................ 5 

1.4  Project Methodology Overview .................................................................................................... 5 

2  Project Governance .............................................................................................................................. 7 

2.1  Client Governance ......................................................................................................................... 7 

2.1.1  Client Project Manager ......................................................................................................... 7 

2.1.2  Steering Committee .............................................................................................................. 7 

2.1.3  Executive Sponsor(s) ............................................................................................................. 8 

2.2  Tyler Governance .......................................................................................................................... 8 

2.2.1  Tyler Project Manager ........................................................................................................... 8 

2.2.2  Tyler Implementation Management ..................................................................................... 8 

2.2.3  Tyler Executive Management ............................................................................................... 8 

2.3  Acceptance and Acknowledgment Process .................................................................................. 8 

3  Overall Project Assumptions ............................................................................................................... 10 

3.1  Project, Resources and Scheduling ............................................................................................. 10 

3.2  Data Conversion .......................................................................................................................... 10 

3.3  Data Exchanges, Modifications, Forms and Reports .................................................................. 11 

3.4  Hardware and Software .............................................................................................................. 11 

3.5  Education .................................................................................................................................... 11 

4  Implementation Stages ....................................................................................................................... 13 

4.1  Work Breakdown Structure (WBS) ............................................................................................. 13 

4.2  Initiate & Plan (Stage 1) .............................................................................................................. 15 

4.2.1  Tyler Internal Coordination & Planning .............................................................................. 15 

4.2.2  System Infrastructure Planning ........................................................................................... 16 

4.2.3  Project/Phase Planning ....................................................................................................... 17 

4.2.4  Project Schedule ................................................................................................................. 18 

4.2.5  Stakeholder Presentation ................................................................................................... 19 

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 77

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 202



 

3 / 58 
 

4.2.6  Control Point 1: Initiate & Plan Stage Acceptance .............................................................. 20 

4.3  Assess & Define (Stage 2) ............................................................................................................ 21 

4.3.1  Fundamentals Review ......................................................................................................... 21 

4.3.2  Current/Future State Analysis ............................................................................................. 22 

4.3.3  Data Conversion Planning & Mapping ................................................................................ 23 

4.3.4  Standard 3rd Party Data Exchange Planning ...................................................................... 24 

4.3.5  Modification Analysis & Specification, if contracted .......................................................... 25 

4.3.6  Forms & Reports Planning .................................................................................................. 26 

4.3.7  System Deployment ............................................................................................................ 27 

4.3.8  Control Point 2: Assess & Define Stage Acceptance ........................................................... 28 

4.4  Build & Validate (Stage 3) ........................................................................................................... 30 

4.4.1  Configuration & Power User Training ................................................................................. 30 

4.4.2  Data Conversion & Validation ............................................................................................. 31 

4.4.3  Standard 3rd Party Data Exchange Validation .................................................................... 32 

4.4.4  Modification Delivery & Validation, if contracted .............................................................. 33 

4.4.5  Forms & Reports Validation ................................................................................................ 34 

4.4.6  Control Point 3: Build & Validate Stage Acceptance ........................................................... 35 

4.5  Final Testing & Training (Stage 4) ............................................................................................... 36 

4.5.1  Cutover Planning ................................................................................................................. 36 

4.5.2  User Acceptance Testing (UAT) ........................................................................................... 37 

4.5.3  End User Training ................................................................................................................ 38 

4.5.4  Control Point 4: Final Testing & Training Stage Acceptance ............................................... 39 

4.6  Production Cutover (Stage 5) ...................................................................................................... 40 

4.6.1  Final Data Conversion, if applicable .................................................................................... 40 

4.6.2  Production Processing & Assistance ................................................................................... 41 

4.6.3  Transition to Tyler Support ................................................................................................. 42 

4.6.4  Schedule Post‐Production Services, if applicable ............................................................... 43 

4.6.5  Control Point 5: Production Cutover Stage Acceptance ..................................................... 44 

4.7  Phase/Project Closure (Stage 6) .................................................................................................. 45 

4.7.1  Close Phase/Project ............................................................................................................ 45 

4.7.2  Control Point 6: Phase/Project Closure Stage Acceptance ................................................. 46 

5  Roles and Responsibilities ................................................................................................................... 47 

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 78

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 203



 

4 / 58 
 

5.1  Tyler Roles and Responsibilities .................................................................................................. 47 

5.1.1  Tyler Executive Management ............................................................................................. 47 

5.1.2  Tyler Implementation Management ................................................................................... 47 

5.1.3  Tyler Project Manager ......................................................................................................... 47 

5.1.4  Tyler Implementation Consultant ....................................................................................... 48 

5.1.5  Tyler Sales ........................................................................................................................... 49 

5.1.6  Tyler Software Support ....................................................................................................... 49 

5.1.7  Tyler Basic Network Support ............................................................................................... 49 

5.1.8  Tyler Disaster Recovery Support ......................................................................................... 49 

5.2  West Valley Water District Roles and Responsibilities ............................................................... 50 

5.2.1  West Valley Water District Executive Sponsor ................................................................... 50 

5.2.2  West Valley Water District Steering Committee ................................................................. 50 

5.2.3  West Valley Water District Project Manager ...................................................................... 50 

5.2.4  West Valley Water District Functional Leads ...................................................................... 52 

5.2.5  West Valley Water District Power Users ............................................................................. 52 

5.2.6  West Valley Water District End Users ................................................................................. 53 

5.2.7  West Valley Water District Technical Support .................................................................... 53 

5.2.8  West Valley Water District Upgrade Coordinator ............................................................... 53 

5.2.9  West Valley Water District Project Toolset Coordinator .................................................... 53 

5.2.10  West Valley Water District Change Management Lead ...................................................... 54 

6  Glossary ............................................................................................................................................... 55 

7  Incode 10 Conversion Summary ......................................................................................................... 58 

7.1  General Ledger – Chart of Accounts ........................................................................................... 58 

7.2  General Ledger – Legacy/Historical Views .................................................................................. 58 

7.3  Accounts Payable – Vendor Master ............................................................................................ 58 

7.4  Accounts Payable – Legacy/Historical Views .............................................................................. 58 

7.5  Personnel Management/Payroll ‐ Standard ............................................................................... 58 

7.6  Personnel Management/Payroll – Legacy/Historical Views ....................................................... 58 

7.7  Utility Billing ‐ Standard .............................................................................................................. 58 

7.8  Utility Billing – Legacy/Historical Views ...................................................................................... 58 

   

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 79

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 204



 

5 / 58 
 

1 Executive Summary 

1.1 Project Overview 

The Statement of Work (SOW) documents the Project Scope, methodology, roles and responsibilities, 
implementation Stages, and deliverables for the implementation of Tyler products. 

The Project goals are to offer West Valley Water District the opportunity to make the West Valley Water 
District more accessible and responsive to external and internal customer needs and more efficient in its 
operations through: 

 Streamlining, automating, and integrating business processes and practices  

 Providing tools to produce and access information in a real‐time environment 

 Enabling and empowering users to become more efficient, productive and responsive 

 Successfully overcoming current challenges and meeting future goals 

1.2  Product Summary 

Below, is a summary of the products included in this Project, as well as reference to the West Valley 
Water District’s functional area utilizing the Tyler product(s). Refer to the Implementation Stages section 
of this SOW for information containing detailed service components.  

   
[PRODUCT]  [APPLICATION]  
Incode  Financials 
Incode  Personnel Management 
Incode  Utility Billing 
Incode  CRM 
Tyler Content Manager  Document Management 

1.3 Project Timeline  

The Project Timeline establishes a start and end date for each Phase of the Project. Developed during the 
Initiate & Plan Stage and revised as mutually agreed to, if needed, the timeline accounts for resource 
availability, business goals, size and complexity of the Project, and task duration requirements.  

1.4 Project Methodology Overview  

Tyler bases its implementation methodology on the Project Management Institute’s (PMI) Process Groups 
(Initiating, Planning, Executing, Monitoring & Controlling, and Closing). Using this model, Tyler developed 
a 6‐stage process specifically designed to focus on critical project success measurement factors.  

Tailored specifically for Tyler’s public sector clients, the project methodology contains Stage acceptance 
Control Points throughout each Phase to ensure adherence to Scope, budget, timeline controls, effective 
communications, and quality standards. Clearly defined, the project methodology repeats consistently 

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 80

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 205



 

6 / 58 
 

across Phases, and is scaled to meet the West Valley Water District’s complexity, and organizational 
needs. 

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 81

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 206



 

7 / 58 
 

2 Project Governance 

The purpose of this section is to define the resources required to adequately establish the business 
needs, objectives, and priorities for the Project; communicate the goals to other project participants; and 
provide support and guidance to accomplish these goals. Project governance also defines the structure 
for issue escalation and resolution, Change Control review and authority, and organizational Change 
Management activities.  

The preliminary governance structure establishes a clear escalation path when issues and risks require 
escalation above the project manager level. Further refinement of the governance structure, related 
processes, and specific roles and responsibilities occurs during the Initiate & Plan Stage. 

The path below illustrates an overall team perspective where Tyler and the West Valley Water District 
collaborate to resolve project challenges according to defined escalation paths. In the event project 
managers do not possess authority to determine a solution, resolve an issue, or mitigate a risk, Tyler 
implementation management and the West Valley Water District steering committee become the 
escalation points to triage responses prior to escalation to the West Valley Water District and Tyler 
executive sponsors. As part of the escalation process, each project governance tier presents 
recommendations and supporting information to facilitate knowledge transfer and issue resolution. The 
West Valley Water District and Tyler executive sponsors serve as the final escalation point.  

2.1 Client Governance 

Depending on the West Valley Water District’s organizational structure and size, the following 
governance roles may be filled by one or more people: 

2.1.1 Client Project Manager 

The West Valley Water District’s project manager(s) coordinate project team members, subject matter 
experts, and the overall implementation schedule and serves as the primary point of contact with Tyler. 
The West Valley Water District project manager(s) will be responsible for reporting to the West Valley 
Water District steering committee and determining appropriate escalation points.  

2.1.2 Steering Committee  

The West Valley Water District steering committee understands and supports the cultural change 
necessary for the Project and fosters an appreciation of the Project’s value throughout the organization. 
Oversees the West Valley Water District project manager(s) and the Project as a whole and through 
participation in regular internal meetings, the West Valley Water District steering committee remains 
updated on all project progress, project decisions, and achievement of project milestones. The West 
Valley Water District steering committee also provides support to the West Valley Water District project 
manager(s) by communicating the importance of the Project to all impacted departments. The West 
Valley Water District steering committee is responsible for ensuring the Project has appropriate 
resources, provides strategic direction to the project team, for making timely decisions on critical project 
issues or policy decisions. The West Valley Water District steering committee also serves as primary level 
of issue resolution for the Project. 

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 82

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 207



 

8 / 58 
 

2.1.3 Executive Sponsor(s) 

The West Valley Water District’s executive sponsor provides support to the Project by allocating 
resources, providing strategic direction, and communicating key issues about the Project and the 
Project’s overall importance to the organization. When called upon, the executive sponsor also acts as the 
final authority on all escalated project issues. The executive sponsor engages in the Project, as needed, in 
order to provide necessary support, oversight, guidance, and escalation, but does not participate in day‐
to‐day project activities. The executive sponsor empowers the West Valley Water District steering 
committee, project manager(s), and functional leads to make critical business decisions for the West 
Valley Water District. 

2.2 Tyler Governance 

2.2.1 Tyler Project Manager 

The Tyler project manager(s) have direct involvement with the Project and coordinates Tyler project team 
members, subject matter experts, the overall implementation schedule, and serves as the primary point 
of contact with the West Valley Water District. As requested by the West Valley Water District, the Tyler 
project manager(s) provide regular updates to the West Valley Water District’s steering committee and 
other Tyler governance members. 

2.2.2 Tyler Implementation Management 

Tyler implementation management has indirect involvement with the Project and is part of the Tyler 
escalation process. Tyler project manager(s) consult implementation management on issues and 
outstanding decisions critical to the Project. Implementation management works toward a solution with 
the Tyler project manager(s) or with the West Valley Water District management, as appropriate. Tyler 
executive management is the escalation point for any issues not resolved at this level. The name(s) and 
contact information for this resource will be provided and available to the project team. 

2.2.3 Tyler Executive Management 

Tyler executive management has indirect involvement with the Project and is part of the Tyler escalation 
process. This team member offers additional support to the project team and collaborates with other 
Tyler department managers, as needed, in order to escalate and facilitate implementation project tasks 
and decisions. The name(s) and contact information for this resource will be provided and available to the 
project team. 

2.3 Acceptance and Acknowledgment Process 

All Deliverables and Control Points must be accepted or acknowledged following the process below. 
Acceptance requires a formal sign‐off while acknowledgement may be provided without formal sign‐off at 
the time of delivery. The following process will be used for accepting or acknowledging Deliverables and 
Control Points: 

 The West Valley Water District shall have five (5) business days from the date of delivery, or as 
otherwise mutually agreed upon by the parties in writing, to accept or acknowledge each 

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 83

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 208



 

9 / 58 
 

Deliverable or Control Point. If the West Valley Water District does not provide acceptance or 
acknowledgement within five (5) business days, or the otherwise agreed upon timeframe, not to 
be unreasonably withheld, Tyler deems the Deliverable or Control Point as accepted.  

 If the West Valley Water District does not agree the particular Deliverable or Control Point meets 
requirements, the West Valley Water District shall notify Tyler project manager(s), in writing, with 
reasoning within five (5) business days, or the otherwise agreed‐upon timeframe, not to be 
unreasonably withheld, of receipt of the Deliverable.  

 Tyler shall address any deficiencies and redeliver the Deliverable or Control Point. The West 
Valley Water District shall then have two (2) business days from receipt of the redelivered 
Deliverable or Control Point to accept or again submit written notification of reasons for rejecting 
the milestone. If the West Valley Water District does not provide acceptance or 
acknowledgement within two (2) business days, or the otherwise agreed upon timeframe, not to 
be unreasonably withheld, Tyler deems the Deliverable or Control Point as accepted. 

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 84

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 209



 

10 / 58 
 

3 Overall Project Assumptions 

3.1 Project, Resources and Scheduling 

 Project activities will begin after the Agreement has been fully executed. 

 The West Valley Water District has the ability allocate additional internal resources if needed. The 
West Valley Water District also ensures the alignment of their budget and Scope expectations. 

 The West Valley Water District and Tyler ensure that the assigned resources are available, they 
buy‐into the change process, and they possess the required business knowledge to complete 
their assigned tasks successfully. Should there be a change in resources, the replacement 
resource should have a comparable level of availability, buy‐in, and knowledge. 

 Tyler and West Valley Water District provide adequate resources to support the efforts to 
complete the Project as scheduled and within the constraints of the Project budget. 

 Abbreviated timelines and overlapped Phases can result in Project delays if there are not 
sufficient resources assigned to complete all required work as scheduled.  

 Changes to Project Plan, availability of resources or changes in Scope may result in schedule 
delays, which may result in additional charges to the Project. 

 Tyler provides a written agenda and notice of any prerequisites to the West Valley Water District 
project manager(s) ten (10) business days prior to any scheduled on site or remote sessions.  

 Tyler provides notice of any prerequisites to the West Valley Water District project manager(s) a 
minimum of ten (10) business days prior to any key deliverable due dates.  

 West Valley Water District users complete prerequisites prior to applicable scheduled activities.  

 Tyler provides guidance for configuration and processing options available within the Tyler 
software. The West Valley Water District is responsible for making decisions based on the options 
available. 

 In the event the West Valley Water District may elect to add and/or modify current business 
policies during the course of this Project, such policy changes are solely the West Valley Water 
District’s responsibility to define, document, and implement. 

 The West Valley Water District makes timely Project related decisions in order to achieve 
scheduled due dates on tasks and prepare for subsequent training sessions. Decisions left 
unmade may affect the schedule, as each analysis and implementation session builds on the 
decisions made in prior sessions. 

 Tyler considers additional services out of Scope and requires additional time and costs be 
requested via Change Request approved through the Change Control process. 

 The West Valley Water District will respond to information requests in a comprehensive and 
timely manner, in accordance with the Project Plan. 

3.2 Data Conversion 

 The West Valley Water District is readily able to product the data files needed for conversion 
from the Legacy System in order to provide them to Tyler on the specified due date(s). 

 Each Legacy System data file submitted for conversion includes all associated records in a single 
approved file layout.  

 The West Valley Water District understands the Legacy System data extract(s) must be provided 
to Tyler in the same format each time unless changes are mutually agreed upon in advance. If 

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 85

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 210



 

11 / 58 
 

not, negative impacts to the schedule, budget, and resource availability may occur and/or data in 
the new system may be incorrect. 

 During this process, the West Valley Water District may need to correct data scenarios in the 
Legacy System prior to the final data pull. This is a complex activity and requires due diligence by 
the West Valley Water District to ensure all data pulled includes all required data and the Tyler 
system contains properly mapped data. 

 

3.3 Data Exchanges, Modifications, Forms and Reports 

 The West Valley Water District ensures the 3rd party data received conforms to a Tyler standard 
format. 

 The 3rd party possesses the knowledge of how to program their portion of the interaction and 
understands how to manipulate the data received. 

 Client is on a supported, compatible version of the 3rd party software or Tyler standard Data 
Exchange tools may not be available. 

 The West Valley Water District is willing to make reasonable business process changes rather 
than expecting the product to conform to every aspect of their current system/process. 

 Any Modification requests not expressly stated in the contract are out of Scope. Modifications 
requested after contract signing have the potential to change cost, Scope, schedule, and 
production dates for project Phases. Modification requests not in Scope must follow the Project 
Change Control process. 

3.4 Hardware and Software 

 Tyler will initially Install the most current generally available version of the purchased Tyler 
software.   

 The West Valley Water District will provide network access for Tyler modules, printers, and 
Internet access to all applicable West Valley Water District and Tyler project staff. 

 The West Valley Water District has in place all hardware, software, and technical infrastructure 
necessary to support the Project. 

 The West Valley Water District’s system hardware and software meet Tyler standards to ensure 
sufficient speed and operability of Tyler software. Tyler will not support use of software if the 
West Valley Water District does not meet minimum standards of Tyler’s published specifications. 

3.5 Education 

 Throughout the Project lifecycle, the West Valley Water District provides a training room for Tyler 
staff to transfer knowledge to the West Valley Water District’s resources, for both onsite and 
remote sessions. The West Valley Water District will provide staff with a location to practice what 
they have learned without distraction. If Phases overlap, the West Valley Water District will 
provide multiple training facilities to allow for independent sessions scheduling without conflict.  

 The training room is set up in a classroom setting. The West Valley Water District determines the 
number of workstations in the room. Tyler recommends every person attending a scheduled 
session with a Tyler Consultant or Trainer have their own workstation. However, Tyler requires 
there be no more than two (2) people at a given workstation. 

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 86

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 211



 

12 / 58 
 

 The West Valley Water District provides a workstation which connects to the Tyler system for the 
Tyler trainer conducting the session. The computer connects to a West Valley Water District 
provided projector, allowing all attendees the ability to actively engage in the training session. 

 Users performing user acceptance testing (UAT) have attended all applicable training sessions 
prior to performing UAT. 

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 87

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 212



 

13 / 58 
 

4 Implementation Stages 

4.1 Work Breakdown Structure (WBS) 

The Work Breakdown Structure (WBS) is a hierarchical representation of a Project or Phase broken down 
into smaller, more manageable components. The top‐level components are called “Stages” and the 
second level components are called “work packages.” The work packages, shown below each Stage, 
contain the high‐level work to be done. The detailed Project Plan, developed during Initiate & Plan and 
finalized during Assess & Define, will list the tasks to be completed within each work package. Each Stage 
ends with a “Control Point”, confirming the work performed during that Stage of the Project.  

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 88

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 213



 

14 / 58 
 

 

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 89

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 214



 

15 / 58 
 

4.2 Initiate & Plan (Stage 1) 

The Initiate & Plan Stage creates a foundation for the Project through identification of West Valley Water 
District and Tyler Project Management teams, development of implementation management plans, and 
the provision and discussion of system infrastructure requirements. West Valley Water District 
participation in gathering information is critical. Tyler Project Management teams present initial plans to 
stakeholder teams at Stage end. 

4.2.1 Tyler Internal Coordination & Planning 

Prior to Project commencement, Tyler management staff assigns project manager(s). Tyler provides the 
West Valley Water District with initial Project documents used in gathering basic information, which aids 
in preliminary planning and scheduling. West Valley Water District participation in gathering requested 
information by provided deadlines ensures the Project moves forward in a timely fashion. Internally, the 
Tyler project manager(s) coordinate with sales to ensure transfer of vital information from the sales 
process prior to scheduling a Project Planning Meeting with the West Valley Water District’s team. During 
this step, Tyler will work with the West Valley Water District to establish the date(s) for the Project/Phase 
Planning session. 

RACI MATRIX KEY: R = Responsible A = Accountable C = Consulted I = Informed 

 

   

STAGE 1  Tyler Internal Coordination & Planning 

  TYLER  CLIENT 

 TASKS 

  Ty
le
r 
Ex
ec
u
ti
ve
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
Im

p
le
m
en

ta
ti
o
n
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
Im

p
le
m
en

ta
ti
o
n
 C
o
n
su
lt
an

t 

Ty
le
r 
D
at
a 
C
o
n
ve
rs
io
n
 E
xp
er
ts
 

Ty
le
r 
Fo
rm

s 
&
 R
ep

o
rt
s 
Ex
p
er
ts
 

Ty
le
r 
M
o
d
if
ic
at
io
n
 P
ro
gr
am

m
er
s 

Ty
le
r 
Te
ch
n
ic
al
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 

Ty
le
r 
Sa
le
s 

C
lie
n
t 
Ex
ec
u
ti
ve
 S
p
o
n
so
r 

C
lie
n
t 
St
ee

ri
n
g 
C
o
m
m
it
te
e 

C
lie
n
t 
P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
 

C
lie
n
t 
Fu
n
ct
io
n
al
 L
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
C
h
an

ge
 M

an
ag
em

en
t 
Le
ad

s 

C
lie
n
t 
P
o
w
er
 U
se
rs
 

C
lie
n
t 
D
ep

ar
tm

en
t 
H
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
En

d
 U
se
rs
 

C
lie
n
t 
Te
ch
n
ic
al
 L
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
P
ro
je
ct
 T
o
o
ls
et
 C
o
o
rd
in
at
o
r 

C
lie
n
t 
U
p
gr
ad

e 
C
o
o
rd
in
at
o
r 

Assign Tyler project manager  A  R I  I  I         

Provide initial Project documents to 

Client 
A  I  R           C     I                 

Sales to Implementation knowledge 

transfer 
A  I  R           C                      

Internal planning and phase 

coordination 
  A R         C                        

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 90

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 215



 

16 / 58 
 

4.2.2 System Infrastructure Planning 

The West Valley Water District provides, purchases or acquires hardware according to hardware 
specifications provided by Tyler and ensures it is available at the West Valley Water District’s site. The 
West Valley Water District completes the system infrastructure audit, ensuring vital system infrastructure 
information is available to the Tyler implementation team, and verifies all hardware compatibility with 
Tyler solutions.  

RACI MATRIX KEY: R = Responsible A = Accountable C = Consulted I = Informed 

 

   

STAGE 1  System Infrastructure Planning 

  TYLER  CLIENT 

 TASKS 

  Ty
le
r 
Ex
ec
u
ti
ve
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
Im

p
le
m
en

ta
ti
o
n
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
Im

p
le
m
en

ta
ti
o
n
 C
o
n
su
lt
an

t 

Ty
le
r 
D
at
a 
C
o
n
ve
rs
io
n
 E
xp
er
ts
 

Ty
le
r 
Fo
rm

s 
&
 R
ep

o
rt
s 
Ex
p
er
ts
 

Ty
le
r 
M
o
d
if
ic
at
io
n
 P
ro
gr
am

m
er
s 

Ty
le
r 
Te
ch
n
ic
al
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 

Ty
le
r 
Sa
le
s 

C
lie
n
t 
Ex
ec
u
ti
ve
 S
p
o
n
so
r 

C
lie
n
t 
St
ee

ri
n
g 
C
o
m
m
it
te
e 

C
lie
n
t 
P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
 

C
lie
n
t 
Fu
n
ct
io
n
al
 L
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
C
h
an

ge
 M

an
ag
em

en
t 
Le
ad

s 

C
lie
n
t 
P
o
w
er
 U
se
rs
 

C
lie
n
t 
D
ep

ar
tm

en
t 
H
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
En

d
 U
se
rs
 

C
lie
n
t 
Te
ch
n
ic
al
 L
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
P
ro
je
ct
 T
o
o
ls
et
 C
o
o
rd
in
at
o
r 

C
lie
n
t 
U
p
gr
ad

e 
C
o
o
rd
in
at
o
r 

Provide system hardware 

specifications 
      I              R A       I                 C      

Make hardware available for 

Installation  
    I          C       A           R    

Install system hardware, if 

applicable 
     I              C          A                R      

Complete system infrastructure 

audit 
     I              C          A                R      

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 91

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 216



 

17 / 58 
 

4.2.3 Project/Phase Planning 

Project and Phase planning provides an opportunity to review the contract, software, data conversions 
and services purchased, identify Applications to implement in each Phase (if applicable), and discuss 
implementation timeframes. The Tyler project manager(s) deliver an Implementation Management Plan, 
which is mutually agreeable by West Valley Water District and Tyler. 

RACI MATRIX KEY: R = Responsible A = Accountable C = Consulted I = Informed 

 

   

STAGE 1  Project/Phase Planning 

  TYLER  CLIENT 

 TASKS 

  Ty
le
r 
Ex
ec
u
ti
ve
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
Im

p
le
m
en

ta
ti
o
n
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
Im

p
le
m
en

ta
ti
o
n
 C
o
n
su
lt
an

t 

Ty
le
r 
D
at
a 
C
o
n
ve
rs
io
n
 E
xp
er
ts
 

Ty
le
r 
Fo
rm

s 
&
 R
ep

o
rt
s 
Ex
p
er
ts
 

Ty
le
r 
M
o
d
if
ic
at
io
n
 P
ro
gr
am

m
er
s 

Ty
le
r 
Te
ch
n
ic
al
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 

Ty
le
r 
Sa
le
s 

C
lie
n
t 
Ex
ec
u
ti
ve
 S
p
o
n
so
r 

C
lie
n
t 
St
ee

ri
n
g 
C
o
m
m
it
te
e 

C
lie
n
t 
P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
 

C
lie
n
t 
Fu
n
ct
io
n
al
 L
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
C
h
an

ge
 M

an
ag
em

en
t 
Le
ad

s 

C
lie
n
t 
P
o
w
er
 U
se
rs
 

C
lie
n
t 
D
ep

ar
tm

en
t 
H
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
En

d
 U
se
rs
 

C
lie
n
t 
Te
ch
n
ic
al
 L
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
P
ro
je
ct
 T
o
o
ls
et
 C
o
o
rd
in
at
o
r 

C
lie
n
t 
U
p
gr
ad

e 
C
o
o
rd
in
at
o
r 

Perform Project/Phase Planning     A R                      I  C C       I              

Deliver implementation 

management plan 
   A R                         C  C I                    

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 92

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 217



 

18 / 58 
 

4.2.4 Project Schedule 

Client and Tyler will mutually develop an initial Project Schedule. The initial schedule includes, at 
minimum, enough detail to begin Project activities while the detailed Project Plan/schedule is being 
developed and refined. 

RACI MATRIX KEY: R = Responsible A = Accountable C = Consulted I = Informed 

   

STAGE 1  Project Schedule 

  TYLER  CLIENT 

 TASKS 

  Ty
le
r 
Ex
ec
u
ti
ve
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
Im

p
le
m
en

ta
ti
o
n
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
Im

p
le
m
en

ta
ti
o
n
 C
o
n
su
lt
an

t 

Ty
le
r 
D
at
a 
C
o
n
ve
rs
io
n
 E
xp
er
ts
 

Ty
le
r 
Fo
rm

s 
&
 R
ep

o
rt
s 
Ex
p
er
ts
 

Ty
le
r 
M
o
d
if
ic
at
io
n
 P
ro
gr
am

m
er
s 

Ty
le
r 
Te
ch
n
ic
al
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 

Ty
le
r 
Sa
le
s 

C
lie
n
t 
Ex
ec
u
ti
ve
 S
p
o
n
so
r 

C
lie
n
t 
St
ee

ri
n
g 
C
o
m
m
it
te
e 

C
lie
n
t 
P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
 

C
lie
n
t 
Fu
n
ct
io
n
al
 L
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
C
h
an

ge
 M

an
ag
em

en
t 
Le
ad

s 

C
lie
n
t 
P
o
w
er
 U
se
rs
 

C
lie
n
t 
D
ep

ar
tm

en
t 
H
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
En

d
 U
se
rs
 

C
lie
n
t 
Te
ch
n
ic
al
 L
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
P
ro
je
ct
 T
o
o
ls
et
 C
o
o
rd
in
at
o
r 

C
lie
n
t 
U
p
gr
ad

e 
C
o
o
rd
in
at
o
r 

Develop initial Project Schedule     A R I                  C I  I                   

Deliver Project Plan and schedule for 

Project Phase 
   A R I                  I  I  C C I  I   I             

Client reviews Project Plan & initial 

schedule 
      C                   I  A R C C     C             

Client approves Project Plan & initial 

schedule 
      I                    I  A R C C  I  I     I  I  I 

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 93

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 218



 

19 / 58 
 

4.2.5 Stakeholder Presentation 

West Valley Water District stakeholders join Tyler project manager(s) to communicate successful Project 
criteria, Project goals, Deliverables, a high‐level milestone schedule, and roles and responsibilities of 
Project participants.  

RACI MATRIX KEY: R = Responsible A = Accountable C = Consulted I = Informed 

 

   

STAGE 1  Stakeholder Presentation 

  TYLER  CLIENT 

 TASKS 

  Ty
le
r 
Ex
ec
u
ti
ve
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
Im

p
le
m
en

ta
ti
o
n
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
Im

p
le
m
en

ta
ti
o
n
 C
o
n
su
lt
an

t 

Ty
le
r 
D
at
a 
C
o
n
ve
rs
io
n
 E
xp
er
ts
 

Ty
le
r 
Fo
rm

s 
&
 R
ep

o
rt
s 
Ex
p
er
ts
 

Ty
le
r 
M
o
d
if
ic
at
io
n
 P
ro
gr
am

m
er
s 

Ty
le
r 
Te
ch
n
ic
al
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 

Ty
le
r 
Sa
le
s 

C
lie
n
t 
Ex
ec
u
ti
ve
 S
p
o
n
so
r 

C
lie
n
t 
St
ee

ri
n
g 
C
o
m
m
it
te
e 

C
lie
n
t 
P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
 

C
lie
n
t 
Fu
n
ct
io
n
al
 L
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
C
h
an

ge
 M

an
ag
em

en
t 
Le
ad

s 

C
lie
n
t 
P
o
w
er
 U
se
rs
 

C
lie
n
t 
D
ep

ar
tm

en
t 
H
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
En

d
 U
se
rs
 

C
lie
n
t 
Te
ch
n
ic
al
 L
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
P
ro
je
ct
 T
o
o
ls
et
 C
o
o
rd
in
at
o
r 

C
lie
n
t 
U
p
gr
ad

e 
C
o
o
rd
in
at
o
r 

Present overview of Project 

Deliverables, Project Schedule and 

roles and responsibilities 

   A R  I              I  I  I  C I  I  I  I     I  I  I 

Communicate successful Project 

criteria and goals 
    I              R C A C I  I  C  I  I     

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 94

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 219



 

20 / 58 
 

4.2.6 Control Point 1: Initiate & Plan Stage Acceptance 

Acceptance criteria for this Stage includes completion of all criteria listed below. Advancement to the 
Assess & Define Stage is dependent upon Tyler’s receipt of the Stage Acceptance. 

4.2.6.1 Initiate & Plan Stage Deliverables 

 Implementation Management Plan 

o Objective: Update and deliver baseline management plans to reflect the approach to the 
West Valley Water District’s Project. 

o Scope: The Implementation Management addresses how communication, quality control, 
risks/issues, resources and schedules, and Software Upgrades (if applicable) will be 
managed throughout the lifecycle of the Project. 

o Acceptance criteria: West Valley Water District reviews and acknowledges receipt of 
Implementation Management Plan. 

 Project Plan/Schedule 

o Objective: Provide a comprehensive list of tasks, timelines and assignments related to the 
Deliverables of the Project. 

o Scope: Task list, assignments and due dates 
o Acceptance criteria: West Valley Water District acceptance of schedule based on West 

Valley Water District resource availability and Project budget and goals. 

4.2.6.2 Initiate & Plan Stage Acceptance Criteria 

 Hardware Installed 

 System infrastructure audit complete and verified 

 Implementation Management Plan delivered 

 Project Plan/Schedule delivered; dates confirmed 

 Stakeholder Presentation complete 
 

   

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 95

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 220



 

21 / 58 
 

4.3 Assess & Define (Stage 2) 

The primary objective of Assess & Define is to gather information about current West Valley Water 
District business processes and translate the material into future business processes using Tyler 
Applications. Tyler uses a variety of methods for obtaining the information, all requiring West Valley 
Water District collaboration. The West Valley Water District shall provide complete and accurate 
information to Tyler staff for analysis and understanding of current workflows and business processes.  

4.3.1 Fundamentals Review 

Fundamentals Review provides functional leads and Power Users an overall understanding of software 
capabilities prior to beginning current and future state analysis. The primary goal is to provide a basic 
understanding of system functionality, which provides a foundation for upcoming conversations 
regarding future state processing. Tyler utilizes a variety of methods for completing fundamentals training 
including the use of eLearning, videos, documentation, and walkthroughs. 

RACI MATRIX KEY: R = Responsible A = Accountable C = Consulted I = Informed 

 

   

STAGE 2  Assess & Define 

  TYLER  CLIENT 

 TASKS 

  Ty
le
r 
Ex
ec
u
ti
ve
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
Im

p
le
m
en

ta
ti
o
n
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
Im

p
le
m
en

ta
ti
o
n
 C
o
n
su
lt
an

t 

Ty
le
r 
D
at
a 
C
o
n
ve
rs
io
n
 E
xp
er
ts
 

Ty
le
r 
Fo
rm

s 
&
 R
ep

o
rt
s 
Ex
p
er
ts
 

Ty
le
r 
M
o
d
if
ic
at
io
n
 P
ro
gr
am

m
er
s 

Ty
le
r 
Te
ch
n
ic
al
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 

Ty
le
r 
Sa
le
s 

C
lie
n
t 
Ex
ec
u
ti
ve
 S
p
o
n
so
r 

C
lie
n
t 
St
ee

ri
n
g 
C
o
m
m
it
te
e 

C
lie
n
t 
P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
 

C
lie
n
t 
Fu
n
ct
io
n
al
 L
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
C
h
an

ge
 M

an
ag
em

en
t 
Le
ad

s 

C
lie
n
t 
P
o
w
er
 U
se
rs
 

C
lie
n
t 
D
ep

ar
tm

en
t 
H
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
En

d
 U
se
rs
 

C
lie
n
t 
Te
ch
n
ic
al
 L
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
P
ro
je
ct
 T
o
o
ls
et
 C
o
o
rd
in
at
o
r 

C
lie
n
t 
U
p
gr
ad

e 
C
o
o
rd
in
at
o
r 

Schedule fundamentals review & 

provide fundamentals materials & 

prerequisites, if applicable 

   A R I                        C I     I           I    

Complete fundamentals materials 

review and prerequisites 
      I                          A R    I           C   

Ensure all scheduled attendees are 

present 
    I  I              A R C   I           

Facilitate fundamentals review         A R                      I  I     I                

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 96

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 221



 

22 / 58 
 

4.3.2 Current/Future State Analysis 

West Valley Water District and Tyler evaluate current state processes, options within the new software, 
pros and cons of each option based on current or desired state, and make decisions about future state 
configuration and processing. 

RACI MATRIX KEY: R = Responsible A = Accountable C = Consulted I = Informed 

 

   

STAGE 2  Current/Future State Analysis 

  TYLER  CLIENT 

 TASKS 

  Ty
le
r 
Ex
ec
u
ti
ve
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
Im

p
le
m
en

ta
ti
o
n
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
Im

p
le
m
en

ta
ti
o
n
 C
o
n
su
lt
an

t 

Ty
le
r 
D
at
a 
C
o
n
ve
rs
io
n
 E
xp
er
ts
 

Ty
le
r 
Fo
rm

s 
&
 R
ep

o
rt
s 
Ex
p
er
ts
 

Ty
le
r 
M
o
d
if
ic
at
io
n
 P
ro
gr
am

m
er
s 

Ty
le
r 
Te
ch
n
ic
al
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 

Ty
le
r 
Sa
le
s 

C
lie
n
t 
Ex
ec
u
ti
ve
 S
p
o
n
so
r 

C
lie
n
t 
St
ee

ri
n
g 
C
o
m
m
it
te
e 

C
lie
n
t 
P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
 

C
lie
n
t 
Fu
n
ct
io
n
al
 L
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
C
h
an

ge
 M

an
ag
em

en
t 
Le
ad

s 

C
lie
n
t 
P
o
w
er
 U
se
rs
 

C
lie
n
t 
D
ep

ar
tm

en
t 
H
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
En

d
 U
se
rs
 

C
lie
n
t 
Te
ch
n
ic
al
 L
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
P
ro
je
ct
 T
o
o
ls
et
 C
o
o
rd
in
at
o
r 

C
lie
n
t 
U
p
gr
ad

e 
C
o
o
rd
in
at
o
r 

Provide Current/Future State 

analysis materials to the West Valley 

Water District, as applicable 

   A R  I                       C I     I                

Conduct Current & Future State 

analysis 
      A  R                      I  C I  C                

Provide pros and cons of Tyler 

software options 
    A R               I  C I  C           

Make Future State Decisions 

according to due date in the Project 

Plan 

    I  I              C A R I  C  I         

Record Future State decisions        A  R                      I  C I  C                

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 97

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 222



 

23 / 58 
 

4.3.3 Data Conversion Planning & Mapping 

This entails the activities performed to prepare to convert data from the West Valley Water District’s 
Legacy System Applications to the Tyler system. Tyler staff and the West Valley Water District work 
together to complete Data Mapping for each piece of data (as outlined in the Agreement) from the 
Legacy System to a location in the Tyler system. 

RACI MATRIX KEY: R = Responsible A = Accountable C = Consulted I = Informed 

 

   

STAGE 2  Data Conversion Planning & Mapping 

  TYLER  CLIENT 

 TASKS 

  Ty
le
r 
Ex
ec
u
ti
ve
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
Im

p
le
m
en

ta
ti
o
n
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
Im

p
le
m
en

ta
ti
o
n
 C
o
n
su
lt
an

t 

Ty
le
r 
D
at
a 
C
o
n
ve
rs
io
n
 E
xp
er
ts
 

Ty
le
r 
Fo
rm

s 
&
 R
ep

o
rt
s 
Ex
p
er
ts
 

Ty
le
r 
M
o
d
if
ic
at
io
n
 P
ro
gr
am

m
er
s 

Ty
le
r 
Te
ch
n
ic
al
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 

Ty
le
r 
Sa
le
s 

C
lie
n
t 
Ex
ec
u
ti
ve
 S
p
o
n
so
r 

C
lie
n
t 
St
ee

ri
n
g 
C
o
m
m
it
te
e 

C
lie
n
t 
P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
 

C
lie
n
t 
Fu
n
ct
io
n
al
 L
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
C
h
an

ge
 M

an
ag
em

en
t 
Le
ad

s 

C
lie
n
t 
P
o
w
er
 U
se
rs
 

C
lie
n
t 
D
ep

ar
tm

en
t 
H
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
En

d
 U
se
rs
 

C
lie
n
t 
Te
ch
n
ic
al
 L
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
P
ro
je
ct
 T
o
o
ls
et
 C
o
o
rd
in
at
o
r 

C
lie
n
t 
U
p
gr
ad

e 
C
o
o
rd
in
at
o
r 

Review contracted data 

conversion(s) options 
     A R I                    C C    C        C      

Map data from Legacy System to 

Tyler system 
    I  C I              A C   C      R    

Pull conversion data extract        I     I                    A C    C        R      

Run balancing Reports for data 

pulled and provide to Tyler  
    I    I              A C   R      I     

Review and approve initial data 

extract 
   A I  C  R                   I                 I       

Correct issues with data extract, if 

needed 
     I  C C                   A C    C        R      

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 98

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 223



 

24 / 58 
 

4.3.4 Standard 3rd Party Data Exchange Planning 

Standard Data Exchange tools are available to allow clients to get data in and out of the Tyler system with 
external systems. Data exchange tools can take the form of Imports and Exports, and Interfaces. 

A Standard Interface is a real‐time or automated exchange of data between two systems. This could be 
done programmatically or through an API. It is Tyler’s responsibility to ensure the Tyler programs operate 
correctly. It is the West Valley Water District’s responsibility to ensure the third party program operates 
or accesses the data correctly.  

The West Valley Water District and Tyler project manager(s) will work together to define/confirm which 
Data Exchanges are needed (if not outlined in the Agreement). Tyler will provide a file layout for each 
Standard Data Exchange. 

RACI MATRIX KEY: R = Responsible A = Accountable C = Consulted I = Informed 

 

   

STAGE 2  Standard 3rd Party Data Exchange Planning 

  TYLER  CLIENT 

 TASKS 

  Ty
le
r 
Ex
ec
u
ti
ve
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
Im

p
le
m
en

ta
ti
o
n
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
Im

p
le
m
en

ta
ti
o
n
 C
o
n
su
lt
an

t 

Ty
le
r 
D
at
a 
C
o
n
ve
rs
io
n
 E
xp
er
ts
 

Ty
le
r 
Fo
rm

s 
&
 R
ep

o
rt
s 
Ex
p
er
ts
 

Ty
le
r 
M
o
d
if
ic
at
io
n
 P
ro
gr
am

m
er
s 

Ty
le
r 
Te
ch
n
ic
al
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 

Ty
le
r 
Sa
le
s 

C
lie
n
t 
Ex
ec
u
ti
ve
 S
p
o
n
so
r 

C
lie
n
t 
St
ee

ri
n
g 
C
o
m
m
it
te
e 

C
lie
n
t 
P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
 

C
lie
n
t 
Fu
n
ct
io
n
al
 L
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
C
h
an

ge
 M

an
ag
em

en
t 
Le
ad

s 

C
lie
n
t 
P
o
w
er
 U
se
rs
 

C
lie
n
t 
D
ep

ar
tm

en
t 
H
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
En

d
 U
se
rs
 

C
lie
n
t 
Te
ch
n
ic
al
 L
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
P
ro
je
ct
 T
o
o
ls
et
 C
o
o
rd
in
at
o
r 

C
lie
n
t 
U
p
gr
ad

e 
C
o
o
rd
in
at
o
r 

Review Standard or contracted Data 

Exchanges 
    A R               C I    I      C    

Define or confirm needed Data 

Exchanges 
     I   C                      A C     C        R      

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 99

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 224



 

25 / 58 
 

4.3.5 Modification Analysis & Specification, if contracted 

Tyler staff conducts additional analysis and develops specifications based on information discovered 
during this Stage. The West Valley Water District reviews the specifications and confirms they meet West 
Valley Water District’s needs prior to acceptance. Out of Scope items or changes to specifications after 
acceptance may require a Change Request.  

Tyler’s intention is to minimize Modifications by using Standard functionality within the Application, 
which may require a West Valley Water District business process change. It is the responsibility of the 
West Valley Water District to detail all of their needs during the Assess and Define Stage. Tyler will write 
up specifications (for West Valley Water District approval) for contracted program Modifications. Upon 
approval, Tyler will make the agreed upon Modifications to the respective program(s). Once the 
Modifications have been delivered, the West Valley Water District will test and approve those changes 
during the Build and Validate Stage. 

RACI MATRIX KEY: R = Responsible A = Accountable C = Consulted I = Informed 

 

   

STAGE 2  Modification Analysis & Specification, if contracted 

  TYLER  CLIENT 

 TASKS 

  Ty
le
r 
Ex
ec
u
ti
ve
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
Im

p
le
m
en

ta
ti
o
n
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
Im

p
le
m
en

ta
ti
o
n
 C
o
n
su
lt
an

t 

Ty
le
r 
D
at
a 
C
o
n
ve
rs
io
n
 E
xp
er
ts
 

Ty
le
r 
Fo
rm

s 
&
 R
ep

o
rt
s 
Ex
p
er
ts
 

Ty
le
r 
M
o
d
if
ic
at
io
n
 P
ro
gr
am

m
er
s 

Ty
le
r 
Te
ch
n
ic
al
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 

Ty
le
r 
Sa
le
s 

C
lie
n
t 
Ex
ec
u
ti
ve
 S
p
o
n
so
r 

C
lie
n
t 
St
ee

ri
n
g 
C
o
m
m
it
te
e 

C
lie
n
t 
P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
 

C
lie
n
t 
Fu
n
ct
io
n
al
 L
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
C
h
an

ge
 M

an
ag
em

en
t 
Le
ad

s 

C
lie
n
t 
P
o
w
er
 U
se
rs
 

C
lie
n
t 
D
ep

ar
tm

en
t 
H
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
En

d
 U
se
rs
 

C
lie
n
t 
Te
ch
n
ic
al
 L
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
P
ro
je
ct
 T
o
o
ls
et
 C
o
o
rd
in
at
o
r 

C
lie
n
t 
U
p
gr
ad

e 
C
o
o
rd
in
at
o
r 

Analyze contracted modified 

program requirements  
     A C       R             C C I  C        C      

Develop specification document(s)  A     I  C        R             I  I      I         I       

Review specification document(s); 

provide changes to Tyler, if 

applicable 

     I  C       C             A R I  C        C      

Sign‐off on specification 

document(s) and authorize work 
      I           I           A R C  I   I        C      

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 100

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 225



 

26 / 58 
 

4.3.6 Forms & Reports Planning 

West Valley Water District and Tyler project manager(s) review Forms and Report needs. Items that may 
be included in the Agreement are either Standard Forms and Reports or known/included Modification(s). 
Items not included in the Agreement could be either West Valley Water District‐developed Reports or a 
newly discovered Modification that will require a Change Request. 

RACI MATRIX KEY: R = Responsible A = Accountable C = Consulted I = Informed 

 

   

STAGE 2  Forms & Reports Planning 

  TYLER  CLIENT 

 TASKS 

  Ty
le
r 
Ex
ec
u
ti
ve
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
Im

p
le
m
en

ta
ti
o
n
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
Im

p
le
m
en

ta
ti
o
n
 C
o
n
su
lt
an

t 

Ty
le
r 
D
at
a 
C
o
n
ve
rs
io
n
 E
xp
er
ts
 

Ty
le
r 
Fo
rm

s 
&
 R
ep

o
rt
s 
Ex
p
er
ts
 

Ty
le
r 
M
o
d
if
ic
at
io
n
 P
ro
gr
am

m
er
s 

Ty
le
r 
Te
ch
n
ic
al
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 

Ty
le
r 
Sa
le
s 

C
lie
n
t 
Ex
ec
u
ti
ve
 S
p
o
n
so
r 

C
lie
n
t 
St
ee

ri
n
g 
C
o
m
m
it
te
e 

C
lie
n
t 
P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
 

C
lie
n
t 
Fu
n
ct
io
n
al
 L
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
C
h
an

ge
 M

an
ag
em

en
t 
Le
ad

s 

C
lie
n
t 
P
o
w
er
 U
se
rs
 

C
lie
n
t 
D
ep

ar
tm

en
t 
H
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
En

d
 U
se
rs
 

C
lie
n
t 
Te
ch
n
ic
al
 L
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
P
ro
je
ct
 T
o
o
ls
et
 C
o
o
rd
in
at
o
r 

C
lie
n
t 
U
p
gr
ad

e 
C
o
o
rd
in
at
o
r 

Review required Forms output         A R                          C I  C        I       

Review and complete Forms options 

and submit to Tyler 
      I        I                 A R    C                

Review in Scope Reports      A R               I  C   C           

Identify additional Report needs        I  C                       A R    C                

Add applicable tasks to Project 

schedule 
   A R I      C               C I     I        I       

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 101

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 226



 

27 / 58 
 

4.3.7 System Deployment 

The Tyler Technical Services team Installs Tyler Applications on the server (hosted or client‐based) and 
ensures the platform operates as expected. 

RACI MATRIX KEY: R = Responsible A = Accountable C = Consulted I = Informed 

 

   

STAGE 2  System Deployment 

  TYLER  CLIENT 

 TASKS 

  Ty
le
r 
Ex
ec
u
ti
ve
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
Im

p
le
m
en

ta
ti
o
n
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
Im

p
le
m
en

ta
ti
o
n
 C
o
n
su
lt
an

t 

Ty
le
r 
D
at
a 
C
o
n
ve
rs
io
n
 E
xp
er
ts
 

Ty
le
r 
Fo
rm

s 
&
 R
ep

o
rt
s 
Ex
p
er
ts
 

Ty
le
r 
M
o
d
if
ic
at
io
n
 P
ro
gr
am

m
er
s 

Ty
le
r 
Te
ch
n
ic
al
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 

Ty
le
r 
Sa
le
s 

C
lie
n
t 
Ex
ec
u
ti
ve
 S
p
o
n
so
r 

C
lie
n
t 
St
ee

ri
n
g 
C
o
m
m
it
te
e 

C
lie
n
t 
P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
 

C
lie
n
t 
Fu
n
ct
io
n
al
 L
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
C
h
an

ge
 M

an
ag
em

en
t 
Le
ad

s 

C
lie
n
t 
P
o
w
er
 U
se
rs
 

C
lie
n
t 
D
ep

ar
tm

en
t 
H
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
En

d
 U
se
rs
 

C
lie
n
t 
Te
ch
n
ic
al
 L
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
P
ro
je
ct
 T
o
o
ls
et
 C
o
o
rd
in
at
o
r 

C
lie
n
t 
U
p
gr
ad

e 
C
o
o
rd
in
at
o
r 

Install contracted software on server  A     I              R          I                 C      

Ensure platform operates as 

expected 
A     I              R          I                 C      

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 102

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 227



 

28 / 58 
 

4.3.8 Control Point 2: Assess & Define Stage Acceptance 

Acceptance criteria for this Stage includes completion of all criteria listed below. Advancement to the 
Build & Validate Stage is dependent upon Tyler’s receipt of the Stage Acceptance.  

4.3.8.1 Assess & Define Stage Deliverables 

 Completed analysis Questionnaire 

o Objective: Gather and document information related to West Valley Water District 
business.processes for current/future state analysis as it relates to Tyler 
approach/solution. 

o Scope: Provide comprehensive answers to all questions on Questionnaire(s). 
o Acceptance criteria: West Valley Water District acceptance of completed Questionnaire 

based on thoroughness of capturing all West Valley Water District business practices to 
be achieved through Tyler solution. 

 Data conversion summary and specification documents 

o Objective: Define data conversion approach and strategy. 
o Scope: Data conversion approach defined, data extract strategy, conversion and 

reconciliation strategy. 
o Acceptance criteria: Data conversion document(s) delivered to the West Valley Water 

District, reflecting complete and accurate conversion decisions. 

 Modification specification documents, if contracted 

o Objective: Provide comprehensive outline of identified gaps, and how the modified 
program meets the West Valley Water District’s needs. 

o Scope: Design solution for Modification. 
o Acceptance criteria: West Valley Water District accepts Modified Specification 

Document(s) and agrees that the proposed solution meets their requirements. 

 Completed Forms options and/or packages 

o Objective: Provide specifications for each West Valley Water District in Scope form, 
Report and output requirements. 

o Scope: Complete Forms package(s) included in agreement and identify Report needs. 
o Acceptance criteria: Identify Forms choices and receive supporting documentation. 

 Installation checklist 

o Objective: Installation of purchased Tyler software. 
o Scope: Tyler will conduct an initial coordination call, perform an installation of the 

software included in the Agreement, conduct follow up to ensure all tasks are complete, 
and complete server system administration training, unless the West Valley Water 
District is hosted. 

o Acceptance criteria: Tyler software is successfully installed and available to authorized 
users, West Valley Water District team members are trained on applicable system 
administration tasks.  

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 103

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 228



 

29 / 58 
 

4.3.8.2 Assess & Define Stage Acceptance Criteria 

 Tyler software is installed. 

 Fundamentals review is complete. 

 Required Form information complete and provided to Tyler. 

 Current/Future state analysis completed; Questionnaires delivered and reviewed. 

 Data conversion mapping and extractions completed and provided to Tyler. 
   

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 104

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 229



 

30 / 58 
 

4.4 Build & Validate (Stage 3) 

The objective of the Build & Validate Stage is to prepare the software for use in accordance with the West 
Valley Water District’s needs identified during the Assess and Define Stage, preparing the West Valley 
Water District for Final Testing and Training. 

4.4.1 Configuration & Power User Training 

Tyler staff collaborates with the West Valley Water District to complete software configuration based on 
the outputs of the future state analysis performed during the Assess and Define Stage. Tyler staff will 
train the West Valley Water District Power Users to prepare them for the Validation of the software. The 
West Valley Water District collaborates with Tyler staff iteratively to Validate software configuration. 

RACI MATRIX KEY: R = Responsible A = Accountable C = Consulted I = Informed 

 

   

STAGE 3  Build & Validate 

  TYLER  CLIENT 

 TASKS 

  Ty
le
r 
Ex
ec
u
ti
ve
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
Im

p
le
m
en

ta
ti
o
n
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
Im

p
le
m
en

ta
ti
o
n
 C
o
n
su
lt
an

t 

Ty
le
r 
D
at
a 
C
o
n
ve
rs
io
n
 E
xp
er
ts
 

Ty
le
r 
Fo
rm

s 
&
 R
ep

o
rt
s 
Ex
p
er
ts
 

Ty
le
r 
M
o
d
if
ic
at
io
n
 P
ro
gr
am

m
er
s 

Ty
le
r 
Te
ch
n
ic
al
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 

Ty
le
r 
Sa
le
s 

C
lie
n
t 
Ex
ec
u
ti
ve
 S
p
o
n
so
r 

C
lie
n
t 
St
ee

ri
n
g 
C
o
m
m
it
te
e 

C
lie
n
t 
P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
 

C
lie
n
t 
Fu
n
ct
io
n
al
 L
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
C
h
an

ge
 M

an
ag
em

en
t 
Le
ad

s 

C
lie
n
t 
P
o
w
er
 U
se
rs
 

C
lie
n
t 
D
ep

ar
tm

en
t 
H
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
En

d
 U
se
rs
 

C
lie
n
t 
Te
ch
n
ic
al
 L
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
P
ro
je
ct
 T
o
o
ls
et
 C
o
o
rd
in
at
o
r 

C
lie
n
t 
U
p
gr
ad

e 
C
o
o
rd
in
at
o
r 

Perform configuration         A R                      I  R    I                

Power User process and Validation 

training 
      A R                      I  C I  C           I    

Validate configuration        I  C                      A C    R        C      

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 105

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 230



 

31 / 58 
 

4.4.2 Data Conversion & Validation  

Tyler completes an initial review of the converted data for errors. With assistance from the West Valley 
Water District, the Tyler Data Conversion Team addresses items within the conversion program to 
provide the most efficient data conversion possible. With guidance from Tyler, the West Valley Water 
District reviews specific data elements within the system and identifies and Reports discrepancies in 
writing. Iteratively, Tyler collaborates with the West Valley Water District to address conversion 
discrepancies prior to acceptance. 

RACI MATRIX KEY: R = Responsible A = Accountable C = Consulted I = Informed 

 

   

STAGE 3  Data Conversion & Validation 

  TYLER  CLIENT 

 TASKS 

  Ty
le
r 
Ex
ec
u
ti
ve
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
Im

p
le
m
en

ta
ti
o
n
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
Im

p
le
m
en

ta
ti
o
n
 C
o
n
su
lt
an

t 

Ty
le
r 
D
at
a 
C
o
n
ve
rs
io
n
 E
xp
er
ts
 

Ty
le
r 
Fo
rm

s 
&
 R
ep

o
rt
s 
Ex
p
er
ts
 

Ty
le
r 
M
o
d
if
ic
at
io
n
 P
ro
gr
am

m
er
s 

Ty
le
r 
Te
ch
n
ic
al
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 

Ty
le
r 
Sa
le
s 

C
lie
n
t 
Ex
ec
u
ti
ve
 S
p
o
n
so
r 

C
lie
n
t 
St
ee

ri
n
g 
C
o
m
m
it
te
e 

C
lie
n
t 
P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
 

C
lie
n
t 
Fu
n
ct
io
n
al
 L
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
C
h
an

ge
 M

an
ag
em

en
t 
Le
ad

s 

C
lie
n
t 
P
o
w
er
 U
se
rs
 

C
lie
n
t 
D
ep

ar
tm

en
t 
H
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
En

d
 U
se
rs
 

C
lie
n
t 
Te
ch
n
ic
al
 L
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
P
ro
je
ct
 T
o
o
ls
et
 C
o
o
rd
in
at
o
r 

C
lie
n
t 
U
p
gr
ad

e 
C
o
o
rd
in
at
o
r 

Write and run data conversion 

program against Client data 
  A I  C R                         C    

Complete initial review of data 

errors 
   A I  C R                   I  I               C      

Review data conversion and submit 

needed corrections 
      I  C I                    A C    R        C      

Revise conversion program(s) to 

correct error(s) 
  A I  C R             I  I    C      C    

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 106

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 231



 

32 / 58 
 

4.4.3 Standard 3rd Party Data Exchange Validation 

Tyler provides training on Data Exchange(s) and the West Valley Water District tests each Data Exchange. 

RACI MATRIX KEY: R = Responsible A = Accountable C = Consulted I = Informed 

 

   

STAGE 3  Standard 3rd Party Data Exchange Validation 

  TYLER  CLIENT 

 TASKS 

  Ty
le
r 
Ex
ec
u
ti
ve
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
Im

p
le
m
en

ta
ti
o
n
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
Im

p
le
m
en

ta
ti
o
n
 C
o
n
su
lt
an

t 

Ty
le
r 
D
at
a 
C
o
n
ve
rs
io
n
 E
xp
er
ts
 

Ty
le
r 
Fo
rm

s 
&
 R
ep

o
rt
s 
Ex
p
er
ts
 

Ty
le
r 
M
o
d
if
ic
at
io
n
 P
ro
gr
am

m
er
s 

Ty
le
r 
Te
ch
n
ic
al
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 

Ty
le
r 
Sa
le
s 

C
lie
n
t 
Ex
ec
u
ti
ve
 S
p
o
n
so
r 

C
lie
n
t 
St
ee

ri
n
g 
C
o
m
m
it
te
e 

C
lie
n
t 
P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
 

C
lie
n
t 
Fu
n
ct
io
n
al
 L
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
C
h
an

ge
 M

an
ag
em

en
t 
Le
ad

s 

C
lie
n
t 
P
o
w
er
 U
se
rs
 

C
lie
n
t 
D
ep

ar
tm

en
t 
H
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
En

d
 U
se
rs
 

C
lie
n
t 
Te
ch
n
ic
al
 L
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
P
ro
je
ct
 T
o
o
ls
et
 C
o
o
rd
in
at
o
r 

C
lie
n
t 
U
p
gr
ad

e 
C
o
o
rd
in
at
o
r 

Train Data Exchange(s) processing in 

Tyler software  
      A R                      C I  I  I        C I    

Coordinate 3rd Party Data Exchange 

activities 
    I  I                A C   C      R    

Test all Standard 3rd party Data 

Exchange(s)  
      I  C                      A C I  R        C      

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 107

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 232



 

33 / 58 
 

4.4.4 Modification Delivery & Validation, if contracted 

Tyler delivers in Scope Modification(s) to the West Valley Water District for preliminary testing. Final 
acceptance will occur during the Final Testing and Training Stage.  

RACI MATRIX KEY: R = Responsible A = Accountable C = Consulted I = Informed 

 

   

STAGE 3  Modification Delivery & Validation, if contracted 

  TYLER  CLIENT 

 TASKS 

  Ty
le
r 
Ex
ec
u
ti
ve
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
Im

p
le
m
en

ta
ti
o
n
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
Im

p
le
m
en

ta
ti
o
n
 C
o
n
su
lt
an

t 

Ty
le
r 
D
at
a 
C
o
n
ve
rs
io
n
 E
xp
er
ts
 

Ty
le
r 
Fo
rm

s 
&
 R
ep

o
rt
s 
Ex
p
er
ts
 

Ty
le
r 
M
o
d
if
ic
at
io
n
 P
ro
gr
am

m
er
s 

Ty
le
r 
Te
ch
n
ic
al
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 

Ty
le
r 
Sa
le
s 

C
lie
n
t 
Ex
ec
u
ti
ve
 S
p
o
n
so
r 

C
lie
n
t 
St
ee

ri
n
g 
C
o
m
m
it
te
e 

C
lie
n
t 
P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
 

C
lie
n
t 
Fu
n
ct
io
n
al
 L
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
C
h
an

ge
 M

an
ag
em

en
t 
Le
ad

s 

C
lie
n
t 
P
o
w
er
 U
se
rs
 

C
lie
n
t 
D
ep

ar
tm

en
t 
H
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
En

d
 U
se
rs
 

C
lie
n
t 
Te
ch
n
ic
al
 L
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
P
ro
je
ct
 T
o
o
ls
et
 C
o
o
rd
in
at
o
r 

C
lie
n
t 
U
p
gr
ad

e 
C
o
o
rd
in
at
o
r 

Develop and deliver contracted 

modified program(s) 
  A  I  C I     R             I  C I  C        I     C

Test contracted modified 

program(s) in isolated database 
      I  C       C             A C    R         C      

Report discrepancies between 

specification and delivered 

contracted modified program(s)  

      I  I        I              A R    C        C      

Make corrections to contracted 

modified program(s) as required 
  A I  C I    R         I  C   C      I     

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 108

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 233



 

34 / 58 
 

4.4.5 Forms & Reports Validation 

Tyler provides training on Standard Forms/Reports and the West Valley Water District tests each Standard 
Form/Report. 

RACI MATRIX KEY: R = Responsible A = Accountable C = Consulted I = Informed 

 

   

STAGE 3  Forms & Reports Validation 

  TYLER  CLIENT 

 TASKS 

  Ty
le
r 
Ex
ec
u
ti
ve
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
Im

p
le
m
en

ta
ti
o
n
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
Im

p
le
m
en

ta
ti
o
n
 C
o
n
su
lt
an

t 

Ty
le
r 
D
at
a 
C
o
n
ve
rs
io
n
 E
xp
er
ts
 

Ty
le
r 
Fo
rm

s 
&
 R
ep

o
rt
s 
Ex
p
er
ts
 

Ty
le
r 
M
o
d
if
ic
at
io
n
 P
ro
gr
am

m
er
s 

Ty
le
r 
Te
ch
n
ic
al
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 

Ty
le
r 
Sa
le
s 

C
lie
n
t 
Ex
ec
u
ti
ve
 S
p
o
n
so
r 

C
lie
n
t 
St
ee

ri
n
g 
C
o
m
m
it
te
e 

C
lie
n
t 
P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
 

C
lie
n
t 
Fu
n
ct
io
n
al
 L
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
C
h
an

ge
 M

an
ag
em

en
t 
Le
ad

s 

C
lie
n
t 
P
o
w
er
 U
se
rs
 

C
lie
n
t 
D
ep

ar
tm

en
t 
H
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
En

d
 U
se
rs
 

C
lie
n
t 
Te
ch
n
ic
al
 L
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
P
ro
je
ct
 T
o
o
ls
et
 C
o
o
rd
in
at
o
r 

C
lie
n
t 
U
p
gr
ad

e 
C
o
o
rd
in
at
o
r 

Standard Forms & Report training       A R                   I  C    C        I       

Test Standard Forms & Reports        I  C    C                A C    R        C      

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 109

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 234



 

35 / 58 
 

4.4.6 Control Point 3: Build & Validate Stage Acceptance 

Acceptance criteria for this Stage includes all criteria listed below. Advancement to the Final Testing & 
Training Stage is dependent upon Tyler’s receipt of the Stage Acceptance. 

4.4.6.1 Build & Validate Stage Deliverables 

 Initial data conversion 

o Objective: Convert Legacy System data into Tyler system. 
o Scope: Data conversion program complete; deliver converted data for review. 
o Acceptance criteria: Initial error log available for review. 

 Data conversion verification document 

o Objective: Provide instructions to the West Valley Water District to verify converted data 
for accuracy. 

o Scope: Provide self‐guided instructions to verify specific data components in Tyler 
system. 

o Acceptance criteria: West Valley Water District accepts data conversion delivery; West 
Valley Water District completes data issues log. 

 Installation of Modifications on the West Valley Water District’s server(s) *except for hosted 
Clients 

o Objective: Deliver Modification(s) in Tyler software. 
o Scope: Program for Modification is complete and available in Tyler software, Modification 

testing. 
o Acceptance criteria: Delivery of Modification(s) results in objectives described in the 

West Valley Water District‐signed specification. 

 Standard Forms & Reports Delivered 

o Objective: Provide Standard Forms & Reports for review. 
o Scope: Installation of all Standard Forms & Reports included in the Agreement. 
o Acceptance criteria: Standard Forms & Reports available in Tyler software for testing in 

Stage 4. 

4.4.6.2 Build & Validate Stage Acceptance Criteria 

 Application configuration completed. 

 Standard Forms & Reports delivered and available for testing in Stage 4. 

 Data conversions (except final pass) delivered. 

 Standard 3rd party Data Exchange training provided. 

 Modifications delivered and available for testing in Stage 4. 

 The West Valley Water District and Tyler have done a review of primary configuration areas to 
Validatecompleteness and readiness for testing and acceptance in Stage 4. 

   

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 110

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 235



 

36 / 58 
 

4.5 Final Testing & Training (Stage 4) 

During Final Testing and Training, Tyler and the West Valley Water District review the final Cutover plan. A 
critical Project success factor is the West Valley Water District understanding the importance of Final 
Testing and Training and dedicating the resources required for testing and training efforts in order to 
ensure a successful Production Cutover. 

4.5.1 Cutover Planning 

West Valley Water District and Tyler project manager(s) discuss final preparations and critical dates for 
Production Cutover. Tyler delivers a Production Cutover Checklist to outline Cutover tasks to help prepare 
the West Valley Water District for success. 

RACI MATRIX KEY: R = Responsible A = Accountable C = Consulted I = Informed 

 

   

STAGE 4  Cutover Planning 

  TYLER  CLIENT 

 TASKS 

  Ty
le
r 
Ex
ec
u
ti
ve
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
Im

p
le
m
en

ta
ti
o
n
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
Im

p
le
m
en

ta
ti
o
n
 C
o
n
su
lt
an

t 

Ty
le
r 
D
at
a 
C
o
n
ve
rs
io
n
 E
xp
er
ts
 

Ty
le
r 
Fo
rm

s 
&
 R
ep

o
rt
s 
Ex
p
er
ts
 

Ty
le
r 
M
o
d
if
ic
at
io
n
 P
ro
gr
am

m
er
s 

Ty
le
r 
Te
ch
n
ic
al
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 

Ty
le
r 
Sa
le
s 

C
lie
n
t 
Ex
ec
u
ti
ve
 S
p
o
n
so
r 

C
lie
n
t 
St
ee

ri
n
g 
C
o
m
m
it
te
e 

C
lie
n
t 
P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
 

C
lie
n
t 
Fu
n
ct
io
n
al
 L
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
C
h
an

ge
 M

an
ag
em

en
t 
Le
ad

s 

C
lie
n
t 
P
o
w
er
 U
se
rs
 

C
lie
n
t 
D
ep

ar
tm

en
t 
H
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
En

d
 U
se
rs
 

C
lie
n
t 
Te
ch
n
ic
al
 L
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
P
ro
je
ct
 T
o
o
ls
et
 C
o
o
rd
in
at
o
r 

C
lie
n
t 
U
p
gr
ad

e 
C
o
o
rd
in
at
o
r 

Cutover Planning Session    A R C                   I  C C C  C        C C   

Develop Production Cutover 

Checklist 
  A R C                I  I  C C I  I        C     

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 111

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 236



 

37 / 58 
 

4.5.2 User Acceptance Testing (UAT) 

The West Valley Water District performs User Acceptance Testing to verify software readiness for day‐to‐
day business processing. Tyler provides a Test Plan for users to follow to ensure proper Validation of the 
system. 

RACI MATRIX KEY: R = Responsible A = Accountable C = Consulted I = Informed 

 

   

STAGE 4  User Acceptance Testing (UAT) 

  TYLER  CLIENT 

 TASKS 

  Ty
le
r 
Ex
ec
u
ti
ve
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
Im

p
le
m
en

ta
ti
o
n
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
Im

p
le
m
en

ta
ti
o
n
 C
o
n
su
lt
an

t 

Ty
le
r 
D
at
a 
C
o
n
ve
rs
io
n
 E
xp
er
ts
 

Ty
le
r 
Fo
rm

s 
&
 R
ep

o
rt
s 
Ex
p
er
ts
 

Ty
le
r 
M
o
d
if
ic
at
io
n
 P
ro
gr
am

m
er
s 

Ty
le
r 
Te
ch
n
ic
al
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 

Ty
le
r 
Sa
le
s 

C
lie
n
t 
Ex
ec
u
ti
ve
 S
p
o
n
so
r 

C
lie
n
t 
St
ee

ri
n
g 
C
o
m
m
it
te
e 

C
lie
n
t 
P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
 

C
lie
n
t 
Fu
n
ct
io
n
al
 L
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
C
h
an

ge
 M

an
ag
em

en
t 
Le
ad

s 

C
lie
n
t 
P
o
w
er
 U
se
rs
 

C
lie
n
t 
D
ep

ar
tm

en
t 
H
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
En

d
 U
se
rs
 

C
lie
n
t 
Te
ch
n
ic
al
 L
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
P
ro
je
ct
 T
o
o
ls
et
 C
o
o
rd
in
at
o
r 

C
lie
n
t 
U
p
gr
ad

e 
C
o
o
rd
in
at
o
r 

Deliver Test Plan for User 

Acceptance Testing 
  A R C                      I  I                      

Perform User Acceptance Testing      I  C                    A R C C  C  I  I  C  I    

Accept modified program(s), if 

applicable 
      I  I        I           A R C I  C        C      

Validate Report performance        I  C    C                A C    R        C      

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 112

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 237



 

38 / 58 
 

4.5.3 End User Training 

End Users attend training sessions to learn how to utilize Tyler software. Training focuses primarily on 
day‐to‐day West Valley Water District processes that will be delivered via group training, webinar, 
eLearnings and/or live training sessions.  

Unless stated otherwise in the Agreement, Tyler provides one occurrence of each scheduled training or 
implementation topic with up to the maximum number of users as defined in the Agreement, or as 
otherwise mutually agreed. West Valley Water District users who attended the Tyler sessions may train 
any West Valley Water District users not able to attend the Tyler sessions or additional sessions may be 
contracted at the applicable rates for training.   

RACI MATRIX KEY: R = Responsible A = Accountable C = Consulted I = Informed 

 

	 	

STAGE 4  End User Training 

  TYLER  CLIENT 

 TASKS 

  Ty
le
r 
Ex
ec
u
ti
ve
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
Im

p
le
m
en

ta
ti
o
n
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
Im

p
le
m
en

ta
ti
o
n
 C
o
n
su
lt
an

t 

Ty
le
r 
D
at
a 
C
o
n
ve
rs
io
n
 E
xp
er
ts
 

Ty
le
r 
Fo
rm

s 
&
 R
ep

o
rt
s 
Ex
p
er
ts
 

Ty
le
r 
M
o
d
if
ic
at
io
n
 P
ro
gr
am

m
er
s 

Ty
le
r 
Te
ch
n
ic
al
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 

Ty
le
r 
Sa
le
s 

C
lie
n
t 
Ex
ec
u
ti
ve
 S
p
o
n
so
r 

C
lie
n
t 
St
ee

ri
n
g 
C
o
m
m
it
te
e 

C
lie
n
t 
P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
 

C
lie
n
t 
Fu
n
ct
io
n
al
 L
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
C
h
an

ge
 M

an
ag
em

en
t 
Le
ad

s 

C
lie
n
t 
P
o
w
er
 U
se
rs
 

C
lie
n
t 
D
ep

ar
tm

en
t 
H
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
En

d
 U
se
rs
 

C
lie
n
t 
Te
ch
n
ic
al
 L
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
P
ro
je
ct
 T
o
o
ls
et
 C
o
o
rd
in
at
o
r 

C
lie
n
t 
U
p
gr
ad

e 
C
o
o
rd
in
at
o
r 

Conduct user training sessions        A R                      C I    I  I    I  I    

Conduct additional End User training 

sessions  
       I                       I  A C I  R  I  I  I  I    

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 113

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 238



 

39 / 58 
 

4.5.4 Control Point 4: Final Testing & Training Stage Acceptance 

Acceptance criteria for this Stage includes all criteria listed below. Advancement to the Production 
Cutover Stage is dependent upon Tyler’s receipt of the Stage Acceptance. 

4.5.4.1 Final Testing & Training Stage Deliverables 

 Production Cutover checklist 

o Objective: Provide a detailed checklist outlining tasks necessary for production Cutover. 
o Scope: Dates for final conversion, date(s) to cease system processing in Legacy System, 

date(s) for first processing in Tyler system, contingency plan for processing. 
o Acceptance criteria: Definition of all pre‐production tasks, assignment of owners and 

establishment of due dates. 

 User Acceptance Test Plan 

o Objective: Provide testing steps to guide users through testing business processes in Tyler 
software. 

o Scope: Testing steps for Standard business processes. 
o Acceptance criteria: Testing steps have been provided for Standard business processes. 

4.5.4.2 Final Testing & Training Stage Acceptance Criteria 

 Production Cutover Checklist delivered and reviewed. 

 Modification(s) tested and accepted, if applicable. 

 Standard 3rd party Data Exchange programs tested and accepted. 

 Standard Forms & Reports tested and accepted. 

 User acceptance testing completed. 

 End User training completed. 

   

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 114

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 239



 

40 / 58 
 

4.6 Production Cutover (Stage 5) 

West Valley Water District and Tyler resources complete tasks as outlined in the Production Cutover Plan 
and the West Valley Water District begins processing day‐to‐day business transactions in the Tyler 
software. Following Production Cutover, the West Valley Water District transitions to the Tyler support 
team for ongoing support of the Application.  

4.6.1 Final Data Conversion, if applicable 

The West Valley Water District provides final data extract and Reports from the Legacy System for data 
conversion and Tyler executes final data conversion. The West Valley Water District may need to 
manually enter into the Tyler system any data added to the Legacy System after final data extract.  

RACI MATRIX KEY: R = Responsible A = Accountable C = Consulted I = Informed 

 

   

STAGE 5  Final Data Conversion, if applicable 

  TYLER  CLIENT 

 TASKS 

  Ty
le
r 
Ex
ec
u
ti
ve
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
Im

p
le
m
en

ta
ti
o
n
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
Im

p
le
m
en

ta
ti
o
n
 C
o
n
su
lt
an

t 

Ty
le
r 
D
at
a 
C
o
n
ve
rs
io
n
 E
xp
er
ts
 

Ty
le
r 
Fo
rm

s 
&
 R
ep

o
rt
s 
Ex
p
er
ts
 

Ty
le
r 
M
o
d
if
ic
at
io
n
 P
ro
gr
am

m
er
s 

Ty
le
r 
Te
ch
n
ic
al
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 

Ty
le
r 
Sa
le
s 

C
lie
n
t 
Ex
ec
u
ti
ve
 S
p
o
n
so
r 

C
lie
n
t 
St
ee

ri
n
g 
C
o
m
m
it
te
e 

C
lie
n
t 
P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
 

C
lie
n
t 
Fu
n
ct
io
n
al
 L
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
C
h
an

ge
 M

an
ag
em

en
t 
Le
ad

s 

C
lie
n
t 
P
o
w
er
 U
se
rs
 

C
lie
n
t 
D
ep

ar
tm

en
t 
H
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
En

d
 U
se
rs
 

C
lie
n
t 
Te
ch
n
ic
al
 L
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
P
ro
je
ct
 T
o
o
ls
et
 C
o
o
rd
in
at
o
r 

C
lie
n
t 
U
p
gr
ad

e 
C
o
o
rd
in
at
o
r 

Provide final data extract         C    I                 I  A C I  I  I  I  R      

Provide final extract balancing 

Reports 
    I    I              A C   R      I     

Convert and deliver final pass of 

data 
   A I  I  R               I   I      I         C      

Validate final pass of data      I  C C           I  A C   R      C    

Load final conversion pass to 

Production environment 
    I    I                 I  A C I  C        R      

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 115

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 240



 

41 / 58 
 

4.6.2 Production Processing & Assistance 

Tyler staff collaborates with the West Valley Water District during Production Cutover activities. The West 
Valley Water District transitions to Tyler software for day‐to day business processing.  

RACI MATRIX KEY: R = Responsible A = Accountable C = Consulted I = Informed 

 

   

STAGE 5  Production Processing & Assistance 

  TYLER  CLIENT 

 TASKS 

  Ty
le
r 
Ex
ec
u
ti
ve
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
Im

p
le
m
en

ta
ti
o
n
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
Im

p
le
m
en

ta
ti
o
n
 C
o
n
su
lt
an

t 

Ty
le
r 
D
at
a 
C
o
n
ve
rs
io
n
 E
xp
er
ts
 

Ty
le
r 
Fo
rm

s 
&
 R
ep

o
rt
s 
Ex
p
er
ts
 

Ty
le
r 
M
o
d
if
ic
at
io
n
 P
ro
gr
am

m
er
s 

Ty
le
r 
Te
ch
n
ic
al
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 

Ty
le
r 
Sa
le
s 

C
lie
n
t 
Ex
ec
u
ti
ve
 S
p
o
n
so
r 

C
lie
n
t 
St
ee

ri
n
g 
C
o
m
m
it
te
e 

C
lie
n
t 
P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
 

C
lie
n
t 
Fu
n
ct
io
n
al
 L
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
C
h
an

ge
 M

an
ag
em

en
t 
Le
ad

s 

C
lie
n
t 
P
o
w
er
 U
se
rs
 

C
lie
n
t 
D
ep

ar
tm

en
t 
H
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
En

d
 U
se
rs
 

C
lie
n
t 
Te
ch
n
ic
al
 L
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
P
ro
je
ct
 T
o
o
ls
et
 C
o
o
rd
in
at
o
r 

C
lie
n
t 
U
p
gr
ad

e 
C
o
o
rd
in
at
o
r 

Production processing        C C                I  I  A R R  R  R  R  R I  I 

Provide production assistance         A R       C           I  C C  C  C  C  C      

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 116

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 241



 

42 / 58 
 

4.6.3 Transition to Tyler Support 

Tyler project manager(s) introduce the West Valley Water District to the Tyler Support team, who 
provides the West Valley Water District with day‐to‐day assistance following Production Cutover. 

RACI MATRIX KEY: R = Responsible A = Accountable C = Consulted I = Informed 

 

 

   

STAGE 5  Transition to Tyler Support 

  TYLER  CLIENT 

 TASKS 

  Ty
le
r 
Ex
ec
u
ti
ve
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
Im

p
le
m
en

ta
ti
o
n
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
Im

p
le
m
en

ta
ti
o
n
 C
o
n
su
lt
an

t 

Ty
le
r 
D
at
a 
C
o
n
ve
rs
io
n
 E
xp
er
ts
 

Ty
le
r 
Fo
rm

s 
&
 R
ep

o
rt
s 
Ex
p
er
ts
 

Ty
le
r 
M
o
d
if
ic
at
io
n
 P
ro
gr
am

m
er
s 

Ty
le
r 
Te
ch
n
ic
al
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 

Ty
le
r 
Sa
le
s 

C
lie
n
t 
Ex
ec
u
ti
ve
 S
p
o
n
so
r 

C
lie
n
t 
St
ee

ri
n
g 
C
o
m
m
it
te
e 

C
lie
n
t 
P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
 

C
lie
n
t 
Fu
n
ct
io
n
al
 L
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
C
h
an

ge
 M

an
ag
em

en
t 
Le
ad

s 

C
lie
n
t 
P
o
w
er
 U
se
rs
 

C
lie
n
t 
D
ep

ar
tm

en
t 
H
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
En

d
 U
se
rs
 

C
lie
n
t 
Te
ch
n
ic
al
 L
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
P
ro
je
ct
 T
o
o
ls
et
 C
o
o
rd
in
at
o
r 

C
lie
n
t 
U
p
gr
ad

e 
C
o
o
rd
in
at
o
r 

Develop internal support plan         I                       A R C C  C  C     C C C

Conduct transfer to Support 

meeting 
A  I  C         R          C C C  C  I  I  C I  I 

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 117

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 242



 

43 / 58 
 

4.6.4 Schedule Post‐Production Services, if applicable 

Tyler provides post‐production services if included in the Agreement. Prior to scheduling services, the 
Tyler project manager(s) collaborate with West Valley Water District project manager(s) to identify needs. 

RACI MATRIX KEY: R = Responsible A = Accountable C = Consulted I = Informed 

 

   

STAGE 5  Schedule Post‐Production Services, if applicable 

  TYLER  CLIENT 

 TASKS 

  Ty
le
r 
Ex
ec
u
ti
ve
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
Im

p
le
m
en

ta
ti
o
n
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
Im

p
le
m
en

ta
ti
o
n
 C
o
n
su
lt
an

t 

Ty
le
r 
D
at
a 
C
o
n
ve
rs
io
n
 E
xp
er
ts
 

Ty
le
r 
Fo
rm

s 
&
 R
ep

o
rt
s 
Ex
p
er
ts
 

Ty
le
r 
M
o
d
if
ic
at
io
n
 P
ro
gr
am

m
er
s 

Ty
le
r 
Te
ch
n
ic
al
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 

Ty
le
r 
Sa
le
s 

C
lie
n
t 
Ex
ec
u
ti
ve
 S
p
o
n
so
r 

C
lie
n
t 
St
ee

ri
n
g 
C
o
m
m
it
te
e 

C
lie
n
t 
P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
 

C
lie
n
t 
Fu
n
ct
io
n
al
 L
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
C
h
an

ge
 M

an
ag
em

en
t 
Le
ad

s 

C
lie
n
t 
P
o
w
er
 U
se
rs
 

C
lie
n
t 
D
ep

ar
tm

en
t 
H
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
En

d
 U
se
rs
 

C
lie
n
t 
Te
ch
n
ic
al
 L
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
P
ro
je
ct
 T
o
o
ls
et
 C
o
o
rd
in
at
o
r 

C
lie
n
t 
U
p
gr
ad

e 
C
o
o
rd
in
at
o
r 

Identify topics for post‐production 

services 
     C C                      A R I  C           I    

Schedule services for post‐

production topics 
   A R I                        C C I  C           I    

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 118

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 243



 

44 / 58 
 

4.6.5 Control Point 5: Production Cutover Stage Acceptance 

Acceptance criteria for this Stage includes all criteria listed below. Advancement to the Phase/Project 
Closure Stage is dependent upon Tyler’s receipt of this Stage Acceptance. 

4.6.5.1 Production Cutover Stage Deliverables 

 Final data conversion, if applicable 

o Objective: Ensure (in Scope) Legacy System data is available in Tyler software in 
preparation for production processing. 

o Scope: Final passes of all conversions completed in this Phase. 
o Acceptance criteria: Data is available in production environment. 

 Support transition documents 

o Objective: Define strategy for on‐going Tyler support. 
o Scope: Define support strategy for day‐to‐day processing, conference call with West 

Valley Water District Project Manager(s) and Tyler support team, define roles and 
responsibilities, define methods for contacting support. 

o Acceptance criteria: the West Valley Water District receives tools to contact support and 
understands proper support procedures. 

4.6.5.2 Production Cutover Stage Acceptance Criteria 

 Final data conversion(s) delivered. 

 Processing is being done in Tyler production. 

 Transition to Tyler support is completed. 

 Post‐live services have been scheduled, if applicable. 

   

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 119

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 244



 

45 / 58 
 

4.7 Phase/Project Closure (Stage 6) 

Project or Phase closure signifies full implementation of all products purchased and encompassed in the 
Phase or Project. The West Valley Water District moves into the next cycle of their relationship with Tyler 
(next Phase of implementation or long‐term relationship with Tyler Support). 

4.7.1 Close Phase/Project 

The West Valley Water District and Tyler project manager(s) review the list of outstanding Project 
activities and develop a plan to address them. The Tyler project manager(s) review the Project budget 
and status of each contract Deliverable with the West Valley Water District project manager(s) prior to 
closing the Phase or Project.  

RACI MATRIX KEY: R = Responsible A = Accountable C = Consulted I = Informed 

 

 

   

STAGE 6  Close Phase/Project 

  TYLER  CLIENT 

 TASKS 

  Ty
le
r 
Ex
ec
u
ti
ve
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
Im

p
le
m
en

ta
ti
o
n
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
 

Ty
le
r 
Im

p
le
m
en

ta
ti
o
n
 C
o
n
su
lt
an

t 

Ty
le
r 
D
at
a 
C
o
n
ve
rs
io
n
 E
xp
er
ts
 

Ty
le
r 
Fo
rm

s 
&
 R
ep

o
rt
s 
Ex
p
er
ts
 

Ty
le
r 
M
o
d
if
ic
at
io
n
 P
ro
gr
am

m
er
s 

Ty
le
r 
Te
ch
n
ic
al
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 

Ty
le
r 
Sa
le
s 

C
lie
n
t 
Ex
ec
u
ti
ve
 S
p
o
n
so
r 

C
lie
n
t 
St
ee

ri
n
g 
C
o
m
m
it
te
e 

C
lie
n
t 
P
ro
je
ct
 M

an
ag
er
 

C
lie
n
t 
Fu
n
ct
io
n
al
 L
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
C
h
an

ge
 M

an
ag
em

en
t 
Le
ad

s 

C
lie
n
t 
P
o
w
er
 U
se
rs
 

C
lie
n
t 
D
ep

ar
tm

en
t 
H
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
En

d
 U
se
rs
 

C
lie
n
t 
Te
ch
n
ic
al
 L
ea
d
s 

C
lie
n
t 
P
ro
je
ct
 T
o
o
ls
et
 C
o
o
rd
in
at
o
r 

C
lie
n
t 
U
p
gr
ad

e 
C
o
o
rd
in
at
o
r 

Review outstanding Project activities 

and develop action plan 
   A R C                      C C I  C  I     C      

Review Project budget and status of 

contract Deliverables 
   A R                   I  I  C                        

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 120

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 245



 

46 / 58 
 

4.7.2 Control Point 6: Phase/Project Closure Stage Acceptance 

Acceptance criteria for this Stage includes all criteria listed below. This is the final acceptance for the 
Phase/Project. 

4.7.2.1 Phase/Project Closure Stage Deliverables 

 Phase/Project reconciliation report 

o Objective: Provide comparison of contract Scope and Project budget. 
o Scope: Contract Scope versus actual, analysis of services provided and remaining budget, 

identify any necessary Change Requests or Project activity. 
o Acceptance criteria: Acceptance of services and budget analysis and plan for changes, if 

needed. 

4.7.2.2 Phase/Project Closure Stage Acceptance Criteria 

 Outstanding Phase or Project activities have been documented and assigned. 

 Phase/final Project budget has been reconciled. 

 Tyler Deliverables for the Phase/Project are complete. 
   

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 121

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 246



 

47 / 58 
 

5 Roles and Responsibilities 

5.1 Tyler Roles and Responsibilities 

Tyler assigns project manager(s) prior to the start of each Phase of the Project. The project manager(s) 
assign additional Tyler resources as the schedule develops and as needs arise. One person may fill 
multiple project roles. 

5.1.1 Tyler Executive Management 

 Provides clear direction for Tyler staff on executing on the Project Deliverables to align with 
satisfying the West Valley Water District’s overall organizational strategy. 

 Authorizes required project resources. 

 Resolves all decisions and/or issues not resolved at the implementation management level as part 
of the escalation process. 

 Offers additional support to the project team and is able to work with other Tyler department 
managers in order to escalate and facilitate implementation project tasks and decisions. 

 Acts as the counterpart to the West Valley Water District’s executive sponsor. 

5.1.2 Tyler Implementation Management 

 Acts as the counterpart to the West Valley Water District steering committee. 

 Assigns initial Tyler project personnel. 

 Works to resolve all decisions and/or issues not resolved at the Project Management level as part 
of the escalation process. 

 Attends West Valley Water District steering committee meetings as  necessary. 

 Provides support for the project team. 

 Provides management support for the Project to ensure it is staffed appropriately and staff have 
necessary resources. 

 Monitors project progress including progress towards agreed upon goals and objectives. 

5.1.3 Tyler Project Manager 

The Tyler project manager(s) provides oversight of the Project, coordination of resources between 
departments, management of the project budget and schedule, effective risk and issue management, and 
is the primary point of contact for all Project related items. 

 Contract Management 

o Validates contract compliance throughout the Project. 
o Ensures Deliverables meet contract requirements. 
o Acts as primary point of contact for all contract and invoicing questions. 
o Prepares and presents contract milestone sign‐offs for acceptance by West Valley Water 

District project manager(s). 
o Coordinates Change Requests, if needed, to ensure proper Scope and budgetary compliance. 

 Planning 

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 122

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 247



 

48 / 58 
 

o Update and deliver Implementation Management Plan. 
o Defines project tasks and resource requirements. 
o Develops initial project schedule and full scale Project Plan . 
o Collaborates with West Valley Water District project manager(s) to plan and schedule project 

timelines to achieve on‐time implementation. 

 Implementation Management 

o Tightly manages Scope and budget of Project; establishes process and approval matrix with 
the West Valley Water District to ensure Scope changes and budget planned versus actual are 
transparent and handled effectively and efficiently. 

o Establishes and manages a schedule and resource plan that properly supports the Project 
Plan that is also in balance with Scope/budget. 

o Establishes risk/issue tracking/reporting process between the West Valley Water District and 
Tyler and takes all necessary steps to proactively mitigate these items or communicates with 
transparency to the West Valley Water District any items that may impact the outcomes of 
the Project.  

o Collaborates with the West Valley Water District’s project manager(s) to establish key 
business drivers and success indicators that will help to govern project activities and key 
decisions to ensure a quality outcome of the project. 

o Sets a routine communication plan that will aide all project team members, of both the West 
Valley Water District and Tyler, in understanding the goals, objectives, current status and 
health of the project. 

 Team Management 

o Acts as liaison between project team and Tyler manager(s). 
o Identifies and coordinates all Tyler resources across all applications, Phases, and activities 

including development, forms, installation, reports, implementation, and billing. 
o Provides direction and support to project team. 
o Builds partnerships among the various stakeholders, negotiating authority to move the 

Project forward. 
o Manages the appropriate assignment and timely completion of tasks as defined in the Project 

Plan, task list, and Production Cutover Checklist. 
o Assesses team performance and adjusts as necessary. 
o Interfaces closely with Tyler developers to coordinate program Modification activities. 
o Coordinates with in Scope 3rd party providers to align activities with ongoing project tasks. 

5.1.4 Tyler Implementation Consultant 

 Completes tasks as assigned by the Tyler project manager(s). 

 Performs problem solving and troubleshooting. 

 Follows up on issues identified during sessions. 

 Documents activities for on site services performed by Tyler. 

 Provides conversion Validation and error resolution assistance. 

 Recommends guidance for testing Forms and Reports. 

 Tests software functionality with the West Valley Water District following configuration. 

 Assists during Production Cutover process and provides production support until the West Valley 
Water District transitions to Tyler Support. 

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 123

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 248



 

49 / 58 
 

 Provides product related education. 

 Effectively facilitates training sessions and discussions with West Valley Water District and Tyler 
staff to ensure adequate discussion of the appropriate agenda topics during the allotted time. 

 Conducts training (configuration, process, conversion Validation) for Power Users and the West 
Valley Water District’s designated trainers for End Users. 

 Clearly documents homework tasks with specific due dates and owners, supporting and 
reconciling with the final Project Plan. 

 Keeps Tyler project manager(s) proactively apprised of any and all issues which may result in the 
need for additional training, change in schedule, change in process decisions, or which have the 
potential to adversely impact the success of the Project prior to taking action. 

5.1.5 Tyler Sales 

 Provide sales background information to Implementation during Project initiation. 

 Support Sales transition to Implementation. 

 Provide historical information, as needed, throughout implementation. 

5.1.6 Tyler Software Support 

 Manages incoming client issues via phone, email, and online customer incident portal. 

 Documents and prioritizes issues in Tyler’s Customer Relationship Management (CRM) system. 

 Provides issue analysis and general product guidance. 

 Tracks issues and tickets to timely and effective resolution. 

 Identifies options for resolving reported issues. 

 Reports and escalates defects to Tyler Development. 

 Communicates with the West Valley Water District on the status and resolution of reported 
issues. 

5.1.7   Tyler Basic Network Support  

 Manages incoming West Valley Water District issues via phone, email, online customer incident 
portal, and from Software Support. 

 Provides system support including remote support of West Valley Water District systems, 
operating systems, network and local printing, and SQL assistance for the systems and platform 
directly attributable to the Tyler Applications. 

 Tracks issues and tickets to timely and effective resolution. 

 Determine root cause and provide solutions or provide direction/escalation to Tyler 
Development. 

 Consult on pre‐sales in regards to system requirements.  

5.1.8 Tyler Disaster Recovery Support  

 Conduct and monitor nighltly backups of West Valley Water District databases at hosting facility, 
transfer nighly backups to Tylers data center. 

 Provides services to host Application in the event of a disaster. 

 Provides 24 hour RPO – Recover Point Objective. 

 Provides emergency response within 2 business hours 

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 124

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 249



 

50 / 58 
 

 Ensure Tyler Application availability within 8 business hours. 

 Provide one annual disaster planning walkthrough.  

5.2 West Valley Water District Roles and Responsibilities 

West Valley Water District resources will be assigned prior to the start of each Phase of the project.  One 
person may be assigned to multiple project roles. 

5.2.1 West Valley Water District Executive Sponsor 

 Provides clear direction for the Project and how the Project applies to the organization’s overall 
strategy. 

 Champions the Project at the executive level to secure buy‐in. 

 Authorizes required Project resources. 

 Resolves all decisions and/or issues not resolved at the West Valley Water District steering 
committee level as part of the escalation process. 

 Actively participates in organizational change communications. 

5.2.2 West Valley Water District Steering Committee 

 Works to resolve all decisions and/or issues not resolved at the project manager level as part of 
the escalation process. 

 Attends all scheduled steering committee meetings. 

 Provides support for the project team. 

 Assists with communicating key project messages throughout the organization. 

 Prioritizes the project within the organization. 

 Provides management support for the project to ensure it is staffed appropriately and staff have 
necessary resources. 

 Monitors project progress including progress towards agreed upon goals and objectives. 

 Has the authority to approve or deny changes impacting the following areas: 

o Cost 
o Scope 
o Schedule 
o Project Goals 
o West Valley Water District Policies 

5.2.3 West Valley Water District Project Manager 

The West Valley Water District shall assign project manager(s) prior to the start of this Project with overall 
responsibility and authority to make decisions related to project Scope, scheduling, and task assignment, 
and communicates decisions and commitments to the Tyler project manager(s) in a timely and efficient 
manner. When the West Valley Water District project manager(s) do not have the knowledge or authority 
to make decisions, he or she engages the correct resources from West Valley Water District to participate 
in discussions and make decisions in a timely fashion to avoid Project delays. 

 Contract Management 

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 125

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 250



 

51 / 58 
 

o Validates contract compliance throughout the Project. 
o Ensures invoicing and Deliverables meet contract requirements. 
o Acts as primary point of contact for all contract and invoicing questions. 
o Signs off on contract milestone acknowledgment documents. 
o Collaborates on and approves Change Requests, if needed, to ensure proper Scope and 

budgetary compliance. 

 Planning 

o Review and acknowledge Implementation Management Plan. 
o Defines project tasks and resource requirements for West Valley Water District project team. 
o Collaborates in the development and approval of the initial Project Plan and Project Plan. 
o Collaborates with Tyler project manager(s) to plan and schedule Project timelines to achieve 

on‐time implementation. 

 Implementation Management 

o Tightly manages Project budget and Scope and collaborates with Tyler project manager(s) to 
establish a process and approval matrix to ensure Scope changes and budget planned versus 
actual are transparent and handled effectively and efficiently. 

o Collaborates with Tyler project manager to establish and manage a schedule and resource 
plan that properly supports the Project Plan, as a whole, that is also in balance with 
Scope/budget. 

o Collaborates with Tyler Project manager(s) to establishes risk/issue tracking/reporting 
process between the West Valley Water District and Tyler and takes all necessary steps to 
proactively mitigate these items or communicates with transparency to Tyler any items that 
may impact the outcomes of the Project. 

o Collaborates with Tyler Project manager(s) to establish key business drivers and success 
indicators that will help to govern Project activities and key decisions to ensure a quality 
outcome of the Project. 

o Routinely communicates with both West Valley Water District staff and Tyler, aiding in the 
understanding of goals, objectives, current status, and health of the Project by all team 
members. 

 Team Management 

o Acts as liaison between project team and stakeholders. 
o Identifies and coordinates all West Valley Water District resources across all modules, Phases, 

and activities including data conversions, forms design, hardware and software installation, 
reports building, and satisfying invoices. 

o Provides direction and support to project team. 
o Builds partnerships among the various stakeholders, negotiating authority to move the 

Project forward. 
o Manages the appropriate assignment and timely completion of tasks as defined in the Project 

Plan, task list, and Production Cutover Checklist. 
o Assesses team performance and takes corrective action, if needed. 
o Provides guidance to West Valley Water District technical teams to ensure appropriate 

response and collaboration with Tyler Technical Support Teams to ensure timely response 
and appropriate resolution. 

o Coordinates in Scope 3rd party providers to align activities with ongoing Project tasks. 

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 126

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 251



 

52 / 58 
 

5.2.4 West Valley Water District Functional Leads 

 Makes business process change decisions under time sensitive conditions. 

 Communicates existing business processes and procedures to Tyler consultants. 

 Assists in identifying business process changes that may require escalation. 

 Attends and contributes business process expertise for current/future state analysis sessions. 

 Identifies and includes additional subject matter experts to participate in Current/Future State 
Analysis sessions. 

 Provides business process change support during Power User and End User training. 

 Completes performance tracking review with client project team on End User competency on 
trained topics. 

 Provides Power and End Users with dedicated time to complete required homework tasks. 

 Act as an ambassador/champion of change for the new process. 

 Identifies and communicates any additional training needs or scheduling conflicts to West Valley 
Water District project manager. 

 Prepares and Validates Forms. 

 Actively  participates in all aspects of the implementation, including, but not limited to, the 
following key activities: 

o Task completion 
o Stakeholder Presentation 
o Implementation Management Plan development 
o Schedule development 
o Maintenance and monitoring of risk register 
o Escalation of issues 
o Communication with Tyler project team 
o Coordination of West Valley Water District resources  
o Attendance at scheduled sessions  
o Change Management activities 
o Modification specification, demonstrations, testing and approval assistance 
o Conversion Analysis and Verification Assistance 
o Decentralized End User Training 
o Process Testing 
o User Acceptance Testing 

5.2.5 West Valley Water District Power Users 

 Participate in Project activities as required by the project team and project manager(s). 

 Provide subject matter expertise on West Valley Water District business processes and 
requirements. 

 Act as subject matter experts and attend current/future state and validation sessions as needed. 

 Attend all scheduled training sessions. 

 Participate in all required post‐training processes as needed throughout Project. 

 Participate in Conversion Validation. 

 Test all Application configuration to ensure it satisfies business process requirements. 

 Become Application experts. 

 Participate in User Acceptance Testing. 

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 127

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 252



 

53 / 58 
 

 Adopt and support changed procedures. 

 Complete all Deliverables by the due dates defined in the Project Plan. 

 Demonstrate competency with Tyler products processing prior to Production Cutover. 

 Provide knowledge transfer to West Valley Water District staff during and after implementation. 

5.2.6 West Valley Water District End Users 

 Attend all scheduled training sessions. 

 Become proficient in Application functions related to job duties. 

 Adopt and utilize changed procedures. 

 Complete all Deliverables by the due dates defined in the Project Plan. 

 Utilize software to perform job functions at and beyond Production Cutover. 

5.2.7 West Valley Water District Technical Support 

 Coordinates updates and releases with Tyler as needed. 

 Coordinates the copying of source databases to training/testing databases as needed for training 
days. 

 Extracts and transmits conversion data and control reports from West Valley Water District’s 
Legacy System per the conversion schedule set forth in the Project Plan. 

 Coordinates and adds new users and printers and other Peripherals as needed. 

 Validates all users understand log‐on process and have necessary permission for all training 
sessions. 

 Coordinates Interface development for West Valley Water District third party Data Exchanges. 

 Develops or assists in creating Reports as needed. 

 Ensures onsite system hardware meets specifications provided by Tyler. 

 Assists with software Installation as needed. 

5.2.8 West Valley Water District Upgrade Coordinator 

 Becomes familiar with the Software Upgrade process and required steps. 

 Becomes familiar with Tyler’s releases and updates. 

 Utilizes Tyler Community to stay abreast of the latest Tyler releases and updates, as well as the 
latest helpful tools to manage the West Valley Water District’s Software Upgrade process. 

 Assists with the Software Upgrade process during implementation. 

 Manages Software Upgrade activities post‐implementation. 

 Manages Software Upgrade plan activities. 

 Coordinates Software Upgrade plan activities with West Valley Water District and Tyler resources. 

 Communicates changes affecting users and department stakeholders. 

 Obtains department stakeholder sign‐offs to upgrade production environment. 

5.2.9 West Valley Water District Project Toolset Coordinator 

 Ensures users have appropriate access to Tyler project toolsets such as Tyler University, Tyler 
Community, Tyler Product Knowledgebase, SharePoint, etc. 

 Conducts training on proper use of toolsets. 

 Validates completion of required assignments using toolsets. 

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 128

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 253



 

54 / 58 
 

5.2.10 West Valley Water District Change Management Lead 

 Validates users receive timely and thorough communication regarding process changes. 

 Provides coaching to supervisors to prepare them to support users through the project changes. 

 Identifies the impact areas resulting from project activities and develops a plan to address them 
proactively. 

 Identifies areas of resistance and develops a plan to reinforce the change. 

 Monitors post‐production performance and new process adherence. 
 
   

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 129

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 254



 

55 / 58 
 

6 Glossary 

Word or Term  Definition 

Accountable  The person who is ultimately accountable for decisions being made on 
a task. 

Application  A computer program designed to perform a group of coordinated 
functions, tasks or activities for the benefit of the user. 

Build Blueprint  A document recording future state decisions intended to allow Tyler to 
satisfy business needs/requirements during the Build & Validate Stage 
through configuration and setups to develop the final solution. A means 
for the West Valley Water District to Validate what was agreed to be in 
Scope has been Delivered. 

Business Requirements 
Document 

A specification document used to describe West Valley Water District 
requirements not available through Tyler software functionality, which 
will lead to a Modification with West Valley Water District acceptance. 

Change Control  A systematic approach for managing change governing how Change 
Requests will be received, assessed and acted on.  

Change Management  An approach for ensuring that changes are thoroughly and smoothly 
implemented and that the lasting benefits of change are achieved. The 
focus is on the global impact of change with an intense focus on people 
and how individuals and teams move from the current situation to the 
new one.  

Change Request  A form used as part of the Change Control process whereby changes in 
the Scope of work, timeline, resources, and/or budget are revised and 
agreed upon by participating parties.  

Consulted  Anyone who must be consulted with prior to a decision being made 
and/or the task being completed 

Consumables  Items that are used on a recurring basis, usually by Peripherals. 
Examples: paper stock or scanner cleaning kits. 

Control Point  Occurring at the end of each Stage, the Control Point serves as a formal 
client review point. Project progress cannot continue until the client 
acknowledges the agreed upon Deliverables of the Stage have been 
met, or agree on an action plan to make the Deliverable acceptable and 
move to next Stage while executing final steps of current Stage. 

Data Exchange  A term used to reference Imports and Exports, and Interfaces which 
allow data to be exchanged between an external system and Tyler 
software. 

Data Mapping  The process of mapping fields from the Legacy System to the 
appropriate location in the new system from one or more sources. 

Deliverable  A tangible or intangible object/document produced as a result of the 
Project that is intended to be delivered to a client (either internal or 
external) or vendor at a specific time. 

End User  The person for whom the software is designed to use on a day‐to‐day 
basis. 

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 130

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 255



 

56 / 58 
 

Forms  A document which is typically printed on a template background and 
only captures data for one record per page. Forms are provided to 
entity customers whether internal (employees) or external (citizens). 

Imports and Exports  A process within the system that a user is expected to run to consume 
(Import) or produce (Export) a specifically defined file format/layout. 

Informed  Anyone who will be updated when decisions are made or a task is 
completed. 

Install  References the initial Installation of software files on client servers and 
preparing the software for use during configuration. The version 
currently available for general release will always be used during the 
initial Install. 

Interface  A real‐time or automated exchange of data between two systems. 

Legacy System  The system from which a client is converting. 

Modification  Modification of software program package to provide individual client 
requirements documented within the Scope of the Agreement. 

Peripherals  An auxiliary device that connects to and works with the computer in 
some way. Examples: mouse, keyboard, scanner, external drive, 
microphone, speaker, webcam, and digital camera. 

Phase  A portion of the Project in which specific set of related products are 
typically implemented. Phases each have an independent start, 
Production Cutover and closure dates but use the same 
Implementation Plans as other Phases within the Project. Phases may 
overlap or be sequential and may have the same Tyler project manager 
and Tyler project team or different individuals assigned. 

Power User  An experienced client person or group who is (are) an expert(s) in the 
client business processes, as well as knowledgeable in the requirements 
and acceptance criteria. 

Production Cutover  The West Valley Water District is using the Tyler software to conduct 
daily operations. 

Project  The Project includes all implementation activity from Plan & Initiate to 
Closure for all products, Applications and functionality included in a 
single Agreement. The Project may be broken down into multiple 
Phases. 

Project Plan  The Project Plan serves as the master roadmap for the Project. The 
Project Plan will be the detailed task list of the essential activities to be 
performed to complete the Project. Each activity will have owner(s), 
participant(s) if applicable, start date, and due dates. The Project Plan is 
a living document and will be updated quarterly with the detailed tasks 
for the next future quarter; only high‐level tasks with rough timeframes 
will be plotted out beyond this. 

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 131

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 256



 

57 / 58 
 

Project Planning Meeting  Occurs during the Plan & Initiate Stage to coordinate with the Client 
project manager to discuss Scope, information needed for project 
scheduling and resources. 

RACI  A chart describing level of participation by various roles in completing 
tasks or Deliverables for a Project or process. Also known as a 
responsibility assignment matrix (RAM) or linear responsibility chart 
(LRC). 

Reports  Formatted to return information related to multiple records in a 
structured format. Information is typically presented in both detail and 
summary form for a user to consume.  

Responsible  The person who will be completing the task. 

Scope  Products and services that are included in the Agreement. 

Software Upgrade  References the act of updating software files to a newer software 
release.  

Stage  The top‐level components of the WBS. Each Stage is repeated for 
individual Phases of the Project and requires acknowledgement before 
continuing to the next Stage. Some tasks in the next Stage may begin 
before the prior Stage is complete. 

Stakeholder Presentation  Representatives of the Tyler implementation team will meet with key 
client representatives to present high level Project expectations and 
outline how Tyler and the Client can successfully partner to create an 
environment for a successful implementation.   

Standard  Included in the base software (out of the box) package. 

Statement of Work (SOW)  Document which will provide supporting detail to the Agreement 
defining Project ‐specific activities and Deliverables Tyler will provide to 
the client. 

Validation (or to validate)  The process of testing and approving that a specific Deliverable, 
process, program or product is working as expected. 

Work Breakdown Structure 
(WBS) 

A hierarchical representation of a Project or Phase broken down into 
smaller, more manageable components. 

 

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 132

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 257



 

58 / 58 
 

7 Incode 10 Conversion Summary 

7.1 General Ledger – Chart of Accounts 

 Full chart of accounts listing, descriptions, and corresponding account types 

 Element (segment) values and descriptions 

7.2 General Ledger – Legacy/Historical Views 

 Unlimited historical transactions provided by client can be converted by Tyler into historical views 

7.3 Accounts Payable – Vendor Master 

 Vendor master information, address, primary contact, and notes 

7.4 Accounts Payable – Legacy/Historical Views 

 Unlimited historical transactions provided by client can be converted by Tyler into historical views 

7.5 Personnel Management/Payroll ‐ Standard 

 Basic employee information – employee master, address, primary contact, dates, phone 
numbers, dependents, notes 

 Current direct deposit bank information 

 Federal and state tax withholding information 

7.6 Personnel Management/Payroll – Legacy/Historical Views 

 Unlimited historical transactions provided by client can be converted by Tyler into historical views 

7.7 Utility Billing ‐ Standard 

 Utility Contact Information   

 Utility Mailing and Billing Addresses 

 Utility Parcels 

 Account Master ‐ (Average monthly payment, deposits, bank drafts, comments/notes) 

 Meters/Services 

 Transaction History – Includes current year plus one prior year 

 Read History 

7.8 Utility Billing – Legacy/Historical Views 

 Unlimited historical transactions provided by client can be converted by Tyler into historical views 

 

3.2.a

Packet Pg. 133

1.5.a

Packet Pg. 258



 

Attachment B 

1.5.b

Packet Pg. 259



DocuSign Envelope ID: 89D104A5-522E-47C9-A7EE-C218E461ECBD
1.5.b

Packet Pg. 260



 

Attachment C 

1.5.c

Packet Pg. 261



BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
STAFF REPORT 

 
DATE: August 5, 2019 

TO: Board of Directors 

 
 
BACKGROUND:  
 
WVWD has retained Tyler Technologies to implement an accounting program called InCode.  To 
reduce staff time, potential transposition errors and improve workflow, District staff has requested 
that InCode be integrated with Maximo.  Maximo will submit a purchase order requisition request 
and InCode will respond with an authorized purchase order.  The purchase order is used to track 
inventory and expenses associated with the project. 
 
 
DISCUSSION:  
 
The two software programs, InCode and Maximo are not designed to work with each other, which 
is not unusual.  Therefore, it is necessary to create a customized solution for this common task for 
both programs to allow them to communicate with each other.  This will ensure that staff is not 
entering the same data twice and it will significantly speed up the internal process to ensure that staff 
receives a purchase order in a timely manner. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
 
A change to the professional service contract with Tyler Technologies in the amount of $40,000.00.  
Staff previously negotiated a reduction in the contract with Tyler by removing the Work Order and 
Inventory control modules which are being provided by Maximo.  This reduced the contract with 
Tyler by $39,941.00 and an additional $6,119.00 for annual maintenance fees.  Therefore, the net 
change to the contract is $509.00, five hundred and nine dollars.  This is an un-budgeted expense to 
FY 19-20 to GL code W18035.  Staff will review the CIP at mid-year and determine an account to 
adjust to address the expense.   
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  
 
Staff recommends the Board of Directors authorize the General Manager to increase the existing 
professional service contract with Tyler Technologies in the not to exceed amount of $40,000.00, 
forty thousand dollars and the annual maintenance cost of $6,119.00, six thousand one hundred and 

FROM: Clarence Mansell Jr., General Manager 

SUBJECT: ASSET MANAGEMENT:  TYLER INCODE INTEGRATION WITH 
MAXIMO 

3.6

Packet Pg. 138

1.5.c

Packet Pg. 262



nineteen dollars for a net change of $509.00 five hundred and nine dollars, from the original Board 
approved contract. 
 
 
 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 

 
 

Clarence Mansell Jr, General Manager 

 
 
LRO 
 
ATTACHMENT(S): 

1. WVWD - Tyler Maximo integration SOW 07.05.19 

3.6

Packet Pg. 139

1.5.c

Packet Pg. 263



 

Scope of Work 

Objective: To provide software integration between Tyler’s Incode 10 product and the Maximo 

product, which West Valley Water District is implementing as their Inventory and Asset 

Management solution. Tyler has defined this work as shown in the section(s) below. 

 

High Level Specifications: The integration will feature the use of Application Programming 

Interface (API) technology, as well as certain elements that utilize existing Incode 10 export 

functionality that do not require API technology.  

 API will be utilized for the following: 

o Import & Create Requisitions from Maximo 

o Export Purchase Order information to Maximo 

o Import receipted Purchase Order information into Incode 10 

o NOTE: Data mapping and consultation process will occur between Tyler’s 

development team and RainTek team to solidify specific programming elements 

needed for integration. 

 Existing Export functionality will be utilized for the following: 

o *AP Vendors – One time export out of Tyler to establish vendor list in Maximo. 

As changes occur, client can re-export at any time on-demand. 

o *GL Codes/Accounts – One time export out of Tyler to establish GL codes and 

structure in Maximo. As changes occur, client can re-export at any time on-

demand. 

o *Payroll Labor coding – Export of key employee information from Incode: 

employee name, employee number, employee position, employee primary 

position default hourly rate. This can be done on-demand. 

o *NOTE: Client has agreed to start with the export options here and evaluate the 

frequency and effectiveness off export/import option. If needed, API technology 

can be used for this, but may result in an additional fee from the Tyler side. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.6.a

Packet Pg. 140

1.5.c

Packet Pg. 264



 

 

The visual directly below represents the common understanding of workflow between West 

Valley Water District, Tyler, and Maximo/RainTek staff as of 07.03.19: 

 

 

The information directly below represents the breakdown of services provided from Tyler in 

relation to this integration. 

 

*IF Additional time is needed beyond 

what is outlined here. It will be billed at 

T&M rate of $250/hr 

Import & Create Requisition from Maximo  

Basic functionality to create requisition 40 

Complex use cases 16 

Export PO to Maximo  

Issue PO Process 24 

PO Change, other use cases 8 

Import PO receipt information  

Receipt PO Process 40 

Complex use cases 16 

Integration Testing with Maximo 16 

3.6.a

Packet Pg. 141

1.5.c

Packet Pg. 265



  

Total  Hours 160 

Hourly Rate $                                             250.00  

Custom Programming Cost $                                       40,000.00  

Annual Maintenance $                                         6,119.00  

 

 

 

Proposal and Scope of Work Accepted By: 

 West Valley Water District 

 By: _______________________________ 

 Name: ____________________________ 

 Title: _____________________________ 

 Date: _____________________________ 

3.6.a

Packet Pg. 142

1.5.c

Packet Pg. 266


	Agenda Packet
	ROLL CALL
	Roll Call

	OPENING CEREMONIES
	Pledge of Allegiance
	Opening Prayer
	Call to Order
	Roll Call of Board Members

	ADOPT AGENDA
	PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
	I. BUSINESS MATTERS
	1. 2139 : PSA for Geoscience
	Printout: 2139 : PSA for Geoscience
	a. Exhibit A
	b. Exhibit B

	2. 2117 : PSA for Tom Dodson
	Printout: 2117 : PSA for Tom Dodson
	a. Exhibit A
	b. Exhibit B

	3. 2136 : Clinical Labs
	Printout: 2136 : Clinical Labs
	a. Exhibit A - Analytical Lab Services Agreement

	4. 2135 : UCMR 4 Monitoring
	Printout: 2135 : UCMR 4 Monitoring
	a. Exhibit A - UCMR4 Testing Agreement

	5. 2134 : Tyler Technologies - Incode 10 ERP
	Printout: 2134 : Tyler Technologies - Incode 10 ERP
	a. Attachment A - Board Approved Staff Report and Original Contract
	b. Attachment B - Amendment to Remove Inventory and Work Orders Modules
	c. Attachment C - Board Approved Staff Report and Amendment for Maximo Integration


	II. CLOSED SESSION
	1. CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL - ANTICIPATED LITIGATION Significant exposure to litigation pursuant to paragraph (2) of subdivision (d) of Section 54956.9: Number of Cases: Five (5)

	ADJOURN

	Appendix
	1.1 · 2139 : PSA for Geoscience
	1.1.a · Exhibit A
	1.1.b · Exhibit B

	1.2 · 2117 : PSA for Tom Dodson
	1.2.a · Exhibit A
	1.2.b · Exhibit B

	1.3 · 2136 : Clinical Labs
	1.3.a · Exhibit A - Analytical Lab Services Agreement

	1.4 · 2135 : UCMR 4 Monitoring
	1.4.a · Exhibit A - UCMR4 Testing Agreement

	1.5 · 2134 : Tyler Technologies - Incode 10 ERP
	1.5.a · Attachment A - Board Approved Staff Report and Original Contract
	1.5.b · Attachment B - Amendment to Remove Inventory and Work Orders Modules
	1.5.c · Attachment C - Board Approved Staff Report and Amendment for Maximo Integration



